ARKANSAS COUNCIL FOR MILITARY CHILDREN

AGENDA

THE ARKANSAS COUNCIL FOR MILITARY CHILDREN
Thursday, January 23, 2025, 10:00 A.M.
Sheridan High School
700 West Vine Street
Sheridan, Arkansas 72150
OR

Join Zoom Meeting

https://us06web.zoom.us/|/82658879558?pwd=dVVdzVUIOWWt2VzFXNGpRWmMpYdy9ZOT09

Meeting ID: 826 5887 9558 Passcode: 967781

l. Call to Order and Roll Call (J. Kaminar, A. Cress)

I1.  Pledge of Allegiance (M. Williams)

I1l.  Recognition of Host District (J. Kaminar)

IV. Approval of Agenda*** (J. Kaminar)

V. Approval of Minutes (November 7, 2024)*** (J. Kaminar)

VI. Public Comments (J. Kaminar)

VII. Presentation — Possible Legislation (D. Berry)

VIIIl. Chair’s Report (J. Kaminar)

IX.  Vice Chair’s Report (A. Wright)

X. Reports by Committees, Task Forces, or Liaisons
A. Awards Committee (Dr. J. Walker)

1. Purple Star School Applications***
2. Outstanding Military Scholar Award

2025_ACMC_Council_Agenda_ January_23 Revised Page 1 of 2 Pages


https://us06web.zoom.us/j/82658879558?pwd=dVdzVU9OWWt2VzFxNGpRWmpYdy9ZQT09

Outreach Committee (J. Bergstrom)
Strategic Planning Committee (J. Reynolds)
Student Advisory Committee (A. Wright)

1. Bryant High School (M. Williams)

2. Cabot High School (S. Smith)

3. Greenwood High School (W. Arnett)
Military Family Education Liaison (B. Olles)
Department of Defense Liaison (Col. N. Estelle)
Special Education Liaison (R. Porter)
School Choice Advisor (D. Wood)

Gold Star Families (C. Swindle)

OOw

—Iemm

XI1.  Old Business (J. Kaminar)
A. Change to Military Dependent Reporting Requirement (J. Kaminar)

XIl.  New Business (J. Kaminar)
A. Penn State Report on Initiatives to Support Children of Military Families
B. Department of Defense Recommendations to Improve the Military Interstate Children’s
Compact Commission
C. U.S. Department of Education Voluntary State Self Assessment

X111, Date/Time/Place for Next Meeting — March 6, 2025, 10:00 AM, Arkadelphia School District
(J. Kaminar)

X1V. Adjournment*** (J. Kaminar)

*** Indicates a vote is required

2025_ACMC_Council_Agenda_ January_23 Revised Page 2 of 2 Pages



l'-
P .
- -

b ARKANSAS W
W, k kA
- -

b "
.

Pt

ARKANSAS COUNCIL FOR MILITARY CHILDREN

MEETING MINUTES

ARKANSAS COUNCIL FOR MILITARY CHILDREN

Thursday, January 23, 2025
10:00 A.M.

|. Call to Order and Roll Call

The Arkansas Council for Military Children met Thursday, January 23, 2025. Chair John Kaminar

called the meeting to order at 10:00 A.M.

PRESENT:

Mr. John Kaminar, Chair

Ms. Andelyn Wright, Vice Chair

Ms. Jody Bergstrom

Ms. Brittany Edwards

Mr. Kevin Hesslen (proxy for Mr. John Ciesla)

Lt. Col. James Garvey

Ms. Cristina Harper

Mr. James Hopkins (proxy for Rep. Brian Melton)
Ms. Lashawnda Noel

Ms. Bobbie Olles (MFEL)

Ms. Christyal Parker

Ms. Alyson Pitts

Ms. Jennifer Reynolds

Dr. Kerry Schneider

Dr. Janice Walker (proxy for Dr. Jeremy Owoh)
Ms. Teri Williams

Mr. Dustin Wood (School Choice Advisor, Non-Voting)
Ms. Jessica Saum

Mr. Weston Arnett (Student Advisor, Non-Voting)
Ms. Madison Williams (Student Advisor, Non-Voting)

ABSENT:

Rep. Karilyn Brown (proxy for Rep. Keith Brooks) Excused

Sen. Jane English (Excused)

Col. N’Keiba Estelle (DOD Liaison, Non-Voting)

Ms. Emily Taylor (Proxy for Dr. Tony Thurman) Excused

Mr. Rick Porter (Special Education Liaison, Non-Voting) Excused

2025_ACMC_Minutes_January_23

Page 1 of 6 Pages



Ms. Sonya Smith (Student Advisor, Non-Voting)
Ms. Chelsey Swindle (Gold Star Family Advisor, Non-Voting) Excused

Guests:
Col. Don Berry

A quorum was established.
I1. Pledge of Allegiance (J. Kaminar)

Chair Kaminar asked Ms. Madison Williams, the Student Advisor from Bryant High School, to
lead the Council members in the Pledge of Allegiance.

I11. Recognition of Host School District (J. Kaminar)

Chair Kaminar thanked Ms. Alyson Pitts, the Director of Counseling and the District Military
Education Coordinator, the Sheridan School District, and Ms. Madison Williams for hosting the
meeting.

IV. Approval of Agenda (J. Kaminar)

Ms. Reynolds moved to approve the agenda as presented, seconded by Ms. Williams. The agenda
was approved.

V. Approval of Minutes (November 7, 2024) (J. Kaminar)

Dr. Schneider moved to approve the November 7, 2024 minutes as presented, seconded by Ms.
Harper. Motion carried, minutes were approved.

V1. Public Comments (J. Kaminar)
No public comment.
VII. Presentation — Possible Legislation (D. Berry)

Chair Kaminar recognized Col. Don Berry and thanked him for working with members of the
legislature to develop some possible verbiage for a bill.

Col. Berry reported that the 2023 National Defense Authorization Act required the Department of
Defense to make recommendations to improve the Military Interstate Children’s Compact
Commission. That report was published on December 31, 2024. The DoD recommended that
states should consider implementing the Arkansas model as set forth in the Arkansas Military Child
School Transition Act of 2021. The report also noted that the Arkansas Council for Military
Children fulfills duties and requirements above and beyond those typical of similar councils in
other states. The Arkansas model appears to be the most robust mechanism to increase flexibility,

2025_ACMC_Minutes_January_23 Page 2 of 6 Pages



oversight, accountability and consistency of the compact and other supportive policies and
programs for military connected students.

Col. Berry then presented proposed language for a legislative bill that he is helping to draft. Some
provisions of the bill include:

- Eliminating the one-year limit for Gold Star families to receive services under the interstate
compact

- Adjusting the purpose and duties of the Council

- Requiring all school districts to designate a district military education coordinator

- Including language for the Purple Star School program

- Facilitating the advance enrollment of military connected students

Chair Kaminar explained that amending the interstate compact itself would be virtually impossible,
so states must make improvements in their state codes outside of the compact statutes.

There were no questions for Col. Berry. Chair Kaminar thanked him for his presentation.
VIII. Chair’s Report (J. Kaminar)

Chair Kaminar reported that Tuesday, January 28, 2025 from 3:00pm to 6:00pm would be the first
online Military Family Forum for this calendar year. The event was publicized through a
commissioner’s memo and through the network of District Military Education Coordinators and
the Family and Community Engagement Coordinators. Chair Kaminar invited Council members
to sign up to assist with the forum.

Chair Kaminar also shared a one-page information sheet on the Five and Thrive program from the
Department of Defense. It identifies five areas pertaining to military family quality of life. Chair
Kaminar reported that Ms. Jessica Saum, has just been named as the Ambassador for Education
on the Five and Thrive team. Chair Kaminar expressed how this shows that Arkansas is leading
the way and making things better for military families.

Chair Kaminar stated that at the September meeting, the Council had heard from Ms. Danielle
Campbell from Operation Homefront about their Military Child of the Year award program. Ms.
Campbell had recently informed Chair Kaminar that eleven students from Arkansas have been
nominated for that award.

IX. Vice Chair’s Report (A. Wright)

No report.

X. Reports by Committees, Task Forces, or Liaisons
A. Awards Committee (Dr. J. Walker)

1. Purple Star School Applications

2025_ACMC_Minutes_January_23 Page 3 of 6 Pages



Dr. Walker presented six Purple Star School applications and three Purple Star School District
applications that had been approved via online voting.

2. Outstanding Military Scholar Award

Dr. Walker reported that the committee would be holding a work session to review nominations
for the Outstanding Military Scholar Award.

B. Outreach Committee (J. Bergstrom)

Ms. Bergstrom reported that the Outreach Committee would meet on February 19, 2025 to discuss
the Penn State report and begin developing a plan for the Arkansas to implement its suggestions.
Ms. Bergstrom reported that Ms. Saum has been working on the social media post for the Military
Family Forum on January 28 and for the Month of the Military Child in April. Ms. Saum shared
some basic templates with the committee members. She asked the Council to share any school or
community group events or something special to share for military connected families.

Ms. Terri William will do a Facebook live presentation of a Purple Star banner for William
Jefferson Clinton Elementary School. Ms. Williams reported on several events coming up,
including the February 12 Deployed Family Dinner. She will have a booth at that event with
information about the Council.

Ms. Bergstrom stated that the Department of Human Services asked how their prevention team
could help be an outreach for Purple Star Schools when they look at the at-risk population of
military families.

C. Strategic Planning Committee (J. Reynolds)

Ms. Reynold reported the Strategic Planning committee had been working on expanding reporting
by schools to include children of Gold Star families. The project is on hold for the time being.

Ms. Reynolds reported that she had recently had the opportunity to observe JROTC cadets from
across the state and that she was very impressed with the caliber of students enrolled in JROTC.

D. Student Advisory Committee (A. Wright)
Ms. Wright recognized the student advisors and asked them to present their reports.
1. Bryant High School (M. Williams)

Ms. Williams is a senior at Bryant High School. She reported the following:

- She has successfully created a student organization for children of military service members
with the support of the Bryant School District administration.
- The club has already met to set goals for the remainder of the school year.

2025_ACMC_Minutes_January_23 Page 4 of 6 Pages



- The club is currently reaching out to the Little Rock VA to see how the club can support
veterans.

- The club is organizing a stuffed toy drive to collect toys for the children of deployed service
members.

- The club is developing a “Battle Buddies” program to pair younger children of military
families with older students as mentors.

- The club is planning several activities to celebrate Month of the Military Child in April.

2. Cabot High School (S. Smith)

Ms. Smith being absent from the meeting, her report was deferred until the next Council meeting.
3. Greenwood High School (W. Arnett)

Mr. Arnett is a junior at Greenwood High School. He reported the following:

- The school held an assembly for Veterans Day and asked students to walk with their military
parent or guardian.

- The school has accepted nominations for the Military Student Recognition Award.

- The school plans to hold a Purple Up Day in April to honor children of military families.

- The school will host a breakfast for military students.
- All children of military families will receive a certificate of recognition and a candy bar.

E. Military Family Education Liaison (B. Olles)

No report.

F. Department of Defense Liaison (Col. N. Estelle)

Ms. Williams presented on behalf of Col. Estelle in her absence. Col Estelle wanted to thank the
schools for helping during the 25.1 deployment. Many schools have recognized that children of
military families needed extra support and care. Ms. Williams stated that she believes the training
and professional development that the Council provides are paying off.

G. Special Education Liaison (R. Porter)

Mr. Porter was absent from the meeting, but Chair Kaminar made a note on his behalf that the
Council has received a voluntary self-assessment form from the US Department of Education. That
states can use the form to evaluate their own programs for how well they are serving the children
of military families with special needs. Mr. Porter is working with the Special Education unit at

the Department of Education to complete that self-assessment.

H. School Choice Advisor (D. Wood)

2025_ACMC_Minutes_January_23 Page 5 of 6 Pages



Mr. Wood reported the Year 3 implementation of Education Freedom Accounts is anticipated to
open the first week of March. If anyone has any questions they can reach out to the Office of
School Choice and Parent Empowerment.

I. Gold Star Families (C. Swindle)

No report.

XI. Old Business (J. Kaminar)

A. Change to Military Dependent Reporting Requirement (J. Kaminar)

XI1. New Business (J. Kaminar)

A. Penn State Report on Initiatives to Support Children of Military Families

Chair Kaminar shared the two-year longitudinal study by Penn State which assesses programs that
states can enact to support children of the military. Chair Kaminar stated Arkansas stacks up pretty
favorably compared to other states. He asked the Council members to review the report to look

for additional areas where Arkansas can improve.

B. Department of Defense Recommendations to Improve the Military Interstate Children’s
Compact Commission

Chair Kaminar shared the Department of Defense Memorandum to the Senate Armed Forces
Committee and its supporting documents.

C. U.S. Department of Education Voluntary State Self-Assessment

Chair Kaminar asked council to review the voluntary self-assessment from the Federal Department
of Education.

XI11. Date/Time/Place for Next Meeting — (J. Kaminar)

Chair Kaminar stated that the next meeting would be on March 6, 2025, 10:00 AM in the
Arkadelphia School District

XIV. Adjournment (J. Kaminar)

Chair Kaminar asked for a motion to adjourn. Ms. Williams moved to adjourn, seconded by Ms.
Bergstrom. Motion carried. The meeting was adjourned at 11:08 AM.

Minutes recorded by A. Cress

2025_ACMC_Minutes_January_23 Page 6 of 6 Pages



2025 Legislation Potentially Under Consideration

for the awareness of the Arkansas Council for Military Children
January 23, 2025

Questions or Ideas? Contact:

Don K. Berry

Military Officers Assn of America

(501) 773-5189 dkberry2@sbcglobal.net



mailto:dkberry2@sbcglobal.net

DoD Report to Congress - Recommendations to Improve Military
Interstate Children’s Compact (December 31, 2024)

“... States, acting as members of the Compact, can take actions to ensure a
variety of improvements to the Compact are undertaken ...”

“States could consider the benefits of implementing the Arkansas model for

a statute outside the Compact, ... Chapter 28 of Title 6 ... “Arkansas Military
Child School Transitions Act of 2021.”

“Creating the Arkansas Council of Military Children, with enhanced

requirements significantly above and beyond the requirements of the
MIC3...”



DoD Report to Congress - Recommendations to Improve Military
Interstate Children’s Compact (December 31, 2024)

“While several other States have taken legislative actions outside the Compact, the
Arkansas model appears to be the most robust mechanism to increase flexibility,
oversight, accountability and consistency of the Compact and other supportive
policies and programs for military connected students (MCS).

By inserting implementation and oversight mechanisms into separate State codes,
Arkansas created the flexibility necessary to serve military families nearly 20 years
after the Compact was initially written while not modifying the State Compact
statute”.

Not in MIC3 statute: Advance enrollment, Virtual course enrollment, Purple Star
School Program, DMECs, along with expanded legibility for Guard and Reserve
180days before and after deployment ... dual status mil techs ... and traditional
Guardsmen or Reservists moving to Arkansas for a job or military position.



Provisions potentially amending Chapter 28 considered for legislation

§ 6-28-105 Application
o Eliminate 1-year limitations on eligibility of children of Gold Star and
medically discharged or retired families to be covered. (limit from MIC3
model statute)
o Allow public school districts to apply provisions of the Act to all children
applying for enrollment, not just military-connected students.

§ 6-28-108 Advance enrollment
o Defines actions for military families applying for enrollment ahead of
arrival to underscore that AE is not just an authorization but a process
to be effectively employed.

§ 6-28-113 Special education services
o Give receiving district greater authority to coordinate special education
services for incoming students w an IEP.



Provisions potentially amending Chapter 28 considered for legislation

§ 6-28-114 Excused absences
o School districts may include in their policies the granting of excused

absences for children of Gold Star families based on DESE attendance
policy.
§ 6-28-116 New student reception programs - Military family education

coordinator
o DMEC designated by all school districts

o Provisions and responsibilities for Purple Star School Program

established ... support and honor for all military-connected students



Provisions potentially amending Chapter 28 considered for legislation

« § 6-28-117 Reporting enroliment of children of uniformed services
families
o Districts report enrollment active duty and reserve components of
Armed Forces as required by Every Student Succeeds Act.

* § 6-28-204 Purpose and duties ACMC
o Amending first duty to assist promoting, communicating, deliverey, and
assessment of provisions of the Act ... biennial survey of military
families and entrance and exit surveys
o Amending by adding development of Purple Star School program



Division of Elementary and Secondary Education AR Department of Education

Commissioner's Memo
12/2/2024

Military Family Forum

Memo Information

Memo Number
Memo Date

Memo Type

Unit

Regulatory Authority

Response Required

Attention

COM-25-036

12/2/2024

Informational

School Choice and Parent Empowerment
ACA § 6-24-208(f)

NO

Assistant Principal; Assistant Superintendent; Communications Manager / Director; District Coordinators
(ALE; Homeless; ESOL; SDFS & Foster); Principals; School Counselors; Superintendents; Teachers

Primary Contact Information

Name

John Kaminar

Phone Number 501-683-5188

Email

Memo Text

John.Kaminar@ade.arkansas.gov

The Arkansas Council for Military Children will hold an online forum on Wednesday, January 28, 2025, from 3:00 PM to 6:00 PM. The
forum is an opportunity for military families to discuss their needs and concerns with members of the Council. Military families can
join the forum at any time during that period using the zoom link below.

Zoom link information is:

https://usO6web.zoom.us/j/82658879558?pwd=dVdzVUIOWW1t2VzFXNGpRWmpYdy9ZQT09

Meeting ID: 826 5887 9558

Passcode: 967781

(Date: 1/21/2025 7:23:20 AM) Page 1 of 1


mailto:John.Kaminar@ade.arkansas.gov
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/82658879558?pwd=dVdzVU9OWWt2VzFxNGpRWmpYdy9ZQT09
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/82658879558?pwd=dVdzVU9OWWt2VzFxNGpRWmpYdy9ZQT09
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/82658879558?pwd=dVdzVU9OWWt2VzFxNGpRWmpYdy9ZQT09
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/82658879558?pwd=dVdzVU9OWWt2VzFxNGpRWmpYdy9ZQT09
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/82658879558?pwd=dVdzVU9OWWt2VzFxNGpRWmpYdy9ZQT09

Five & Thrive Fact Sheet

fiveandthrive.org

FIVE & THRIV
L. e 0. =

Helping military communities tackle the top five quality-of-life issues

THE FIVE CHILDCARE | EDUCATION | HEALTHCARE | HOUSING | SPOUSE EMPLOYMENT

THE WHY Military family quality of life has strategic implications for our military and national security
as it directly impacts recruitment, readiness, and retention.

THE PLAN Five Lines of Effort:
* Advocate for Quality-of-Life Improvements
Foster Community Partnerships
Consolidate Quality-of-Life Resources in One Convenient Location

Educate Military Families, Leaders, and Community Partners
on Existing Efforts and Best Practices

* Promote the Exceptional Value of the Military-Connected Spouse

*

THE MODEL  Military Community Quality-of-Life Experience (QX)
A positive QX builds a stronger Total Force, improving readiness,
recruitment, retention, and resilience. Through collaboration
with military leaders, military-connected families, and
community partners, our model helps create solutions that
empower military members and their families to thrive.

MILITARY-CONNECTED FAMILIES

In the trenches of our mission lies a fundamental truth -
the strength and readiness of our military families

are not just essential components of our societal fabric,
they are critical pillars of our national security.

Co-founder &
Executive Director

The Bottom Line: Five & Thrive strengthens our national security.

Current as of October 2024



Five & Thrive Stats Sheet

fiveandthrive.org

FIVE & THRIVE
L. e 0. =

Helping military communities tackle the top five quality-of-life issues

THE FIVE CHILDCARE | EDUCATION | HEALTHCARE | HOUSING | SPOUSE EMPLOYMENT

ALL MILITARY FAMILIES SHOULD HAVE ACCESS TO:

* Safe and affordable childcare.

* Quality education, seamless educational transitions during relocations, and equitable resources for
special education and other essential services.

* Quality healthcare, including mental health services for the whole family.
% Safe and affordable housing.

% Equitable and meaningful employment for every military-connected spouse.

THE STATISTICS

180A22122242

Over 80% of active duty families have difficulty finding childcare.!

Almost 30% of military families reported
lack of spouse employment as a
contributing factor to their financial stress.

Most military children will attend
6 to 9 different schools during
their K through 12 education.?

) [E»
) IED
) IED

IE) [E
IE) [E
IED [

Military spouse unemployment rates
are nearly 5x the national rate.

More than 60% of military families are
burdened with paying more than they can
comfortably afford for housing.3

» Military spouses reported childcare being too
expensive as the top reason they are not working.

Out of the 60%, 80% reported monthly housing
+$200 expenses not covered by their BAH were in excess
of $200 out-of—pocket/month.3

1

280A2 022202

Nearly 1 out of 4 active duty military
families report they do not receive
mental healthcare, but would like to.

449 indicated that finding an available
provider was a reason they do not receive care.3

Although the order and degree of these five issues vary from installation to installation, they consistently rise to the top according to feedback from military families and surveys
from multiple organizations. Note: Members of Exceptional Family Member Program (EFMP) are impacted in unique ways by each of the “Five & Thrive” QoL issues.

1 2021 Military Family Advisory Network: Military Family Support Programming Survey Executive Summary

2 Military Interstate Children’s Compact Commission (MIC3): Guide for Parents, School Officials and Public Administrators

3 Blue Star Families: Military Family Lifestyle Survey 2022 Comprehensive Report Executive Summary

4 National Military Spouse Network: Solving the Military Spouse Employment Puzzle: Seven Recommendations for the Future of Work Current as of October 2024



STUDENT ADVISORY
COMMITTEE REPORT

Committee Chair:
Andelyn Wright




Bryant High School

Student Advisor: Madison Williams



School Activities of Fall 2024

Set up meetings with Brenda Rodgers and Amy
Oury to start Club for Military Families

Sent the application for the club to be approved
by administration

Made contact with Major David Tiller, instructor
of the ROTC program at the high school, and he
agreed to be the club sponsor

Regular meetings with Rodgers, Oury, and Tiller

Sent out blurb about Club for Military Families
and the sign up form via school wide email




Currently Working On

Spread the word about the Club for Military Families

- Currently have 21 signed up, would like to have as many as possible!
- Marines, Air Force, Army National Guard , Navy, Army

First club meeting

- Took place January 22nd in the morning before first period, made
Introductions and talked about goals for the club

Getting in contact with Veteran Affairs in Little Rock

- Seeing what our club can do for them, whether that be labor, donations,
etc.



Activities Planned for Spring 2025

Stuffed Animal Drive

- Have members of the club donate stuffed animals to be given to
families of deployed service members.

Battle Buddies

- Younger military kids would be paired up with a club member in a
mentorship program

Month of the Military Child in April

- Have meetings during advisory to spread awareness and create
posters to put up around the school



STUDENT ADVISORY
COMMITTEE REPORT

Committee Chair:
Andelyn Wright



Greenwood High School

Student Advisor: Weston Arnett



School Activities for Fall 2024

. Veteran’s Day Assembly
- Allowed students to walk with their military guardian

- Submitted Senior military
students for the Military
Student Recognition Award




Activities Planned for Spring 2025

- Purple Up Day
- A day to dress in purple to support military children
- You can pay money to wear a hat

- Breakfast for Military Students

- April give back
- Students receive a candy bar and a certificate thanking their
family for their service



NN W\
RN
\ \ X
\ : N
N\
NN
RN \
: \ |

24-P-0823

@ PennState

CLEARED
For Open Publication

Jul 02, 2024

Department of Defense
OFFICE OF PREPUBLICATION AND SECURITY REVIEW

An Implementation Evaluation of
Four Initiatives Intended to Support

Military-Connected Children's
Educational Success

Jennifer Karre, Ph.D.
Kristin K. Brawley
Cameron Richardson, Ph.D.

Daniel F. Perkins, Ph.D.

Rt s NN


schwartzJ
Cleared


Table of Contents

EXECULIVE SUMMATY ..ottt ettt e e eta s s eaa e e eaa e saasessanssssannsssssnnsesnnnsannnnnen 3
INEFOAUCTION ettt e e et bas s s s s e e e s saaasas s s s enes 9
1T 1= o o 1= PPN 10
o] o d Lot 1 o 1= ] o] £~ TP PRSPPI UPRRPPTRPPPRt 13
Advance ENrollmMent ... e s 15
Interstate Compact on Educational Opportunity for Military Children .........ccccceevuerenneeee 24
Military Student IA@NTIfiEr ... et ceae e e eaee e s es e eea e s aae s annnans 36
Purple Star SChoOOIS Programi.... ... iiiiiieieiiciiiictteeiee e ceneetneesenesenesenessssssenssensssnsssnnssnnssannns 45
Partnerships, Policy, and Coordination ...t enaaee 54
School District and School Website Data EXtraction ..........cccooeeiiiiiueiiiiiiiiiiiiiieniniiinneenee 59
Measures of SChool CharacterisStiCs ........ciiiiiuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiccccr e 63
Themes Across Initiatives and Programs ... ceeeeeeneeeeaeeeseaeeesennneens 67
RecOMMENAAtIONS ..ccciiiiiiiiiiiii e 70
VAY o] o1=Y gl 1 RSP SPP RRPPRPP 72

Table of Contents | 2



In collaboration with the Department of Defense (DoD)
Defense-State Liaison Office (DSLO), the Clearinghouse
for Military Family Readiness at Penn State (Clearinghouse)
examined the implementation of four specific initiatives
and other policies and programs intended to support
military-connected students. These four initiatives are
Advance Enrollment (AE), the Interstate Compact on
Educational Opportunity for Military Children (Compact),
the Military Student Identifier (MSI), and the Purple Star
Schools Program (PSSP) or equivalent. This report! dis-
cusses the results of a qualitative evaluation of the
implementation of the four initiatives and other policies
and programs within each state and at the local level.
As part of this evaluation, stakeholders with national,
state, and local perspectives on the implementation of
these initiatives and programs were interviewed. The
interview questions focused on the four initiatives in
terms of awareness, implementation, impact, barriers,
improvements, and coordination of services. Overall,
this qualitative evaluation identified inconsistencies in
the implementation of the four initiatives at the state
and local school district levels. For military families, the
frequent moves, or PCS (i.e., Permanent Change of
Station), is challenging and stressful and this is exacer-
bated by the lack of continuity of policy implementation.

Evaluators invited 230 people to participate in the eval-
uation. A total of 154 interviews were conducted.
Participants were connected with all six branches of
the United States Armed Forces (i.e., Air Force, Army,
Coast Guard, Navy, Marine Corps, Space Force), the
DoD, or the Military Interstate Children’s Compact
Commission (MIC3; the governing body that oversees
the implementation of the Compact). The participants
included Service headquarters personnel, installation
personnel, school personnel in the installation area,
parents who were Service members or spouses of

Executive Summary l

Service members assigned to the installation, local part-
ners identified by installation personnel, DoD personnel,
and MIC3 representatives. Participants represented 30
states. Eighty-eight percent of military-connected stu-
dents reside in those 30 states, and 82% of military
installations that are in the 50 U.S. states and the District
of Columbia are located in those 30 states.

Advance Enrollment

Participants’ reports of their own awareness and their
perception of families’ awareness of AE suggest that
although installation and school personnel awareness
of AE may be relatively high, parent awareness is likely
insufficient. Furthermore, there were discrepancies in
the perception of family awareness, with some school
liaisons, but few parents, reporting that most families
are aware of AE. Conversely, more Exceptional Family
Member Program—Family Support staff (EFMP-FS) report
family awareness of AE (i.e., compared to other partic-
ipant types). Furthermore, the majority of school liaisons
and school personnel indicated that they did not know
how many families request AE or that few families
request AE. Reports of perceived positive impacts of
AE for students, in general, included the following: fam-
ilies experience less stress, students are better able to
choose classes that are needed or desired, schools
are more prepared for students’ arrival, and students
spend less time out of school. Furthermore, school liai-
sons, EFMP-FS, and school personnel indicated that
AE is very helpful for students with an Individualized
Education Program (IEP) or 504 Plan such that AE allows
the school to begin the process of securing services
for the student sooner.

Participants discussed many barriers related to AE.
These barriers included factors such as family aware-

1 Two other reports were completed as part of this scientific investigation. First, the Clearinghouse conducted a comprehensive review of academic and
non-academic literature related to the educational success of military-connected students. Second, the Clearinghouse conducted an assessment of
how each of the four initiatives were implemented at the state/District of Columbia level by examining state legislation and state education department
regulations to understand the legislative and regulatory requirements of the policies.

Executive Summary | 3



ness; school awareness; some cases where students
are able to enroll in school but not register for classes;
inconsistent implementation across school districts;
school attendance eligibility being based on where the
family lives, which means that families who have not
secured housing cannot use AE; schools not complying
with the law; changing move dates; lack of specificity
in legislation leading to difficulties or inconsistencies
with implementation; differences between the student’s
needs and interests on paper versus in reality; classes
already being filled if a move occurs midyear; IEP or
504 Plan documentation transfer not happening in
advance or in a timely manner; and a lack of commu-
nity providers or school staff, both of which impact
schools’ ability to provide services for students with an
IEP or 504 Plan. Participants discussed several ideas
for improvement. These ideas frequently fell into the
following categories: awareness, policy enforcement,
policy specification, and leveraging technology.

Interstate Compact on Educational

Opportunity for Military Children

Participants’ reports of their own awareness and their
perception of families’ and school personnel aware-
ness of the Compact suggest that although installation
personnel awareness of the Compact is high, parent
and school personnel awareness is likely insufficient.
Perceptions of whether school personnel use the
Compact vary widely based on participant type, with
teachers/counselors being most likely to indicate that
school personnel use the Compact and parents being
least likely to say school personnel use the Compact.
The impacts of the Compact discussed by participants
include improvements related to credit transfers, course
placement, graduation, extra-curricular activity partici-
pation, kindergarten enroliment, and a general reduction
of stress for families.

With regards to students with an IEP or 504 plan, there
was wide variability in responses related to how long
it takes for students to receive comparable services
(i.e., from immediately to 90 days or longer) and related
to the circumstances under which students receive a
new evaluation when moving into the district (i.e., from

all students with an IEP or 504 Plan receiving a new
evaluation to new evaluations being based on the date
of the last evaluation). Furthermore, several school liai-
sons, without prompting, spontaneously discussed the
difficulty of accessing services in the schools (e.g.,
staffing challenges) and/or in the community (e.g., dis-
tance to providers, finding providers who take Tricare).

Participants also discussed several barriers related to
the Compact. These barriers frequently fell into the fol-
lowing categories: lack of school and parent awareness,
school non-compliance, and differences between states
or schools. Participants had a variety of suggestions
for how to improve the Compact. These suggestions
tended to center around family and school awareness,
consistency across states, and policy enforcement
in schools.

Military Student Identifier

Although nearly all participants responded that they
were familiar with the MSI, participant responses sug-
gested that there may have been some confusion
between the MSI and Impact Aid. Participants indicated
that the MSI is used for several purposes, including
tracking enrollment of military-connected students,
tracking performance of military-connected students,
increasing funding, identifying the military-connected
students in schools, providing services at the school
or state level, and providing services at the military
level. However, implementation of the MSI was incon-
sistent across schools or school districts in terms of
frequency of data collection, what response options
are provided to families when they identify as being
affiliated with the military, and the specific ways in which
states, school districts, and schools use the data.
Furthermore, although some parents indicated that they
use the data (e.g., to look for schools with a high per-
centage of military-connected students), the vast majority
of parents indicated that they do not use the data.
Participants discussed several perceived impacts of the
MSI. These impacts included that the data from the MSI
increases supports, resources, and programming avail-
ability (e.g., Military and Family Life Counselors [MFLC],
Anchored4Life); increases funding; and improves inter-

Executive Summary | 4



actions with individual students (e.g., increased
sensitivity, understanding possible needs).

Participants reported barriers related to the collection
and use of the MSI data. These barriers included a lack
of consistency across schools and states, a lack of under-
standing of who is considered a military family, problems
related to data collection, and families not self-identi-
fying as military families. Participants suggested several
areas for improvement related to the MSI. These
included better advertising and explicit support from
command, consistency across states, increased enforce-
ment, increased availability of data for school personnel
and parents, improved data collection processes,
increased data sharing across systems, and provision
of funding to implement the data collection.

Purple Star Schools Program

Although most participants who lived in a state with
PSSP were aware of the initiative, and school personnel
awareness appeared to be high, responses indicated
that, in general, parent awareness is likely low.
Participants identified several components as working
well: the military point-of-contact, the peer-to-peer tran-
sition program, and the professional development for
school staff. Although there was variability in responses
by participant type (i.e., EFMP-FS were more likely to
report impact on school selection than school liaisons
and parents), overall, it appears that some families do
seem to take the designation into account when
selecting schools. Similarly, although there was vari-
ability by participant type (i.e., school personnel were
more likely to report an impact than other participant
types), participants reported that PSSP has impacts,
including better awareness of military culture in the
school, improvements to school culture, and social-emo-
tional benefits for students.

Several barriers related to PSSP were reported. These
include PSSP being a “check-the-box” designation with
little meaningful action attached to it, a lack of funding
(e.g., at the state level, for a banner at the school), staffing
challenges, a lack of consistency in implementation,
difficulties with the application process, a lack of stan-

dardization of professional development, and challenges
encountered implementing the peer-to-peer program.
Respondents suggested multiple ideas for improvement
to PSSP. These included ensuring consistency across
states, increasing state-level excitement for the award,
funding awardees to ensure implementation, imple-
menting stronger enforcement measures, adjusting the
timing of the deadlines, sharing best practices among
schools or states, and connecting PSSP to school-wide
goals (e.g., student belonging).

Other Partnerships and Programs

Participants discussed many installation-school part-
nerships. These included installation personnel attending
school board meetings; regular meetings occurring
between the school district and the installation; instal-
lation personnel attending back-to-school nights; student
field trips to the installation; school staff trips to the
installation; mentoring programs, career days, career
talks, and job shadowing; on-installation internships;
guest speakers from the installation; Service members
volunteering at the schools; adopt-a-school; Science,
Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics (STEM)
learning opportunities; Month of the Military Child events;
Junior Reserve Officers’ Training Corps (JROTC); the
school liaison; and MFLC. Participants also discussed
other programs that were available for military families:
peer-to-peer programs, Boys and Girls Club, Armed
Services YMCA, Army Youth Program in Your
Neighborhood, and tutor.com. Participants reported
positive impacts associated with the partnerships and
programs. They included promoting connection, inclu-
sion, and school climate; and influencing social-emotional
outcomes, academic performance, and career readiness.

The most commonly reported barriers to implementa-
tion were a lack of time or resources, the presence of
“red tape,” a lack of interest or difficulties with commu-
nication, and turnover at the schools and the installations.
Barriers to students benefiting from the partnerships
included the geographic distribution of families and
difficulties with transportation (e.g., shortages of busses
and bus drivers). Common improvement themes were
funding, communication, and additional school liaisons.

Executive Summary | 5



School District and School Website

Data Extraction

A website data extraction was conducted and consisted
of a systematic review of school district and school
websites. The primary purpose of the data extraction
was to determine if information about the four initia-
tives was available. The secondary purpose was to
examine what additional programs or services were
available to military-connected students. The websites
that were examined were from the 22 school districts,
located in 11 states, that approved school personnel
interviews and the 47 associated schools.

The majority of examined school districts had a web
page with information for military families. In contrast,
when looking at the individual school websites, the
majority of examined schools did not have a web page
with information for military families. However, just
under half of schools linked to the district page for
military families.

Few school district or school websites had information
about AE. Indeed, only two school district websites and
no school websites provided information on AE.

Only half of the school districts provided information
about the Compact. One school district discussed
absences related to deployments, but it did not tie the
deployment absence policy to the Compact. Furthermore,
only three school websites specifically discussed the
Compact. An additional 10 school websites discussed
the protections related to immunizations, deployment-
related absences, and non-custodial parents. However,
these protections were not discussed in relation to
the Compact.

Very few school district or school websites had infor-
mation about the MSI. Indeed, only two school district
websites and no school websites provided information
on the MSI. Furthermore, project staff were unable to
locate any discussion or examples of the data
collection form, and, as such, no response options
were identified.

Of the school districts that were in states with PSSP,
just under half of school district websites provided an
overall description of PSSP. Of the schools that had

received the PSSP designation, less than half had a
web page for military families on the school website.
Half of the schools with the PSSP designation linked to
the school district’s web page for military families.

Some school district and school websites included addi-
tional information specifically for military families related
to the following: additional staff for military families, the
special education department, gifted programming,
JROTC, tutor.com, peer-to-peer programs, DoD STEM
programs, School Quest, school liaisons, MFLC, part-
nerships with Department of Defense Education Activity
(DODEA), and installation services.

Measures of School Characteristics

Recently, there has been interest in quantifying the
extent to which schools may be able to serve mili-
tary-connected students. Indeed, some of the military
Service branches are evaluating the school districts
outside of military installations as part of 10 USC Sec
1781b. One goal of this project was to identify metrics
that could be considered as Services and parents seek
to evaluate or choose school districts in an installation
area. This idea presents a challenge due to factors such
as states using different metrics to assess student and
school outcomes and parents prioritizing different school
qualities (e.g., high military population, Advanced
Placement [AP] offerings). Potential metrics that Services
or parents may be interested in considering as they
evaluate or select school districts or schools in which
to enroll their children were identified. They fall under
the general categories of academic performance, future
readiness, school characteristics, and program offerings.

Themes Across Initiatives and Programs

Several themes emerged across multiple initiatives,
including the following: (1) many perceived successes
when initiatives were implemented as intended; (2) gen-
eral lack of awareness of the initiatives among military
families and school personnel; (3) little to no enforce-
ment of the initiatives; (4) an absence of implementation
consistency of the initiatives across schools, school dis-
tricts, and states; (5) the lack of housing availability,

Executive Summary | 6



which is leading to families living farther away from the
installation, and other geographic considerations (e.g.,
living in @ metro area, living in a rural area) introduce
challenges for military families and for the implemen-
tation of the initiatives; (6) a lack of funding may be
impacting implementation of the initiatives; (7) timing
of events (e.g., application deadlines, data collections,
PCSs) likely impact the effectiveness of the initiatives;
(8) technology could be leveraged to increase the
effectiveness of the initiatives; and (9) effective com-
munication strategies could increase the positive impact
of the initiatives.

Recommendations

The following recommendations are based on findings
from the data gathered during the preparation of the
literature review, the state-level initiatives report, and
the current report. The recommendations are framed
as steps that DSLO can take to support military-con-
nected students. Some recommendations require DSLO
to work collaboratively with specific partners to help
improve the experiences of military-connected students
and their families. As applicable, recommendations in
this report are linked to associated recommendations
in the National Academies of Science, Engineering, and
Medicine (NASEM) 2019 report titled, “Strengthening
the Military Family Readiness System for a Changing
American Society.”2

Recommendation 1
To address the inconsistency in data collection, data
reporting, and definitions of “military-connected stu-
dents” across initiatives and states, advocate for
standardization of data collection related to military-con-
nected students, to include operationalization (i.e., how
“military-connected student” is defined), data collec-
tion, and data reporting.
Note. This recommendation is based on findings report-
ed on pages 36-37, 40-44, and 68-69 of this report and

pages 4, 17-21, and 40-51 of the state-level report. This
recommendation is consistent with Recommendation 1

in the NASEM report, which advises standardizing defi-
nitions in order to “facilitate synthesis and comparison of
information” (p. 326).

Recommendation 2

To address awareness challenges related to the initia-
tives, support the development, implementation, and
sharing of evidence-informed? practices for strategic
communication of the initiatives to parents and
school personnel.

Note. This recommendation is based on findings report-
ed on pages 15-17, 20-27, 31-46, 52, 56, 67, and 69 of
this report. This recommendation is consistent with Rec-
ommendation 10 in the NASEM report, which advises
optimizing program delivery in terms of service delivery
timing, dose, and format. This also applies to information
delivery.

Recommendation 3

Given the inconsistencies in implementation across
states and school districts, advocate for information
transparency and expectation management related to
the specific ways the initiatives are implemented in each
state and school district.

Note. This recommendation is based on findings report-
ed on pages 20-23, 26, 28, 31-35, 37-38, 40-44, 50, 52-
53, 56, 59-61, and 67 of this report and pages 3-27 of
the state-level report. This recommendation is consistent
with Recommendation 5 in the NASEM report, which ad-
vises understanding the unique aspects of communities
surrounding military installations.

Recommendation 4
In order to take advantage of modern technology that
could be used to enhance support of military families
and promote consistency in initiative implementation,
encourage states to leverage technology to directly
support military families and to support effective imple-
mentation of the initiatives.
Note. This recommendation is based on findings reported
on pages 20-23, 26, 28, 31-35, 40-44, 47, 50, 52-53, 56,
67, and 69 of this report and pages 3-27 of the state-level
report. This recommendation is consistent with Recom-

2 https://doi.org/10.17226/25380

3 Evidence based: “demonstrates impact on outcomes of interest through application of rigorous scientific research methods...that allows for causal
inference”. Evidence informed: “developed...with the best available external evidence from systematic research and a body of empirical literature...
demonstrates impact of outcomes of interest through application of scientific research methods that do not allow for causal inference” (NASEM, 2019, p 9).

Executive Summary | 7


https://doi.org/10.17226/25380

mendation 10 in the NASEM report, which advises “har-
nessing new technologies for program delivery” (p. 338).
Use of technology may be similarly advantageous in the
school setting.

Recommendation 5

In light of findings related to inconsistencies in imple-
mentation, a lack of enforcement, and varying
perceptions of impact, support initiative standardiza-
tion, enforcement, and evaluation.

Note. This recommendation is based on findings reported
on pages 20-23, 26-28, 31-35, 37, 39-44, 48, 50, 52-53,
56-57, and 67 of this report, pages 3-27 of the state-lev-
el report, and pages 24-25 of the literature review. This
recommendation is consistent with Recommendations
2 and 7 in the NASEM report, which advise the use of
evidence-based and evidence-informed approaches and
the use of program evaluation and continuous quality im-

provement in order to support military family readiness.

Recommendation 6
To address findings related to (1) persistent challenges
with IEP transfers and (2) variability experienced by stu-
dents in gifted programs, consider ways to increase (1)
IEP transportability and (2) standardization of gifted qual-
ifications and programming.
Note. This recommendation is based on findings report-
ed on pages 17-18, 21-23, 31-32, 34-35, and 67-68 of this
report and pages 18-20 of the literature review.

Recommendation 7

To address challenges related to parent and school

personnel awareness, consider the ways in which

increasing the capacity of the School Liaison Program

and standardizing school liaison duties may improve

parent and school personnel awareness of the initiatives.
Note. This recommendation is based on findings report-
ed on pages 15-17, 20-22, 24-27, 31-38, 43-46, 52, 55-56,
and 67-68 of this report.

Recommendation 8

Based on the variability across states in how the MIC3
state commissioner duties are executed, consider how
the selection and implementation of the MIC3 state
commissioner position (e.g., whether it is a paid posi-
tion or additional duty, the location of the commissioner
within the education system) may impact the execution
of MIC3 commissioner duties.

Note. This recommendation is based on findings report-
ed on pages 31 and 33-34 of this report.

Recommendation 9
To address concerns that lack of funding affects imple-
mentation, advocate for states to fully fund the initiatives
and support the use of existing and potential funding
mechanisms to improve the implementation of the four
initiatives and to implement other programming that is
evidence informed or evidence based.
Note. This recommendation is based on findings report-
ed on pages 22, 34, 42-44, 50, 52-53, 56-57, and 68 of
this report.

Recommendation 10

Given the lack of quantitative research around mili-
tary-connected students’ transitions to new schools and
the lack of evidence regarding the effectiveness of pro-
grams and initiatives for military-connected students,
support research to understand the scope of successes
or difficulties during transitions to new schools and eval-
uations to ensure evidence-informed and evidence-based
practices are used to support students during
those transitions.

Note. This recommendation is based on findings report-
ed on page 57 of this report and pages 16-21, 24-25,
and 27 of the literature review. This recommendation is
consistent with Recommendations 2 and 7 in the NASEM
report, which advise the use of evidence-based and ev-

idence-informed approaches and the use of program
evaluation and continuous quality improvement in order

to support military family readiness.

Executive Summary | 8



In collaboration with the Department of Defense (DoD)
Defense-State Liaison Office (DSLO), the Clearinghouse
for Military Family Readiness at Penn State (Clearinghouse)
examined the implementation of four specific initiatives
and other policies and programs that are intended to
support military-connected students. These four initia-
tives are Advance Enrollment (AE), the Interstate
Compact on Educational Opportunity for Military Children
(Compact), the Military Student Identifier (MSI), and the
Purple Star Schools Program (PSSP) or equivalent.

Although supported at the national level by the DoD,
these four initiatives are state- and District of Columbia
(DC)-level policy initiatives, which means that the poli-
cies related to the implementation of the initiatives are
decided at the state/DC# level. Guidance for the devel-
opment of AE legislation is provided in the form of best
practices from DSLO. Guidance for the development
of Compact legislation is provided by the Military
Interstate Children’s Compact Commission (MIC3; the
governing body that oversees the implementation of
the Compact) in the form of model language. Guidance
for the implementation of the MSI is provided by the
federal Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA). Guidance
for the development of PSSP regulations is provided
by DSLO and the Military Child Education Coalition (MCEC).

The Clearinghouse employed a three-part approach to
this scientific investigation. First, as part of the exam-
ination of the four initiatives, the Clearinghouse
conducted a comprehensive review of academic and
non-academic literature related to the educational suc-
cess of military-connected students. In that review, very
little research on or evaluation of programs for mili-
tary-connected students was found.> Therefore,
although supports are available for military-connected
students, very little is known about the implementation
or effectiveness of those supports.

Introduction

Second, the Clearinghouse conducted an assessment
of how each of the four initiatives were implemented
at the state level. For this investigation, state legislation
and state education department regulations were exam-
ined to understand the legislative and regulatory
requirements of the policies in each state. The exam-
ination found variability across states in whether states
had adopted the initiatives and, for those that did, how
the initiatives were conceptualized and specified.®

Third, the current report is a qualitative assessment of
the implementation of the four initiatives and other pol-
icies and programs within each state and at the local
level. Stakeholders with national, state, and local per-
spectives on the implementation of these initiatives and
programs were interviewed. The questions focused on
awareness, implementation, impact, barriers, improve-
ments, and coordination of services.

This report first discusses the methods that were used
to conduct the evaluation. This section includes a
description of how the data were collected and ana-
lyzed. Next, the report describes the participants. Third,
each of the four initiatives are examined separately.
Fourth, other programs, partnerships, and coordination
of services are explored. Fifth, a website data extraction
of school district and school websites is discussed. This
included an examination of the information that is avail-
able on school or school district websites for military
families. Sixth, potential measures that may be helpful
for Services or families when they are evaluating or
selecting school districts and schools are outlined.
Seventh, commonalities across initiatives and programs
are considered. Finally, actionable recommendations
are proposed based on findings from this investigation.

4 Hereafter, the word “state” will be inclusive of DC.

5 https:/militaryfamilies.psu.edu/wp-content/uploads/clearinghouse_military-connected-students-educational-success_20220721.pdf

6 https:/militaryfamilies.psu.edu/wp-content/uploads/clearinghouse_report_speakmc_initiatives_20240220rev.pdf

Introduction | 9



https://militaryfamilies.psu.edu/wp-content/uploads/clearinghouse_military-connected-students-educational-success_20220721.pdf
https://militaryfamilies.psu.edu/wp-content/uploads/clearinghouse_report_speakmc_initiatives_20240220rev.pdf

Interviews

This qualitative evaluation was conducted to assess
the implementation of the four specific policy initiatives
intended to support military-connected students.

Interview questions were co-developed by the
Clearinghouse, staff within the DoD Military Community
& Family Policy (MC&FP) office, and program managers
from each Service headquarters. Questions regarding
the four initiatives fell into five categories: awareness,
implementation, impact, barriers, and improvement.
Additional questions addressed partnerships between
military installations and local schools or school dis-
tricts, programs that are available to support
military-connected students, coordination between the
Exceptional Family Member Program (EFMP) and the
School Liaison Program (SLP), and recommendations
to improve local or state policies related to military-con-
nected children. Due to time constraints, not all
participant types (e.g., school administrators, parents,
command) were asked every question. A table with all
of the questions and which participant types received
each question is located in Appendix A.

The Clearinghouse sought local-, state-, and nation-
level perspectives. As such, individuals from the
following categories were recruited to participate in
the semi-structured interviews: DoD MC&FP and Service
headquarters program managers, MIC3 leadership and
state commissioners, school liaisons, school adminis-
trators, teachers or counselors, EFMP—Family Support
staff (EFMP-FS), command representatives, parents, and
local partners (e.g., local child/youth development
program staff, individuals who are part of local
education councils).

Each military Service selected a set number of instal-
lations (for a total of 12 installations), which were roughly
proportionate to the size of the Service, from which
Clearinghouse staff recruited school personnel, instal-

Methods

lation personnel, parents, and local partners from the
surrounding area. Installations were selected with the
goal of including a variety of installations that had a
diversity of the following characteristics: installation
sizes, school district sizes, states, differences in the
military impact on the area, differences in the availability
of services and programs, at least one joint base, at
least one purple base (i.e., multiple Services with a pres-
ence on the installation), at least one rural and remote
location, and at least one urban location. Up to three
school districts were selected from each installation
area. For five of these installations, project personnel
traveled to the installation areas to conduct the inter-
views in person. For the remaining seven installations,
interviews were conducted via phone. In addition to
the school liaisons in the installation areas, additional
school liaisons were interviewed from across the
United States.

Potential participants were identified through discus-
sions with DSLO personnel, DoD and Service program
managers, the local school liaison, and school district
personnel. Potential participants were sent an email
that described the project and invited them to partici-
pate in an interview, which was to last 60-90 minutes
for program managers and school liaisons and 30-45
minutes for all other participant types. Follow-up emails
were sent to non-responders, and follow-up phone calls
were made if the potential participant’s phone number
was available to the project team.

Interviews were conducted by evaluation personnel
from the Clearinghouse. A consent form was provided
to the participants and reviewed before the start of the
interview. Interviews were semi-structured interviews.
The first question for each of the four initiatives asked
participants if they were familiar with the initiative. If the
participant said they were not, the interviewer provided
a brief description of the initiative and then asked again
if they were familiar with it. If the participant was not

Methods | 10




familiar with the initiative, they were not asked the
remaining questions in that section. Handwritten notes
were taken by project staff during the interview. As
such, statements attributed to participants in this report
should not be interpreted as direct quotes. Furthermore,
participants were asked about their experience with,
understanding of, or perception of the implementation
of the initiatives. As such, each statement is each indi-
vidual’s understanding of the topic. It is possible that
participants may have a misunderstanding or misper-
ception of the topic. We have highlighted a few examples
where we have evidence that this may be the case.
Note that we have not highlighted all misunderstand-
ings or misperceptions.

To start the code development process, an initial set of
codes was developed by two project personnel who
extracted themes from 10 interviews. These themes
were initially based around the six question categories
(i.e., awareness, implementation, impact, barriers,
improvement, coordination) and then expanded into
subthemes. The final codebook included the initiative
name, category, subcategory, code, definition, and exam-
ples. An “other” category was available in each category
and in subcategories, as applicable, to capture state-
ments that did not fit into the developed codes. The
final codebook included 367 codes, which were then
expanded and combined during data analysis. Data
coders were trained on the same initial set of interviews.
Throughout the coding process, coders all coded the
same interview once per week in order to examine reli-
ability and to prevent drift in coding.

Participants’ responses could be assigned to a partic-
ular code if they were answering a direct question, if
they answered a question for which the answer also fit
into another category (e.g., discussion of lack of aware-
ness of an initiative being a barrier was also coded
under awareness of the initiative), and if they sponta-
neously made a statement that fit into a particular code
(e.g., sometimes participants’ answers to one question
led them to discuss another topic).

In much of the reporting of the results on the following
pages, discussion of code categories, or themes, begins
with the number of participants who made a comment
that fell into that theme (e.g., barriers). Subsequent dis-
cussion speaks to the percent of participants who made
comments in subthemes (e.g., barriers related to parent
awareness, barriers related to school awareness). The
percent of participants who had comments in a sub-
theme may add up to more than 100%. Participants
often made comments that fell into more than one code
and were counted separately. Conversely, the percent
of respondents who made comments in a subtheme
may add up to less than 100%. Participant comments
were varied and wide-ranging, and this report covers
commonly reported or particularly salient themes.
Therefore, although being included in the count of a
category, one-off responses may not be subsequently
discussed in this report.

Moreover, occasionally participants would answer “no”
to a question but would then, in the course of answering
the question, provide examples that would imply a “yes”
answer. These responses were counted as a “yes”
instead of a “no.” Similarly, if a respondent answered
“no” but, in the course of answering a different ques-
tion, provided examples that would imply a “yes” answet,
the answer was counted as a “yes” instead of a “no.”

Process Evaluation Timeline

General timeline for process evaluation development,
execution, and analysis:

8/1/22 — 9/30/22: Developed evaluation plan, inter-
view protocols, and recruitment material

9/30/22 —11/10/22: Penn State Institutional Review
Board (IRB) review and approval

11/22/22 — 2/27/23: DoD review and approval
11/30/22 —1/30/23: Federal register 60-day notice
3/2/23 — 4/1/23: Federal register 30-day notice

3/2/23 — 4/19/23: Office of Management and
Budget (OMB) review and approval

5/8/23 — 11/20/23: Participant recruitment
5/16/23 —12/1/23: Interviews

Methods | 11



7/5/23 —12/1/23: Interview coding
12/1/23 — 2/9/23: Analyses

This project was determined by the DoD, Component
Office of Human Research Protections to be program
evaluation. Therefore, Pennsylvania State University
IRB review and approval was not required. The project
was approved under OMB Control Number 0704-0658.

Data Extraction at the Local Level

A website data extraction was performed for each of
the schools and school districts that were affiliated with
interview participants or that were selected for inclu-
sion, regardless of whether participants affiliated with
the school agreed to participate. The goal of the local-
level data extraction was to identify information related
to the four initiatives that is available on the district or
school website. Furthermore, data were collected on
additional programs and information included on the
website that was specifically targeted to military families.

Data collection tools for this investigation were devel-
oped for districts and for schools. These tools were
based on the information gathered from the extraction

of state-level website data related to the four initiatives
that was conducted in 20237 and included initiative
components identified in the state-level data extraction.
In addition, data were gathered from the National Center
for Education Statistics Common Core of Data® and
included the number of students and schools in the
district, the total current expenditures per student, the
teacher/student ratio, the number of students eligible
for free and reduced-price lunch, whether the school
is eligible for schoolwide Title 1, and the census
locale classification.

There was wide variability in the ease of locating infor-
mation on district and school websites. As such, two
coders were trained to code the websites. Each coder
conducted a primary review of half of the websites and
a secondary review of the other half of the websites.
Even though two reviews of the website occurred,
because of the difficulty in finding information on some
of the websites, the Clearinghouse cannot guarantee
that all of the information available on all of the web-
sites was located. The website data extraction for the
districts and schools was conducted between August
and December 2023.

7 https://militaryfamilies.psu.edu/wp-content/uploads/clearinghouse_report_speakmc_initiatives_20240220rev.pdf

8 https://nces.ed.gov/ccd/schoolsearch/

Methods | 12


https://militaryfamilies.psu.edu/wp-content/uploads/clearinghouse_report_speakmc_initiatives_20240220rev.pdf
https://nces.ed.gov/ccd/schoolsearch/

Evaluators invited 230 people to participate in the eval-
uation. A total of 164 people agreed to participate, and
project staff conducted 154 interviews with participants.
Table 1 shows the number of participants, separated
by participant type, who were invited, agreed, and par-
ticipated. Overall, the response rate (i.e., the percent
of those who were invited that participated) was 67%.
Nearly three quarters (73%) of participants who
participated agreed to participate after the first recruit-
ment email, nearly a quarter (23%) agreed after the
follow-up email, and 4% agreed after the follow-up phone
call. Participants who agreed but did not participate
either did not respond to scheduling emails (n=6) or
did not attend their scheduled interview and did not
respond to an email that attempted to reschedule the
interview (n=4).

Participants were connected with all six branches of
the United States Armed Forces (i.e., Air Force, Army,
Coast Guard, Navy, Marine Corps, Space Force), the
DoD, or MIC3. The participants included Service head-
quarters personnel, installation personnel, school
personnel in the installation area, parents who were
Service members or spouses of Service members
assigned to the installation, local partners identified by
installation personnel, DoD personnel, and MIC3 rep-
resentatives. Table 2 displays the number of participants
from each group. Participants represented 30 states.
Eighty-eight percent of military-connected students
reside in those 30 states, and 82% of military installa-
tions that are in the 50 U.S. states and DC are located
in those 30 states.®

Participants

Participant Response Rates

Percent

N[l T=® Number | Percent| Number

ISR (L\iel Agreed | Agreed |Participated |Participated
All 230 164 71% 154 67%
ey 7 7 | 100% 7 100%
Moresentative | 18 n o e1% 1 61%
School liaison 64 51 80% 46 72%
Shool we0| 35 | 25 | 7% 23 66%
Teacher/ 36 | 20 | 56% 19 53%
EFMP-FS 14 8 57% 8 57%
Command 13 " 85% " 85%
Parent 34 24 71% 23 68%
Local partner 9 7 78% 6 67%
Table 1

Participant Response Rates

Participants by Group Affiliation

Group | Number | Percent
Army 36 23%
Air Force 36 23%
Navy 30 19%
Marine Corps 24 16%
Space Force 16 10%
Military Interstate Children's o
Compact Commission [ %o
Coast Guard 1 1%
Department of Defense 1 1%

Note. The total number of participants in this table is greater than the
number of participants in the evaluation. Although Space Force is
now separate from the Air Force, there are circumstances in which an
individual may still be affiliated with both. In this circumstance, for this
table, they are counted as affiliated with both Space Force and Air Force.

Table 2
Participants by Group Affiliation

9 Data sources: Defense Manpower Data Center, 2020 (https://mic3.net/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/50-AD-Data_20200731.pdf); Military OneSource

retrieved in 2021 (https://installations.militaryonesource.mil/view-all). Counts of installations include only active duty installations that gave permission
to be included on the Military OneSource list of installations; installations do not include National Guard, Reserve, Army Recruiting Command, or Army
Cadet Command locations; joint bases are double or triple counted based on the number of Services at the joint base.

10 School administrators included principals, assistant principals, and school district personnel.

Participants | 13



https://mic3.net/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/50-AD-Data_20200731.pdf
https://installations.militaryonesource.mil/view-all

For the interviews with school personnel, Clearinghouse
evaluators worked with the local school liaison to con-
tact up to three school districts in their area and secure
district approval to recruit school personnel. The
Clearinghouse sought approval from 25 school districts
in 12 installation areas in 11 states and obtained approval
from 22 school districts. One of those 22 districts, how-
ever, had additional requirements that could not be
reconciled before the end of data collection. Therefore,
no school personnel were interviewed in that school
district. School districts differed in how they transferred
the project to the schools after approval was granted
at the school-district level. Some provided the name of
the school and the names and contact information of
potential participants. Others provided the name of the
school principal and requested that the evaluators con-
tact them for names of additional potential participants.
Furthermore, Clearinghouse staff requested the names
of more potential participants than were needed. This
was done so that (1) evaluators had back-ups in case
someone said “no” and (2) to help ensure confidenti-
ality. The Clearinghouse also asked for back-up schools
in case a particular school was not interested in partic-

ipating. Ultimately, the Clearinghouse project team
received the names of 41 schools from which to recruit
school personnel. Four schools did not respond to inqui-
ries about the project. As such, school personnel were
recruited from 37 schools.

The Clearinghouse team initially sought parent partic-
ipants from the same schools from which school
personnel were recruited. However, to increase the
pool of potential participants, evaluators loosened the
criteria to include parents of children in any school in
the district. Furthermore, as parents may have more
than one child, they may have been affiliated with more
than one school, including schools not selected for
school personnel interviews.

Ultimately, school personnel and parent participants
were affiliated with 19 school districts and 38 schools.
These districts and schools were diverse in terms of
geographical area, size of district and school, stu-
dent-teacher ratio, expenditures per student, and
economic disadvantage. Table 3 shows the approxi-
mate range related to these characteristics."

Approximate Range of Demographic Characteristics of School Districts and Schools Included in the Evaluation

Geographical Areas Represented in Interviews

City Large'2 Town Fringe
City Midsize Town Distant
City Small Town Remote

Suburb Large
Suburb Midsize
Suburb Small

Geographical Areas Not Represented in Interviews

Rural Distant

School-Wide Title 1

Rural Fringe
Rural Remote

Yes 47%
No 34%
Missing data 18%
Table 3

School and School District

Characteristics Low High

. L More than
Students in school district | Less than 400 100,000
Schools in school district Less than 5 More than 200
Total current expenditures Less than More than
per student $9,000 $20,000

District student to teacher

. More than 22
ratio

Less than 11

Students in school Less than 300 | More than 2000
School student to teacher

. More than 22
ratio

Less than 11
Percent of students
receiving free or reduced-
price lunch

Less than 15% 100%

Approximate Range of Demographic Characteristics of School Districts and Schools Included in the Evaluation

11 https://nces.ed.gov/ccd/schoolsearch/; https://nces.ed.gov/ccd/districtsearch/

12 National Center for Education Statistics Locale Classifications and Criteria, https://nces.ed.gov/programs/edge/docs/locale_classifications.pdf

Participants | 14


https://nces.ed.gov/ccd/schoolsearch/
https://nces.ed.gov/ccd/districtsearch/
https://nces.ed.gov/programs/edge/docs/locale_classifications.pdf

Advance Enroliment

AE is an initiative that allows parents to enroll their chil-
dren in public school based on military orders as
opposed to traditional means of establishing residency
(e.g., lease, mortgage statement). Thus, AE allows enroll-
ment to occur before the family has moved to the new
duty station.'2 This initiative is established through state
legislation, and, as such, it varies by state regarding
requirements and specificity of the legislation.'#

Awareness

Of the 148 participants who lived in states with AE, 127
(86%) were aware of AE, and 21 (14%) were not. As
shown in Table 4, although the overall awareness was
high, a smaller proportion of the 23 parent respondents
expressed awareness of the initiative (n=16, 70%).
Examples of participant comments are included
throughout this report. Participant comments were
selected for inclusion in this report based on their ability
to describe the phenomenon being discussed.

As can be seen in Table 5, 63 participants discussed
family awareness of AE. Of the participants who dis-
cussed family awareness of AE, 41% believed that most
families know what AE is, 37% reported that some (but
not most) families know or that there were caveats to
their awareness. Twenty-two percent reported that many
families are not aware of AE. Responses varied based
on participant type. Fifty-one percent of school liaisons
indicated that most families are aware, but only 21% of
parents reported that most families are aware.

Most Families Aware

| get emails all the time asking how to advance enroll,
asking if they have to have an address. (School Liaison)

Yes, the school liaison sends out information to all
incoming families, talks about it in email
communications. (EFMP-FS)

Respondents Who Were Aware of AE

Respondent Type Aware (#/%) Not Aware (#/%)
All respondents 127 86% 21 14%
Program manager 6 86% 1 14%
MIC3 representative 8 73% 3 27%
School liaison 38 95% 2 5%
School administrator 21 91% 2 9%
Teacher/counselor 16 84% 3 16%
EFMP-FS 8 100% 0 0%
Command 10 91% 1 9%
Parent 16 70% 7 30%
Local partner 4 67% 2 33%

Note. Participants who did not live in states with AE did not receive
questions about AE.

Table 4
Number and Percent of Respondents Who Were Aware of AE

Respondents Within Each Respondent Group
Who Discussed Family Awareness of AE

Many

Most |Some Families
Families | Aware, Specific

Discussed

Family Families

Respondent

Type Awareness| Aware Groups, or

(#) (#/%) | Caveats (#/%)
All

63 26 |41%| 23 37% | 14 22%
respondents
Program 7 0/0% 7 | 100% O 0%
manager
MIC3

. 0 - - - - - -

representative
School liaison 35 18 51% 1 31% 6 | 17%
School 0 ) ) ) ) ) )
administrator
Teacher/ 0 . . ) ) ) )
counselor
EFMP-FS 7 5 7% 2 28% | 0 | 0%
Command 0 - - - - - -
Parent 14 3 |21% 3 21% | 8 |57%
Local partner 0 - - - - - -

Note. Due to rounding, the sum of the percentages may not equal 100%.

Table 5
Number and Percent of Respondents Within Each Respondent Group Who
Discussed Family Awareness of AE

13 https://www.militaryonesource.mil/education-employment/for-children-youth/advance-school-enroliment/

14 https://militaryfamilies.psu.edu/wp-content/uploads/clearinghouse_report_speakmc_initiatives_20240220rev.pdf

Advance Enrollment | 15



https://www.militaryonesource.mil/education-employment/for-children-youth/advance-school-enrollment/
https://militaryfamilies.psu.edu/wp-content/uploads/clearinghouse_report_speakmc_initiatives_20240220rev.pdf

Some Families Aware, Specific Groups, or Caveats

Families are more aware of open enroliment and
confuse the two. (School Liaison)

Some are not aware...maybe 60% do know...it is
confusing because how it is used depends on where
you live. (School Liaison)

Almost all junior high and high school families, 40% of
elementary school families, unless they are EFMP
families, then close to 100%. (School Liaison)

Military families who have students in middle school &
high school know to do their homework and work on
enrollment early. Military families with elementary
families are new and do not necessarily know to be
proactive. (School Liaison)

Most Families Not Aware

| Very few are aware before | tell them. (School Liaison)

Forty-one participants discussed school staff aware-
ness of AE (see Table 6). School personnel were directly
asked about staff awareness; two school liaisons and
one EFMP-FS spontaneously discussed staff awareness.
Of those 41 participants, 29% indicated that, in general,
school staff are aware of AE; 59% said that those who

need to be aware of it (e.g., front office staff, registrars,
counselors) are; 10% said that, in general, staff are not
aware of AE; and 2% said they were not sure if staff, in
general, were aware of AE.

Staff, in General, are Aware

We do communicate this to our staff, updates
regarding programs that benefit students including
military students. The more information the staff have,
the better they support students. Through the school
leadership team, information is siphoned down to all
levels. (School Administrator)

Front Office Staff and Counselors are Aware

Not so much teachers, more like front office staff and
our data manager. (School Administrator)

The secretary who is in charge of enrollment does.
(School Administrator)

The office staff and registrar, yes. The people who
need to know about it are aware. (School Administrator)

Most School Staff Not Aware

Advance Enrollment is not well known or understood
by school districts yet. (School Liaison)

Respondents Within Each Respondent Group Who Discussed School Staff Awareness of AE

Discussed School In General, Staff

Front Office Staff/ In General, Staff

()
FEEREE RN Staff Awareness (#) Aware (#/%) Counselors Aware (#/%) Not Aware (#/%) NI ()
All respondents 41 12 29% 24 59% 4 10% 1 2%
Program manager 0 - - - - - - - -
MIC3 representative 0 - - - - - - - -
School liaison 2 0 0% 0 0% 2 100% 0 0%
School administrator 21 4 19% 17 81% 0 0% 0 0%
Teacher/counselor 17 8 47% 7 41% 1 6% 1 6%
EFMP-FS 1 0 0% 0 0% 1 100% 0 0%
Command 0 - - - - - - - -
Parent 0 - - - - - - - -
Local partner 0 - - - - - - - -

Table 6

Number and Percent of Respondents Within Each Respondent Group Who Discussed School Staff Awareness of AE

Advance Enrollment | 16



Implementation

Of the 148 participants who lived in states with AE, 73
discussed family requests for AE. Of those who dis-
cussed family requests, 30% said that few families
request AE, 19% indicated that more than 20% of fam-
ilies request AE (i.e., responses ranged from 25% to
over 90% of families that use AE), and 51% said that they
do not know the percent of families that request AE. The

number and percent of participants that provided
responses in each category can be found in Table 7.

Respondents Within Each Respondent Group
Who Discussed Families Requesting AE

Do Not

Discussed R queuv; st Mg:)e%Tcr;?n Know

Respondent Family (15% of Families How Many

Type Req;ests families or | Request Eam'“ei

eques

@) | ress) (#1%) | (#/%) e

Al 73 | 22 |30% | 14 | 19% | 37 | 51%
respondents

Program 0 ) _ ) ) ) )

manager

Mics . 1 1 100% 0 0% O | 0%
representative

School liaison 35 M | 31% | 10 |[29% 14 |40%

School 21 4 19% 4 | 19% 13 62%
administrator

LIS 16 6 38% O 0% 10 63%

counselor

EFMP-FS 0 - - - - - -

Command 0 - - - - - -

Parent 0 - - - - - -

Local partner 0 - - - - - -

Note. Due to rounding, the sum of the percentages may not equal 100%.

Table 7
Number and Percent of Respondents Within Each Respondent Group Who
Discussed Families Requesting AE

Few Families Request

They like to go into the school to register so they can
see the school. They may start the process online but
finish it in person. (School Liaison)

Only about 10-15%. Often related to specific needs of
their students — those in certain programs. (School
Administrator)

Only one family requested AE last year. This is typical.
(Teacher/Counselor)

Good Number of Families Request

| would say 85%...if they have a student, they are
calling and requesting. (School Liaison)

50-60%...mostly those who know where they will be
living. (School Liaison)

Unsure How Many Families Request
| We are not privy to this information. (School Liaison)

No idea because our central office deals with this. |

have dealt with some families who are in process, but

| have no idea on a percent. (Teacher/Counselor)
Seventy-four participants (i.e., school liaisons, EFMP-FS,
and school personnel) discussed the presence or
absence of differences in AE implementation based on
whether students have an IEP or 504 Plan as opposed
to those students who do not. The majority (59%) of
participants who discussed this issue said that there
were no differences. Forty-one percent said that there
were differences between students with and without
an IEP or 504 Plan. Fifty percent of participants who
discussed differences in implementation for students
with an IEP or 504 Plan indicated that there were pos-
itive differences in that AE allows the school to begin
the process of securing services for the student sooner.

No Difference

No. | tell them to hand-carry IEPs or 504 Plans. Those
documents can be brought over to the local verbiage.
If | can get a hold of families, | tell them to hand-carry,
so it is seamless. | connect the families with EFMP.
These families may need more supports and
paperwork, but there is no other difference. (School
Liaison)

No difference [in implementation]. Because these
students have a case manager or a 504 coordinator,
there is one more adult to make sure they have what
they need. To make sure when they leave they have
their final report card, they have different players
working on it to make sure it is complete. It is the
same process, just with additional data. (Teacher/
Counselor)

Advance Enrollment | 17



Yes Reduced Stress

More beneficial with a child with an identified need. Helps families breathe a little easier knowing the
They alert the special education department that the school will be ready for their child. (School Liaison)
student is coming in. Start the conversation sooner.

(School Liaison) Creates less anxiety for military-connected students

and their parents. Eases their minds and reduces

It would give us an opportunity to have records to get stress. An example, they will reopen a closed class if
the process going. The additional time is helpful to the student needs it given their previous work.
ensure we can get the resources needed for the (School Administrator)

student. (Teacher/Counselor)
Less Out of School Time

For some, for outlier districts, kids are getting in to

Impact school faster. Some schools require things that a
military family would never do, such as change license
Of the 107 who discussed AE impact, only 17% were or car registration — it is good to have orders. (School
unsure of the impact and 7% believed that AE had no Liaison)
impact, while 77% mentioned some type of positive Yes, if they’re able to enroll quickly and get into

school more quickly, that will positively impact the

impact. Table 8 displays responses by participant type.
P play P yp P yp student’s learning. (School Administrator)

Eighty-two respondents specified a variety of positive

impacts. These included reducing stress on families ~ ¢lass Enroliment

(34%), helping schools be more prepared (13%), stu- Students can choose classes they want and need for
. . raduation. (School Liaison
dents having less out-of-school time (12%), students g ( )

Students seem more invested in school if they use
Advance Enrollment. Like getting the classes they
want. | can better match students to the right classes.

. (Teacher/Counselor)
Respondents Within Each Respondent Group
Who Discussed the Impact of AE
2 Schools are More Prepared

being able to get classes that they need or want (12%),
and other responses.

Respondent |Discussed| Do Not Know | No Impact| Impact

Type Impact (#) | Impact (#/%) (#1%) (#1%) | Allows school to be ready. (School Liaison)

All Staff can be frontloaded with information that they

respondents 107 18 17% 7 7% |82 77% need about students. Get our ducks in a row and
things are in place from the first day. (Teacher/

Program 7 0O 0% | 0 0% 7 100% Counselor)

manager

MIC3 3 o 0% o 0% 3100% Other

representative . . . .
They can get information on extra curriculars or special

School liaison 34 2 6% 3 | 9% (29| 85% services before they are even there. (School Liaison)

School o o o The transition is smoother, reduces negative social-
administrator 19 / 37% 2 | ™% |10 53% emotional problems. Little things make a difference.
(School Liaison)

VSR Y 16 4 | 25% 0 0% 12 75%
counselor

Not Sure About Impact
EFMP-FS 1 0 0% 0 0% | 1 100%

House Bill [number] was passed in [year], but it left
Command 1 4 36% | 0 | 0% 7 | 64% room for interpretation...So, it’s difficult to know what
impact it’s having because it differs by district and

Parent 15 1 7% 2 | 13% 12| 80% how it’s being interpreted. (Command)

Local partner 1 0 0% 0O | 0% 1 100%

There are not enough cases to determine. (School
Administrator)

Note. Due to rounding, the sum of the percentages may not equal 100%.

Table 8
Number and Percent of Respondents Within Each Respondent Group Who
Discussed the Impact of AE

Advance Enrollment | 18



No Impact

Don’t see a big difference. It is first come first serve. It
is almost irrelevant. (Parent)

No real impact except for those with an IEP as early
notification. (School Administrator)

Differences in Impact for Students with
an IEP or 504 Plan

Of the 64 participants who discussed the comparative
impact between students with an IEP or 504 Plan and
students in the general education population, 41% per-
ceived no difference in the impact, and 38% suggested
that AE represents an added benefit for students with
an IEP or 504 Plan. Table 9 shows the number and per-
centage of responses in each category.

Added Benefit for Students with IEPs or 504 Plans

We can get a jump start on the |EP process for those
with needs if they register early. (School
Administrator)

Benefits are that only certain schools serviced gifted
kids, so it was great, a huge advantage to know which
schools serviced those gifted needs. (Parent)

There is a huge waiting list, so families get a leg up
using Advance Enrollment. (School Liaison)

Barriers

Barriers to Implementation

Of the 46 participants who mentioned something about
barriers to school implementation, 22% indicated that
there were no barriers, while 43% mentioned address-
or location-based barriers existed, and 41% mentioned
some other barrier. Responses by participant type are
located in Table 10.

Address- or Location-Based

One district, due to its size, would not be able to
handle the onslaught of families if families were able
to enroll in whichever district they wanted. They have
to have an address and military orders. (School Liaison)

A lot of schools have attendance zones, and families
don’t know where they will live until they get there.
(Program Manager)

Families don’t know where they will live; it’s hard to
apply for schools that may or may not be conveniently
located. Families may choose a school based on
educational opportunities, for example, arts, and the
family ends up living 45 minutes away due to housing
availability. (School Liaison)

Respondents Within Each Respondent Group Who Discussed the Impact of AE with Regard to IEP or 504 Plans

Respondent Type IEP/5D(i)Slﬁjssed No Difference in ITpact Added Benefi} for | Does Not Know In:pact Other IEP/SO%
mpact (#) for IEP/504 (#/%) IEP/504 (#/%) for IEP/504 (#/%) Differences (#/%)
All respondents 64 26 41% 24 38% 5 8% 13 20%
Program manager 0] - - - - - - - -
MIC3 representative 0 - - - - - - - -
School liaison 34 14 41% 15 44% 5 9% 4 12%
School administrator 18 10 56% 5 28% 1 6% 3 17%
Teacher/counselor 1 0 0% 1 100% 0 0% 0 0%
EFMP-FS 7 0] 0% 2 29% 1 14% 4 57%
Command 0 - - - - = - - -
Parent 4 2 50% 1 25% 0] 0% 2 50%
Local partner 0 - - - - - - - -

Note. Participants may have responses in more than one category.

Table 9

Number and Percent of Respondents Within Each Respondent Group Who Discussed the Impact of AE with Regard to IEP or 504 Plans

Advance Enrollment | 19



Respondents Within Each Respondent Group
Who Discussed Barriers to the Implementation of AE

q Address-
Discussed Other No

%t/e;gondent Barriers BB;EZ?S Barriers Barriers

(E) (#1%) (#/%) (#/%)
All
respondents 46 20 | 43% | 19 @ 41% | 10 |22%
:;’gg':r 1 1 100% O | 0% 0 | 0%
MIC3 . 2 2 [100% O 0% 0 | 0%
representative
School liaison 12 12 100%| 2 17% 0 | 0%
:;::i’gi'strator 15 1 7% 10  67% | 4 |27%
Iﬁif\:‘:g ) 1 O 0% | 5 | 45% 6 |55%
EFMP-FS 1 1 1100% O 0% 0 | 0%
Command 1 0 0% 1 [100% | O | 0%
Parent 3 3 100% 1 33% | 0 | 0%
Local partner 0 - - - - - -

Note. Participants may have responses in more than one category.

Table 10

Number and Percent of Respondents Within Each Respondent Group Who
Discussed Barriers to the Implementation of AE

Other Barriers
A variety of barriers were discussed aside from address-
or location-based barriers. These barriers included state
policy related to AE or other education-related policies,
DoD policy, school staff resistance, and the difficulty of
understanding student needs based only on paperwork.

In [State], HB [number] was passed in [year], but it left
room for interpretation. It’s not currently being applied
correctly, so we are trying to get that bill amended.
The intent is being interpreted incorrectly. (Command)

If families come mid-year and all seats are filled for a
certain class. The school is pretty overcrowded. We
cannot honor if the class is already filled. (Teacher/
Counselor)

If they have soft date. We had family that thought they
were moving in February and showed up in October.
(School Administrator)

Districts have been resistant to accepting Advance
Enroliment. (School Liaison)

Needs might look different once a student has arrived
[compared to what the paperwork says]. (Teacher/
Counselor)

Barriers to Families Using
Of the 65 participants who discussed barriers to fami-
lies using AE, 35% said there were no barriers, while
65% mentioned that there was at least one barrier.
Details can be found in Table 11.

Of the respondents who mentioned one or more bar-
riers to families using AE, 20 (i.e., almost half of those
who said there were barriers) mentioned a lack of
family awareness.

Getting communication and information to the family
member, usually not the military member, who will
enroll children. (School Liaison)

Even though the school liaison and EFMP talk about
Advance Enrollment, some families don’t know about
Advance Enrollment. Young, enlisted families in
particular don’'t know what they don’t know. (EFMP-FS)

Awareness is the biggest barrier, and there is
probably not enough ongoing contact to help them
work through Advance Enroliment. [Child and Youth]
is part of newcomers brief. The spouse brief really
helps with Advance Enrollment. We really try to
communicate the program as much as we can. Also, in
and out processing is required, but it is not enforced.
(School Liaison)

Families are unaware that Advance Enroliment exists.
| have given information to other parents rather than
parents hearing about it directly from the military or
school liaison. (Parent)

Respondents Within Each Respondent Group
Who Discussed Barriers to Families Using AE

Discussed | Any Barriers | No Barriers

Respondent Type Barriers (#) | (#/%) (#/%)
All respondents 65 42 | 65% | 23 | 35%
Program manager 2 2 100% 0 0%
MIC3 representative 1 1 100% 0 0%
School liaison 29 16 55% 13 | 45%
School administrator 5 4 80% 1 20%
Teacher/counselor 7 4 57% 3 43%
EFMP-FS 5 3 60% 2 | 40%
Command 2 2 100% O 0%
Parent 14 10 71% 4 29%
Local partner 0 - - - -
Table 11

Number and Percent of Respondents Within Each Respondent Group Who
Discussed Barriers to Families using AE

Advance Enrollment | 20



Other barriers to families using AE were varied. They
included comments related to lack of awareness or
presence of resistance from the school, students being
able to enroll in school but not register for classes, fam-
ilies being overwhelmed with tasks related to the move,
lack of consistency in how the policy is implemented,
constraints of the policy, housing availability and trans-
portation, last minute changes in orders, and difficulty
finding information.

Schools push back saying it is special treatment for
military students. For example, corporate families
transition. (School Liaison)

Rural schools are not as familiar with Advance
Enrollment. (School Liaison)

Probably families have a lot to think about when
preparing for a move. It is a chaotic period. Some
families have the mindset that they will figure out the
school piece when they get there. The school is an
afterthought in the craze of the move. Some families
do prioritize school enroliment and that is who we
hear from. Those who don't think about it as a priority
probably need it the most. (Teacher/Counselor)

Yes — [Advance Enrollment is] not uniformly applied
from district to district. (School Liaison)

Sometimes the school of choice is too far away from
where the families end up living. Transportation is an
issue for special needs families. They may get into the
“right” school but need to provide their own
transportation. There is a grant available to provide
monetary assistance for transportation. It is military
funded. (EFMP-FS)

Differences in Barriers for Students with
an IEP or 504 Plan

Of the 42 participants who discussed the comparative
barriers across students in general education and those
with an |IEP or 504 Plan, 57% suggested that there were
no additional barriers, while 43 % said there were addi-
tional barriers. See Table 12 for details.

Many of the barriers that were discussed centered
around issues regarding the documentation required
for students with an IEP or 504 Plan or focused on dif-
ficulties related to staffing and resources.

Documentation is not always transferred by the losing
district in a timely manner or hand carried by parents.
(School Liaison)

This is a small community, resources [may be up to]
300 mi away [if they want to] get services faster.
(School Liaison)

Yes, this is a significant problem. There are just not
enough staff, especially those who provide different
therapies. There are just not enough providers of
therapies. EFMP and the [city] school district are
trying to find options, a working group. This is a major
problem and is completely out of our hands. (School
Liaison)

Respondents Within Each Respondent Group
Who Discussed IEP or 504 Plan-Related Barriers
to Families Using AE

Respondent Type | Discussed | Additiona | No Bapers
All respondents 42 18 43% | 24 | 57%
Program manager 0 - - - -
MIC3 representative 0 - - - -
School liaison 31 M | 35% | 20 | 65%
School administrator 0 - - - -
Teacher/counselor 1 1 100% O 0%
EFMP-FS 6 3 50% 3 50%
Command 0 - - - -
Parent 4 3 75% 1 25%
Local partner 0 - = - -

Table 12
Number and Percent of Respondents Within Each Respondent Group Who
Discussed IEP or 504 Plan-Related Barriers to Families Using AE

Improvements

Of the 115 participants who mentioned something about
improvements, 19% said they had no ideas for improve-
ment, 6% said they had no ideas because AE was
working well, and 75% discussed ideas for improve-
ment. Table 13 displays details by participant type.

No Ideas for Improvement

No. It is a great idea. The problems for them are just,
you can’t fix housing costs. We would love to have
them. It’s a problem for all of our families not just
military families. (School Administrator)

Things Working Well

None that | can see in my district, everything is online,
we can upload documents online. (Parent)

Advance Enrollment | 21



Respondents Within Each Respondent Group Who Discussed Potential Improvements to AE

Discussed No Ideas for Improvements 5 5 Ideas for Improvements
Respondent Type Improvements (#) (#1%) Things Working Well (#/%) (#/%)
All respondents 15 22 19% 7 6% 86 75%
Program manager 6 0 0% 0 0% 6 100%
MIC3 representative 0 - - - - - -
School liaison 37 7 19% 2 5% 28 76%
School administrator 20 6 30% 2 10% 12 60%
Teacher/counselor 15 3 20% 0 0% 12 80%
EFMP-FS 7 1 14% 1 14% 5 71%
Command 10 2 20% 0 0% 8 80%
Parent 17 3 18% 2 12% 12 71%
Local partner 3 0 0% 0 0% 3 100%
Table 13

Number and Percent of Respondents Within Each Respondent Group Who Discussed Potential Improvements to AE

This is probably unique to our school district, maybe
other school districts have same thing, we have a
central registration, which has a lot of positives. The
These topics included enforcing policy, leveraging tech- central registration office does not share a lot of
information back to the school, for example, this
student is a PCS move, are going through the
Advance Enrollment process. The central registration
methods, instituting capacity waivers, encouraging office just says, “hey, you are getting a new student.”
The schools don’t get all the information until the
student shows up. At the school they understand the
importance. Central registration is just a stop point;

Responses from the 86 participants who discussed
improvement ideas spanned a wide range of topics.

nology, tightening up legislation and adding a funding
mechanism, leveraging different communication

families to bring paperwork that could help with
course placement, and using alternate means to

communicate information. but you could strengthen their understanding of the
process. Could be an area of improvement. (School
Enforcement and support by the state. (School Administrator)
Liaison)

Systems to share portfolios, for example, samples of Summary
work, copies of textbook covers, IEP or 504 Plans.
Systems that talk to each other. (Program Manager) Participant awareness of AE was relatively high. Overall,

Add in virtual meet and greets that could help with 86% of participants who lived in states with the initia-

the transition. (School Liaison) tive indicated that they were aware of it. Compared to

The schools could use more IT support. Some families program managers (86%), school liaisons (95%),
are working off cell phones, not a computer. Mobile

O, o)
compatibility is a problem. (School Liaison) teachers/counselors (84%), command (91%), and school

administrators (91%), parents had the lowest awareness

Any issues are due to policy vagueness. Having to .
have all things done is sometimes a sticking point. of the initiative (70%).
Immunization card issues are different. | will reach out Of the 63 participants who discussed family awareness
to the health department for military families, there is o
no silver bullet for this. (School Liaison) of AE, there was variability in responses based on
) , respondent type. Seventy-one percent of EFMP-FS
Use the FRG [Family Readiness Group] to
communicate with parents about their resources.
Spouses are not always likely to go through the main 51% of school liaisons and 21% of parents believed that

channels to get their information. (Parent)

reported that most families are aware of AE, whereas

most families are aware of AE. Only 17% of school liai-
sons indicated that many families are not aware of AE,
but 57% of parents indicated that many families are not
aware of AE.

Advance Enrollment | 22



Forty-one participants discussed school awareness of
AE. Of those, 29% stated that school staff, in general,
are aware of the policy; 59% indicated that those who
are directly involved in enrollment and registration are
aware of the policy; 10% reported that, in general, school
staff are not aware of AE; and 2% were not sure if school
staff were aware of AE.

Of the 73 participants who discussed families requesting
AE, 30% indicated that few families request AE; 19%
indicated that more than a few request AE; and 51%
indicated that they did not know how many families
request AE. Fifty percent of participants who discussed
differences in implementation for students with an IEP
or 504 Plan indicated that there were positive differ-
ences in that AE allows the school to begin the process
of securing services for the student sooner. This may
help explain why EFMP-FS indicated a higher family
awareness rate than other participant types.

One hundred seven participants discussed the pres-
ence or absence of impacts related to AE. Of those,
77% indicated there was an impact compared to no
impact or does not know. The impacts discussed
included families experiencing less stress, being better
able to choose classes that are needed or desired,
allowing the school to be more prepared, and students
spending less time out of school. Differences in impact
for students with IEPs and 504 Plans echo what was
said in other categories: schools can get an early start
on putting services in place for the student.

Forty-six participants discussed the presence or absence
of barriers to the implementation of AE, and 78% of
these participants identified barriers. These barriers
included factors such as school attendance being based
on where the family lives; school non-compliance;
changing move dates; lack of specificity in legislation;
differences between the student’s needs and interests
on paper versus in reality; and, if a move is midyear,
classes already being filled.

Of the 65 participants who discussed the presence or
absence of barriers to families using AE, 65% discussed
the presence of barriers. These barriers included family
awareness, school awareness, the ability to enroll in
school but not register for classes, inconsistent imple-
mentation across school districts, and transportation if
an open enrollment school is too far away from where
the family lives. Additional barriers identified for stu-
dents with an IEP or 504 Plan include documentation
transfer not happening in advance or in a timely manner
and barriers based on a lack of community providers
or school staff.

Participants (i.e., 86) provided specific ideas about poten-
tial improvements to AE. These ideas included
accountability, policy specification, leveraging tech-
nology, capacity waivers for military-connected
students, and utilizing alternate means (e.g., FRG) to
communicate information.

Advance Enrollment | 23



Interstate Compact on Educational
Opportunity for Military Children

The Compact is an initiative’ that was developed to
reduce some of the challenges that students can
encounter when they transfer to a new school.
Specifically, the Compact is designed to address chal-
lenges that are related to enrollment, transferring
records, immunizations, program placement, deploy-
ment-related absences, extra-curricular activities, and
graduation. The Compact has been enacted through
state legislation in all 50 states and the District of
Columbia and is intended to largely match model lan-
guage provided by MIC3.16

Awareness

Of the 154 participants interviewed, 136 (88%) were
aware of the Compact, and 18 (12%) were not. For two
groups, over 25% of participants were not aware of the
Compact: parents (39%) and school administrators
(26%). Table 14 shows awareness rates for additional
participant types.

Seventy-six participants discussed family awareness
of the Compact. Of the participants who discussed family
awareness of the Compact, 38% believed that most
families know what the Compactis, 32% said that some
know but others do not, 22% said that many families
are not aware of the Compact, and 16% said that fam-
ilies may be aware of the Compact but they may not
know or understand all components of the Compact.
Of the EFMP-FS who discussed family awareness, 63%
felt that most families are aware of the Compact. This
is higher than the 41% of school liaisons, the 29% of
program managers, and the 20% of parents who
reported that most families are aware of the Compact
(see Table 15).

Most Families Aware

| Most have at least some knowledge. (School Liaison)

Have not had a lot of EFMP families saying they didn’t
know about the compact. (EFMP-FS)

Not aware of the term but aware that schools will take
credits from other schools. (Parent)

Some Families Aware

Some families know, especially if they have older
children; some parents don't know to ask (e.g.,
waiving state testing if already done). (Program
Manager)

There is a lot of white noise that comes through to
families. Families don't pay attention to it until the
information is needed. (Program Manager)

| If they talk to a school liaison. (Parent)

| do not think this is 100% common knowledge...Even
if you are in the know, you are not completely in the
know unless you need something. (Parent)

Respondents Who Were Aware of the Compact

Respondent Type Aware (#/%) Not Aware (#/%)
All respondents 136 88% 18 12%
Program manager 7 100% 0 0%
MIC3 representative 1l 100% 0 0%
School liaison 46 100% 0] 0%
School administrator 17 74% 6 26%
Teacher/counselor 18 95% 1 5%
EFMP-FS 8 100% 0 0%
Command 10 91% 1 9%
Parent 14 61% 9 39%
Local partner 5 83% 1 17%
Table 14

Number and Percent of Respondents Who Were Aware of the Compact

15 "In 2006, the U.S. Department of Defense (USDoD) Office of Personnel and Readiness, in cooperation with the Council of State Governments (CSG)
and National Center for Interstate Compacts, drafted the Compact to address some of the educational challenges transitioning children of military
families encountered. The Defense State Liaison Office (DSLO) and CSG convened an advisory group comprised of federal, state, and local officials,
national stakeholder organizations representing education groups; and military families to create the interstate agreement. In 2007, the advisory
group finalized the model statute language, which the USDoD promoted as one of their key priorities for military families, and through the DSLO
advocacy, was adopted by state legislatures within six years. Currently, the 50 states and the District of Columbia are members of the Compact, and
the Department of Defense is ex-officio, non-voting member of the Commission.” www.mic3.net/background

16 Through conversations with our DSLO partners, we learned that several states initially enacted language with varying degrees of alignment with the
MIC3 model language, and many states have subsequently made legislative changes with varying degrees of alignment with the model language.

Interstate Compact on Educational Opportunity for Military Children | 24



http://www.mic3.net/background

Respondents Within Each Respondent Group Who Discussed Family Awareness of the Compact

Some Families ‘

Discussed Family | Most Families Aware

Many Families Not ‘ Some Do Not Fully

Respondent Type Awareness (#) (#/%) Aware (#/%) Aware (#/%) Understand (#/%)
All respondents 76 29 38% 24 32% 17 22% 12 16%
Program manager 7 2 29% 5 71% 0 0% 1 14%
MIC3 representative 0 - - - - - - - _
School liaison 46 19 41% 14 30% 1 24% 10 22%
School administrator 0 - - - - - - - -
Teacher/counselor 0 - - = - = - - -
EFMP-FS 8 5 63% 1 13% 1 13% 0 0%
Command 0 - - - = = - - -
Parent 15 3 20% 4 27% 5 33% 1 7%
Local partner 0 - - - = = - - -

Note. Participants may have responses in more than one category; not all categories of responses are presented in the table.

Table 15

Number and Percent of Respondents Within Each Respondent Group Who Discussed Family Awareness of the Compact

Many Families Not Aware

Still a lot that don’t know it exists — the ones that don’t
know the Compact exists are the same families that
don’t know there is a school liaison. (School Liaison)

| No. There is a lack of awareness. (EFMP-FS)

A few. Parents who have kids with exceptional
learning needs. Others don’t find out about it until
they go to bat for their child. (Parent)

Some Families Do Not Fully Understand

Some families who know about the Compact think it
can do more than it really can do. (School Liaison)

Many think it does more than it really does. The
compact is there to get the same as other children,
not more than other children. (School Liaison)

The Compact is discussed...but as far as how it
benefits families, the information is lacking. (Parent)

Twenty-one program managers, school liaisons, and
EFMP-FS spontaneously mentioned that the DoD has
people and programs in place to share information about
the Compact with families.

The “Smooth Move” program helps families once they
have orders — 9-12 months before they PCS. (EFMP-FS)

The EFMP staff compile resources, host events,
present opportunities for EFMP families and provide
training on the Compact. (EFMP-FS)

| give all incoming and outgoing families a briefing on
MIC3. (School Liaison)

Fifty-one participants discussed school staff awareness
of the Compact. Of those 51 participants, 41% indicated

that most school staff are aware of the Compact, 49%
said that some school staff are aware, and 10% said
that most school staff are not aware of the Compact. A
higher percent of school staff reported both that most
school staff are aware and that most school staff are
not aware of the Compact than did other participant
types. The vast majority of school liaisons, program
managers, and MIC3 representatives fell in the middle
and said that some school staff are aware. The number
and percentage of participants with responses in each

category are available in Table 16.

Respondents Within Each Respondent Group Who
Discussed School Staff Awareness of the Compact

Discussed| Most Some Most
Jatt | it [sarfNo
(#/%) (#/%) (#/%)
All respondents 51 21 41% | 251 49% 5 10%
Program manager 1 0 0%/| 1 |100%| O | 0%
MIC3 representative 6 0 0%| 6 |[100%| O | 0%
School liaison 8 1 13%| 7 88% 0O 0%
School administrator 18 9 50% 5 28% 4 [22%
Teacher/counselor 18 M 61% 6 33% 1 | 6%
EFMP-FS 0 - - - - - -
Command 0 - - - - - -
Parent 0 - - - - - -
Local partner 0 - - - - - -

Note. Each category is mutually exclusive. Due to rounding, the sum of
the percentages may not equal 100%.

Table 16
Number and Percent of Respondents Within Each Respondent Group Who
Discussed School Staff Awareness of the Compact

Interstate Compact on Educational Opportunity for Military Children | 25



Most School Staff Aware

They should be aware because we are a Purple Star
School — at some point the staff was trained.
(Teacher/Counselor)

Yes — the majority of teachers are military or have
been military or their husbands have been in the
military. We will hire teachers moving to this area.
Many of our teachers understand the Compact
because they live it. (School Administrator)

Of the premise of it, maybe not the particulars.
(Teacher/Counselor)

Some School Staff Aware

As it became commonplace, when there are new
administrators, new counselors — training is not up to
what it was. (School Liaison)

Outlying areas [farther away from military installations]
might not be aware of the Compact. (MIC3
Representative)

Awareness is more likely at the high school. (School
Administrator)

Most School Staff Not Aware
Folks in elementary are not aware. (School
Administrator)

Probably not. If it comes up in a situation, yes
(immunization requirements, school start age), but the
Compact is not presented at staff meetings. (School
Administrator)

Implementation

Of the 154 participants, 112 discussed school use of the
Compact. Of those who discussed school use, 60%
said that the school uses the Compact, 28% said that
it depends, 6% said that schools are not using the
Compact, and 6% said that there are additional local

policies in place that are in the spirit of the Compact.
Responses by participant type are shown in Table 17.

When participants discussed school use, they often
spoke in general terms (e.g., Schools are very good at
following the Compact [School Liaison]), yet some par-
ticipants also gave specific examples of which provisions
of the Compact are used (e.g., comparable services for
students with an IEP or 504 Plan, course placement,
program placement, course waivers, credit transfers,
graduation requirements, extra-curriculars, kindergarten).

Respondents Within Each Respondent Group
Who Discussed School Personnel Use of the Compact

Schools
Do Not
Use (#/%)

Discussed
School
Use (#)

School
Use (#/%)

Depends

Respondent Type (#/%)

All respondents 12 67 60%  31|28% 7 | 6%
Program manager 7 2 129% | 4 57% 0 | 0%
MIC3 representative M 7 64% | 4 36% O 0%
School liaison 45 29 64% 14 31% | 2 | 4%
School administrator 17 10 59% 4 24%| 2 | 12%
Teacher/counselor 16 14/ 88% | 1 6% | O | 0%
EFMP-FS 0 - - - - - -

Command 1 1 /100% O 0% O | 0%
Parent 15 4 1 27% | 4 |27% 3 20%
Local partner 0 - - - - - -

Note. Presented categories are mutually exclusive; not all categories
are presented.

Table 17
Number and Percent of Respondents Within Each Respondent Group Who
Discussed School Personnel Use of the Compact

School Personnel Use

Local schools are very knowledgeable; the Compact
is used for on-time graduation, credit transfers.
(School Liaison)

Yes. Athletic directors seem to be most in tune to this.
(School Administrator)

Yes. Making sure placement is right. Students with an
IEP and students in honors classes can get placed
appropriately. There is an industrial coach to help with
placements (kids interested in tech). Extra-curricular,
we let them know in advance they can get involved
when they arrive. (Teacher/Counselor)

Everyone is trying to make sure military kids are
getting what they need — getting put in whatever
classes they require. (Parent)

When participants discussed inconsistent use of the
Compact, they discussed staff turnover at the schools,
distance of the school from the installation/number of
military students in the school, the school district’s per-
ceived benefit versus burden, school awareness
of the Compact, and inconsistencies based on
Compact provision.

Largely districts in [specific] region of the state, where

a higher concentration of military connected students

live. It is uneven in other districts. The state is working

on outreach, but districts without high numbers of

military students don’t feel like it’s relevant to them.
(MIC3 Representative)

Interstate Compact on Educational Opportunity for Military Children | 26



Schools with the highest military populations do;
outliers don't know. (School Liaison)

They were kind enough to give him [credits for]
electives based on [activities at previous school]. |
asked if [my son] could join the basketball team, and
they did not get back to me. There was a delay in
school entrance as the school insisted that my son’s
immunization records had to be transferred to
[receiving state’s] paperwork. (Parent)

When the district thinks it benefits them, but not if it is
seen as a burden. (School Liaison)

When participants discussed school personnel not using
the Compact, they mentioned instances in which their
child was denied protections guaranteed by the
Compact, lack of relevance for specific school levels,
and lack of school awareness.

The district is not aware of the compact — it is
ignorance, not willful disobedience. (School Liaison)

| Itis not relevant for elementary. (School Administrator)

Not based on my experience. My daughter wasn’t
allowed to start school in [the city near the new duty
station] because she was missing a shot although she
was up to date with shots in [sending state]. (Parent)
In addition, two principals indicated that they do not
use the Compact, but they implement the same poli-

cies as general practice.

Implementation for Students with
an IEP or 504 Plan

The Compact language related to students with an IEP
or 504 Plan includes two requirements: (1) that schools
allow unofficial or “hand-carried” records to be used
for initial placement, accommodations, and services
(i.e., they do not need to wait for official transcripts and
documentation), and (2) that schools comply with the
Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA), Section
504 of the Rehabilitation Act, and Title Il of the Americans
with Disabilities Act (ADA). Participants were not asked
what the law is; they were asked about their experience
with and understanding of the local implementation of
policies related to the Compact, and, by extension, IDEA,
Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act, and Title Il of
ADA. As such, the responses in this section may or may
not be in compliance with the law as they are individual
experiences and understanding. Moreover, these
responses may or may not be misperceptions of local

implementation. Sixty participants (i.e., school liaisons,
EFMP-FS, and MIC3 representatives) discussed whether
there were differences in Compact implementation
based on whether students have an IEP or 504 Plan as
opposed to those students who do not. The majority
(63%) of participants said that there were no differences.
Eight percent said that there are stronger protections
for students with an IEP or 504 Plan.

The Compact allows special education students to

get the attention they need, to get attention quickly.
(School Liaison)

However, 7% of individuals who discussed the issue
stated that the Compact did not include anything that
was not already included in federal law (e.g., the
Individuals with Disabilities Education Act).

The Compact sections that address special education

are no different than IDEA and state law. (School
Liaison)

Some participants were asked specific questions about
how the Compact, related to students with an IEP or
504 Plan, was implemented. School liaisons and
EFMP-FS were asked how long it took for comparable
services to be implemented. School liaisons, EFMP-FS,
and school personnel were asked under what circum-
stances a student would receive a new evaluation upon
moving to the area and how long it took for that eval-
uation to occur.

Fifty-three school liaisons and EFMP-FS provided
responses to the comparable services question. Of those
53 participants, 77% discussed a timeframe for compa-
rable services. There was wide variability in the timeframe
discussed by the respondents. Twenty-five percent of
participants who discussed a timeframe related to com-
parable services said that comparable services occurred
immediately. Six percent indicated that the services
were in place within a couple of days, 8% said the ser-
vices were available within 2 weeks, 6% said the services
were in place within a month, and another 6% indicated
that that services could take 60 days, 90 days, or longer
to be available. Twenty-one percent indicated that the
length of time depended on the services required.

The challenge is the providers. It could be months
because of the waitlist. (School Liaison)

Interstate Compact on Educational Opportunity for Military Children | 27



Depends on the service. It has been challenging for
districts to hire speech-language pathologists; some
students receive telehealth instead of in person.
(School Liaison)

Typically, about a week. If it's a medical concern, it
could take considerable time. There was a situation
where a child needed a nurse in the classroom, and it
took 6 months for them to start school. These cases
are few and far between. (School Liaison)

Finally, 8% of respondents who answered this question
indicated that, recently, there have been difficulties with
schools providing comparable services and point to
staffing issues, surges in the number of students
requiring services, and schools not following the law."”

The student is supposed to receive services within 30
days. It takes longer, and it is a systemic issue with
the school district short-staffed around special
education. (EFMP-FS)

It is supposed to be 30 days but it is much more.
There has been a large influx of EFMP students.
(School Liaison)

60 days is the limit. Generally, the schools wait until the
last day to start services. Schools may question the
diagnosis to delay services. Schools know children
will leave in 2 years and prolong service delivery
because the schools know the kids will be leaving.
(EFMP-FS)

A total of 91 participants discussed the reasons why a
student with an IEP or 504 Plan may receive a new
evaluation upon moving into the school district. Nearly
all (95%) school liaisons, EFMP-FS, and school personnel
discussed this topic. Of those who did discuss evalua-
tions, 21% indicated that either all students with an IEP
or 504 Plan moving into the district receive a new eval-
uation or all students with an IEP or 504 Plan moving
in from out of state receive a new evaluation.'®

All of the students with a 504 or IEP get a new
evaluation. (School Liaison)

If they are moving into the state, they have to be
re-evaluated. When the student first comes in, do a
meeting, go along with existing IEP, follow that until
the re-evaluation. Once there has been a re-evaluation,
they write the new IEP, and then they follow new IEP.

After that, it is three years for another re-evaluation.
(School Administrator)

One third of those who discussed this topic indicated

that if teachers or parents request an evaluation, or if

there is a new diagnosis, then an evaluation will occur.

Upon parent request or as needed. (Teacher/
Counselor)

Itis triggered if a parent feels that not all the needs

are being met or if the school is concerned about the

services needed. (School Administrator)
One third of these participants discussed that
re-evaluations occur on a cyclical basis, and they are
determined by the last evaluation date. Participants
talked about these re-evaluations occurring either
every year or every 3 years."?

It is good for 3 years. A new evaluation occurs every 3
years. (School Administrator)

| IEP is an annual re-evaluation; 504 is every 3 years.
(Teacher/Counselor)

Furthermore, 8% of participants who discussed new
evaluations indicated that new evaluations occur if inten-
sive services are specified, if the sending state has
different criteria or categories than the receiving state,
or if the school cannot accommodate the current IEP.
However, the meaning of the third category listed is
often unclear. That is, it is unclear if the evaluation is
conducted because the district is unable to meet the
need or because the state does not allow a particular
type of therapy that is listed in the IEP.20

Depends on what is in the IEP. If a child has 1-on-1
support or extended school then a new evaluation

will be done for sure because of staffing and cost of
such an intense service. (EFMP-FS)

Depends on how sending state qualifies students for
different categories. (School Administrator)

If the district cannot provide comparable services,
then they will establish a new IEP. When something is
written in an IEP that the district cannot do. (School
Liaison)

17 See 20 U.S. Code § 1414 (d)(2)(C) for IDEA requirements for provision of comparable services.

18 See 20 U.S. Code § 1414 (d)(2)(C) for IDEA evaluation and re-evaluation requirements for transferring students with an existing IEP and 34 C.F.R. Part
104 for evaluation and re-evaluation requirements under Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973.

19 See 20 U.S. Code § 1414 (a)(2) for IDEA requirements regarding the frequency of re-evaluations.
20 See 20 U.S. Code § 1414 (a)(2)(A) for IDEA requirements for criteria for re-evaluations.

Interstate Compact on Educational Opportunity for Military Children | 28



Seven percent of these participants indicated that they
implement comparable services and monitor progress.
Then they adjust or evaluate as necessary.
Schools take the old IEP at face value for the first 30
days. If the school district doesn’t think the IEP or 504
Plan is appropriate, then there is a new evaluation
after the 30-day period. (School Liaison)
Finally, seven percent of participants who discussed
this topic indicated that they have a transfer meeting,
and the path forward is discussed and can include poten-
tial changes to the IEP.
There is an intake meeting and we take a look
at the prior services — from school to school, it may
differ — do we have same services, how can we
accommodate them? We make changes to IEP as
necessary. (School Administrator)
When discussing implementation of the Compact related
to students with IEPs or 504 Plans, 11 school liaisons
spontaneously discussed a lack of access to services
in their area or an influx of students in need of services.
There has been a high surge of special education

family numbers — it impacts resources available in the
community and schools. (School Liaison)

Doctors are 35 miles away; getting seen by a medical
provider who takes Tricare is difficult. (School Liaison)

Of the 154 participants, 120 discussed the impact of the
Compact. Sixty-eight percent of respondents who dis-
cussed the impact indicated that the Compact does
have an impact. Eighteen percent indicated that the
Compact impacts specific groups or the impacts have
caveats; 5% said it is not needed because the schools
already enact the provisions of the Compact; 3% indi-
cated that the school has changed practices, and,
therefore, they may not see the impact; 61% discussed
specific impacts; and 12% indicated that they did not
know if the Compact has an impact or not. Parents were
the least likely to say that the Compact was impacting
students’ experiences and outcomes; only 31% of par-
ents who discussed impact indicated that, overall, there
was an impact (see Table 18).

Positive Impacts for Specific Groups

Probably yes but not necessarily at the elementary
level. (School Administrator)

Yes, especially at the middle school and high school
levels. (School Liaison)

Tryouts for teams to give military students equal
opportunity. (School Liaison)

It helps in some ways, but the effectiveness is up to
how the teachers and school districts handle it and
less of how the state does. (Parent)

Respondents Within Each Respondent Group Who Discussed the Impact of the Compact

Respondent Type %ﬁ#;:i? Yes (#/%) YeGsr, JS ; SS &e/%];ic Not(;l/e%e)ded gﬁ: r?gésél Sper)éisficcufni;gcts K?\gsvs (';/ol;i)
Impact (#) Practice (#/%) (#/%)

All respondents 120 81 | 68% 22 18% 6 5% 3 3% 73 61% 14 12%
Program manager 7 100% 0 0% 0 0% 0 0% 57% 0 0%
MIC3 representative 1 82% 18% 1 9% 1 9% 8 73% 0 0%
School liaison 44 30 | 68% 13 30% 3 7% 2 5% 30 68% 1 2%
School administrator 17 " 65% 3 18% 1 6% 0 0% 10 59% 2 12%
Teacher/counselor 17 12 71% 1 6% 1 6% 0 0% 10 63% 3 19%
EFMP-FS 1 1 1 100% 0] 0% 0 0% 0 0% 1 100% 0 0%
Command 10 7 70% 0] 0% 0 0% 0 0% 6 60% 3 30%
Parent 13 4 31% 3 23% 0 0% 0 0% 4 31% 5 38%
Local partner 0 - - - - - - - - - - - -

Note. Participants may have responses in more than one category.

Table 18

Number and Percent of Respondents Within Each Respondent Group Who Discussed the Impact of the Compact

Interstate Compact on Educational Opportunity for Military Children | 29



Not Needed

A lot of school personnel have served...or been part
of a military family, they would grant that grace
without the Compact. (School Liaison)

The Compact itself is not [having an impact], that is
how we do business with every student. (School
Administrator)

Changed Practice/Do Not Know if the Compact
is Used

Recently they asked me to track the number of
instances where the Compact is being used. The
problem is that once the school district changes
practice, it is no longer an issue. There is nothing to
track because the school district is honoring the
terms of the Compact. | would not know, for example,
that a child is placed in a gifted program upon arrival.
(School Liaison)

Of the 73 respondents who discussed specific impacts,
many discussed multiple impacts. Twenty-two percent
said that the Compact made the transition smoother or
seamless, 34% discussed credit transfers and course
placement, 33% discussed graduation, 26% mentioned
extra-curricular activities, 8% said that the Compact
reduced stress for families, and 7% discussed kinder-
garten age requirements. Less than 5% of respondents
discussed each of the following impacts: improves
academic and social-emotional outcomes; gives mili-
tary-connected students the same opportunities as their
peers; adds accountability; and helps with gifted place-
ment, immunization requirements, state exams, and
records transfer.

Differences in Impact for Students with
an IEP or 504 Plan

Ninety-eight participants answered the question
regarding whether there are differences in the impact
of the Compact for students with IEPs or 504 Plans. Of
those 98, 66% said that there is no difference, 18% said
that there were differences, and 16% said that they did
not know if there were any differences. For the partic-
ipants who said that there were differences, 11
respondents said that the Compact is especially
impactful for students with IEPs or 504 Plans.

Yes. There is a sense of immediacy for special

education students, though general education is
equally as important. (Teacher/Counselor)

It allows us to be more mindful of kids with 504s and
IEPs. (Teacher/Counselor)

It keeps districts accountable about what they must
provide. (School Liaison)

Interactions with Department of Defense
Education Activity (DODEA) Schools
Related to the Compact

The 63 school liaisons, program managers, MIC3 rep-
resentatives, and parents who discussed their experience
with DODEA schools had a wide range of experiences.
Of the 63 participants who discussed DODEA, 37% said
that there is no difference between dealing with DODEA
and dealing with another public school.

| Itisthe same as other schools. (School Liaison)

DODEA schools will adhere to Compact rules and
regulations the same as public schools. (MIC3
Representative)

Ten percent of respondents discussed specific impacts.
Some impacts were similar to non-DODEA schools, and
some were unique.

It impacts the sharing of the records for proper
placement. (School Liaison)

Before, schools were not sure how to acknowledge
when a student left the country; schools said they
dropped out. Now, there is more consistency on
records when a student moves back and forth. It has
worked seamlessly since the Compact. (MIC3
Representative)

Another 10% of respondents discussed difficulties
related to DODEA schools, and, again, some difficulties
were similar to non-DODEA schools, and some
were unique.

Coming here a family will sometimes run into a school

that says they will provide records...but it can take a
couple months. (School Liaison)

Some DODEA schools think the Compact does not
apply to them. (School Liaison)

Interstate Compact on Educational Opportunity for Military Children | 30



Barriers

One hundred eight participants discussed barriers
related to the Compact. As shown in Table 19, of these
108 participants, 31% indicated that there were no bar-
riers related to the Compact. The remaining 69%
discussed one or more barriers. Participants discussed
barriers such as awareness, understanding, noncom-
pliance, kindergarten, gifted programming, differences
between the states, MIC3 State Commissioner turnover,
and other challenges. The number and percentage of
participants with responses in each category are shown

specific barriers mentioned parent awareness.
Furthermore, of the parents who discussed specific bar-
riers (n=6), 67% discussed lack of knowledge
among parents.

| Lack of family awareness. (School Liaison)

There is not a lot of knowledge among parents about
what the Compact is. (Parent)

Respondents Within Each Respondent Group Who
Discussed the Presence or Absence of Barriers
Related to the Compact

Discussed | Reported No
Barriers (#) | Barriers (#/%)

Reported

Respondent Type Barriers (#/%)

in Table 20. All respondents 108 34 | 31% | 74 | 69%
Of those who discussed one or more barriers, 20% dis- Program manager 2 0 0% 2 | 100%
cussed lack of school awareness of the Compact. MIC3 representative N 1 9% 10 | 91%
Several participants specifically mentioned schools with School liaison 43 9 21% | 34 | 79%
a small population of military families. School administrator 17 10 | 59% 7 | 41%
Some schools are not familiar with the Compact. Teacher/counselor 16 M | 69% | 5 | 3%
(School Liaison) EFMP-FS 6 0% 6 | 100%
When there is not a large military population...schools Command 1 0% 1 100%
can struggle; a lack of military housing leads to families Parent 12 3 25% 9 75%
moving farther away; when there are issues, it is P o
because the school is unaware. (MIC3 Representative) ocal partner . . § g

A similar number of participants discussed parent
awareness of the Compact; 23% of those who discussed

Table 19
Number and Percent of Respondents Who Discussed the Presence or
Absence of Barriers Related to the Compact

Respondents Within Each Respondent Group Who Reported Barriers Related to the Compact by Barrier Category

Differences

Respondent Type ng'%ret?: Av?gre%(zss Avsaarree:;ss Misuzgreig':ands Corrr:lpg’l?a-nce Kind(;l}g/f;rten %g};? B;gv::;a/n Bg::]i::s
(#) (#/%) (#/%) (#/%) (#/%) Schools (#/%)
(#/%)
All respondents 74 15 |20%| 17 23%| 21 28% 1M | 15% | 4 5% | 3 |4% 6 8% | 21 | 28%
Program manager 2 1 |50% O | 0% 1 50% (0] 0% 0] 0% | 0 0% 1 |50% O | 0%
MIC3 representative 10 6 60%| 1 |10% 2 20% 0 0% 0] 0% | 0 0% 1 10% | 5 50%
School liaison 34 7 21%| 6 |18% 17 50% 4 | 12% 1 3% | 1 3% O 0% | 6  18%
School administrator 7 1 114% | 2 |29% 0% 1 14% 2 29% | 0 (0%, 3 [43% 2 29%
Teacher/counselor 5 0O 0% O | 0% 0% 1 20% | O 0% | 1 20% O 0% | 3 60%
EFMP-FS 6 0O | 0% | 2 |33% 1 17% 0] 0% 1 17% | 0 0% 1 17% | 2 |33%
Command 1 0O | 0% | O | 0% 0% (0] 0% 0] 0% | 0 0% O 0% | 1 100%
Parent 9 O | 0% | 6 |67% 0 0% 5 56% O 0% | 1 M% O 0% | 2 122%
Local partner 0 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

Note. Participants may have reported more than one barrier.

Table 20
Number and Percent of Respondents Within Each Respondent Group Who Reported Barriers Related to the Compact by Barrier Category

Interstate Compact on Educational Opportunity for Military Children | 31



Of all participants who discussed one or more barriers,
28% discussed parents’ misunderstanding of the
Compact. Furthermore, of all of the school liaisons who
discussed specific barriers, 50% discussed this barrier.

They are aware of the Compact, but not its purpose.
Families think it’s a free for all. Families think
everything is covered by the Compact. Think it’s
something that it’s not. (School Liaison)

Families try to use the Compact on issues not covered
by the Compact. (School Liaison)

Special education parents may think that the IEP from
the previous school needs to be fulfilled exactly
versus comparable services. (School Liaison)

Fifteen percent of participants who discussed specific
barriers mentioned that schools were not always com-
pliant with the Compact.

Schools will dismiss the Compact criteria when
families bring up. (School Liaison)

The district doesn’t necessarily advocate for the
Compact...schools don’t volunteer the Compact
information unless they are pressed. Schools honor
the Compact, but they are not necessarily
forthcoming with the information — they need to be
asked about the Compact. (Parent)

A few participants (5%) mentioned challenges with the
variability in kindergarten cutoff dates across states.
Indeed, an examination, conducted by the project team,
of kindergarten regulations across the 50 states and
DC indicated there was wide variability in several issues:
kindergarten cutoff dates (i.e., from a state-wide require-
ment of turning 5 years old by July 1st to turning 5 years
old by January 1st, or the date being determined by the
school district), whether kindergarten attendance was
mandatory, and whether the state requires kindergarten
to be offered by the school district.

We often see issues with the kindergarten start age.
In [this state], kids have to turn 5 by [an earlier date].
Families leaving another state to come to [this state]
with a kindergartener, they move during the summer,
and then are shocked that their child does not qualify
for kindergarten and have to do preschool again,
which can be pricey. The Compact only applies to
those who enroll and attend — even if they attend for
only 1 day. (School Liaison)

A similar number of participants (i.e., 4% of those who
discussed specific barriers) talked about challenges
with state differences in gifted qualifications or pro-
gramming across states.

Sometimes, advanced placement classes can look
different from state to state, and this can make it
difficult to determine placement. (Teacher/Counselor)

The state requires an IEP for gifted programs.
Students have to go through testing before they can
participate. And only a small percent of kids qualify
for gifted programming. (School Liaison)

Some participants (i.e., 8% of those who discussed spe-
cific barriers) discussed differences, between states or
schools, that were challenging. Several of these com-
ments were related to special education services.

Funding differences between schools leads to

differences in services, which leads to parental
concerns about how their child is being served.
(Program manager)

The implementation of the IEP can be different based
on services available in the area. They may have more
services there than they did in the place that they
come from. (School Administrator)

Twenty-eight percent of participants who discussed
specific barriers discussed other barriers such as classes
being at maximum capacity, requirements for physicals
that delay the start of school, school staffing challenges,
the Compact language not being in lay terms, data
sharing efficiency, and difficulty accommodating stu-
dents who qualify for both an IEP and gifted programming.

Improvement

Of the 154 participants, 132 discussed whether improve-
ments could be made to the Compact. Of these 132,
20% indicated that they did not have any ideas on how
to improve the Compact, and 11% said that the Compact
is working well and does not need to be improved. The
remaining 91 participants discussed one or more ideas
for improving the Compact (see Table 21).

From my perspective and experience, there is nothing

that needs to be improved. It does a good job of

covering general education considerations — core
areas of things kids run into as they are moving

Of the 91 participants who discussed ideas for improving
the Compact, 35% discussed family awareness (see
Table 22). Furthermore, over two-thirds of the parents
(69%) and members of command (67%) who suggested
improvements indicated that more needs to be done
to educate parents about the Compact.

Interstate Compact on Educational Opportunity for Military Children | 32



Give the knowledge to the families directly. All Fifteen percent of participants who discussed specific
knowledge | have picked up is from other spouses improvements suggested that more consistency across
with nothing given directly from the military. Let us _

states would be beneficial.

know what our rights are when moving from state to
state. (Parent) Should improve training and ensure the Compact is

applied consistently across states. (MIC3

More awareness and education of military families on Representative)

the Compact. (Command)

. . . o Have one national age cutoff for starting
Families are in the dark. Family education is not there. kindergarten. (School Administrator)

(Teacher/Counselor)

o | have heard a few dozen complaints from [Service
Moreover, of those who suggested specific improve- members] about problems with schools. Usually, it is
ments, 21% suggested additional training for the schools. about how one area has kids learning at one level and
the new area is learning at much higher or lower
levels...Level the standards. Have a federal minimum
that all states need to meet. (Command)

If a school has any military-connected kids, make sure
they know about the Compact, no matter how far from
[the installation] the school is located. (Parent)

| There is high turnover; training is needed. (School Liaison) Of the respondents who discussed improvements, 7%
More communication about the Compact to suggeét'ele expanding the cov§red groups and including
counselors, teachers, and staff. Everyone having a DoD civilian employees, National Guard and Reserve

reason to do what they are already doing would be families, and charter and private schools.
helpful. (School Administrator)

Respondents Within Each Respondent Group Who Discussed Potential Improvements to the Compact

Respondent Type : Discussed Indicated No Ideas;for Indicated No NeedoFor Indicated Specific Ar;eas of

mprovement (#) Improvement (#/%) Improvement (#/%) Improvement (#/%)
All respondents 132 26 20% 15 1% 91 69%
Program manager 6 1 17% 1 17% 4 67%
MIC3 representative 10 0 0% 1 10% 9 90%
School liaison 43 1 2% 7 16% 35 81%
School administrator 19 10 53% 1 5% 8 42%
Teacher/counselor 16 7 44% 1 6% 8 50%
EFMP-FS 8 3 38% 1 13% 4 50%
Command 10 1 10% 3 30% 6 60%
Parent 15 2 13% 0 0% 13 87%
Local partner 5 1 20% 0 0% 4 80%
Table 21

Number and Percent of Respondents Who Discussed Ideas for Improvement, No Ideas for Improvement, or No Need for Improvement of the Compact

Respondents Within Each Respondent Group Who Discussed Specific Ideas for Improvements to the Compact

Discus.s'ed Family School MI_C3 Consistency Extend Other

Respondent Type ; Specific Awar%ness Training (#/%) Commlsosmner Acrossftates Covered0 (#/%)
mprovements (#) (#/%) (#/%) (#/%) Groups (#/%)

All respondents 91 32 35% 19 21% 5 5% 14 15% 6 7% |39 43%
Program manager 4 1 25% 2 50% 0 0% 1 25% 0 0% 1 | 25%
MIC3 representative 9 2 22% 3 33% 1 1% 2 22% 1 1% 5  56%
School liaison 35 10 29% 4 1% 4 1% 5 14% 5 14% |19 | 54%
School administrator 8 1 13% 2 25% 0 0% 2 25% 0 0% 4 | 50%
Teacher/counselor 8 2 25% 3 38% 0 0% 2 25% 0 0% 2 | 25%
EFMP-FS 4 2 50% 1 25% 0 0% 1 25% 0 0% 0| 0%
Command 6 4 67% 0 0% 0 0% 1 17% 0 0% 2 | 33%
Parent 13 9 69% 4 31% 0 0% 0 0% 0 0% 3 | 23%
Local partner 4 1 25% 0 0% 0 0% 0 0% 0 0% 3 | 75%

Note. Participants may have discussed more than one idea for improvement.

Table 22
Number and Percent of Respondents Within Each Respondent Group Who Discussed Specific Ideas for Improvement to the Compact

Interstate Compact on Educational Opportunity for Military Children | 33



In addition, 5% of respondents made suggestions related
to the MIC3 State Commissioner such as reducing turn-
over, ensuring the role is filled, making it a paid position
instead of “additional duty,” and increasing communi-
cation opportunities among state commissioners.

Participants (43% of those who discussed improvements)
also discussed other improvement ideas. Of these
responses, eight topics were discussed by multiple
people related to improvements or by multiple people
during the whole discussion of the Compact. Participants
discussed school accountability (i.e., enforcing the
policy), adding pre-kindergarten, funding (either at the
MIC3, state, or school level), adding a grace period for
physicals, accepting gifted designations from other
states, getting information from the sending school
sooner, and the DoD providing tools for communica-
tion between the sending state and receiving state.
Participants also provided specific suggestions related
to courses and programs: save spots for military fami-
lies, count classes for graduation even if they were
taken in middle school, add language to address chal-
lenges related to moving from a block schedule to a
regular schedule or vice versa, and address challenges
related to letter grades versus number grades.

In addition to responding to the specific questions that
were asked, participants discussed three other topics
that should be noted. Four participants discussed chal-
lenges related to foreign language requirements.
Participants noted that requirements related to, and the
availability of, foreign languages vary by state and by
school. Participants suggested that having a dis-
tance-learning option for foreign language requirements
would be beneficial. Four school liaisons noted that
when they talk with schools about the Compact, schools
are receptive to the discussion and want to do the right
thing. Three participants also mentioned that they have
concerns about changing the Compact. The concerns
stated were related to alienating states that did not
want to include a particular provision or program and
potentially losing states if changes are made to
the Compact.

Participant awareness of the Compact was relatively
high. Eighty-eight percent of all participants said they
were aware of it. However, two key participant groups
reported less awareness than the other groups: 26%
of school administrators and 39% of parents were not
aware of the Compact. When asked if, in general, fam-
ilies are aware of the Compact, only 38% of those who
responded indicated that most families are aware.
Similarly, only 41% of respondents who discussed school
staff awareness indicated that most staff were aware
of the Compact as opposed to some staff being aware
(49%) or most school staff being unaware (10%).

Of those who discussed school use of the Compact,
60% indicated that schools are making use of the
Compact. Responses varied by participant type. The
vast majority of teachers/counselors indicated that
school personnel use the Compact. A smaller majority
of MIC3 representatives, school liaisons, and school
administrators said that school personnel use the
Compact. The program manager and parent participant
groups had the lowest percent of respondents indi-
cating that school personnel use the Compact. Most of
the remaining responses fell into the “depends” cate-
gory, and a few parents, school administrators, and
school liaisons indicated that school personnel do not
use the Compact.

Participant responses about the implementation of the
Compact related to students with an IEP or 504 Plan
were varied. Responses regarding the timeframe for
comparable services ranged from immediately to 90
days or longer. Twenty-one percent said that the time-
frame depended on the services that were required.
Staffing challenges, increases in need, and non-com-
pliance were cited as reasons for longer timeframes.
Participants discussed several reasons for students
receiving a new evaluation when they moved into the
area: all students with an IEP or 504 Plan who move
into the district, all students with an IEP or 504 Plan
who move from out of state, if a parent or teacher
requests one, if there is a new diagnosis, if intensive
services are specified, if the sending state and receiving

Interstate Compact on Educational Opportunity for Military Children | 34



state have different criteria, and if the school cannot
accommodate the current IEP (e.g., if the state does
not allow a particular type of therapy in schools).
Furthermore, a third of participants who discussed eval-
uations indicated that evaluations are cyclical and based
on the data of the last evaluation. When discussing this
topic, several school liaisons spontaneously discussed
the difficulty of accessing services, either in the schools
(e.g., staffing challenges) or in the community (e.g., dis-
tance to providers, finding providers who take Tricare).

Participants indicated that the Compact does impact
students’ experiences and outcomes; that it has an
impact but only for specific groups; that it is not needed
because schools already provide protections to mili-
tary-connected students; and that schools have changed
their practices due to the Compact, and, therefore, it is
not possible to determine specifically when it is used.
Specific impacts mentioned were related to credit trans-
fers, course placement, graduation, extra-curricular

activities, kindergarten, the reduction of stress for fam-
ilies, and making the transition smoother.

Of 108 participants who discussed the presence or
absence of barriers related to the Compact, 69%
reported that there were barriers. These barriers
included school awareness, parent awareness, parent
misunderstanding of the Compact, school non-compli-
ance, differences between states or schools, differences
in kindergarten cutoff dates across states, and
differences across states in gifted qualifications
or programming.

Ninety-one participants provided specific ideas about
potential improvements to the Compact. These ideas
included improving family awareness, providing addi-
tional school training, having more consistency across
states, expanding the covered groups, increasing con-
sistency and communication related to the state
commissioners, increasing school accountability, adding
a grace period for physicals, and accepting gifted des-
ignations from other states.

Interstate Compact on Educational Opportunity for Military Children | 35



Military Student Identifier

The MSIl is a federally required data point that requires
schools to ask about students’ military affiliation, sim-
ilar to how race, ethnicity, gender, and economic
disadvantage data are required to be collected. ESSA?!
requires that achievement data be disaggregated by
“status as a student with a parent who is a member of
the Armed Forces (as defined in section 101(a)(4) of title
10, United States Code) on active duty (as defined in
section 101(d)(5) of such title)” (p. 129 STAT.1848).
Although ESSA does not require the data to be used
beyond the disaggregation of achievement data, states
use the data for other purposes, including reporting
disaggregated enrollment numbers22 and in other ways
that are discussed in this section.

Awareness

All participants were asked if they were familiar with
the MSI. Almost all respondents indicated that they were
(i.e.145 of 154 participants). However, when asked about
the purpose of the MSI, the responses suggested that
1) participants had different understandings of the pur-
pose of the MSI, and 2) there may have been some
confusion between the MSI and Impact Aid. Perhaps,
in some cases, when schools collect data, they collect
it for both the MSI and Impact Aid at the same time.
Indeed, two school liaisons indicated that this is the
case. However, several respondents indicated that the
data are collected separately.

Schools maintain two lists, one for MSI and one for
Impact Aid. (School Liaison)

Why are we asking families upon registration to
self-identify as military and then sending federal
Impact Aid surveys — it is redundant. (School Liaison)

They collect Impact Aid every year, but MSl is only
collected at enrollment. (School Liaison)

Table 23 provides the number of participants, overall
and in each participant type, who discussed the pur-

pose of the MSI. Percentages may exceed 100% across
responses for each participant type because respon-
dents frequently discussed more than one purpose.

Purpose — Enroliment

To identify where military-connected students are
going to school. (MIC3 Representative)

To be able to track where military students are going
to school. (School Liaison)

Purpose — Performance

So schools can track military students as a subpopulation
to track academic success. (School Liaison)

To disaggregate on state assessments to see how
kids are progressing. (Program manager)

Purpose — Funding

These numbers are utilized in formulas for funding,
grants, and a lot of other things. (School Liaison)

| Impact Aid, DODEA grant funding. (School Liaison)

Purpose - Identifying Military-Connected Students
in Schools

To know which students have families that are in the
military and which branch they are in. (School
Administrator)

Helps to identify, at an individual student level, who is
a military kid. (School Administrator)

Purpose — Service Provision at the State/School Level

So that school administrators know who the military
students are so they can receive necessary attention,
support, services, etc. (MIC3 Representative)

To ensure military-connected students are provided
the support they need. (School Liaison)

Purpose — Service Provision at the Military Level

The military uses it to assess the level of need.
(Program Manager)

| School liaisons can target efforts. (School Liaisons)

21 https://www.congress.gov/bill/114th-congress/senate-bill/1177 /text

22 https://militaryfamilies.psu.edu/wp-content/uploads/clearinghouse_report_speakmc_initiatives_20240220rev.pdf

Military Student Identifier | 36



https://www.congress.gov/bill/114th-congress/senate-bill/1177/text
https://militaryfamilies.psu.edu/wp-content/uploads/clearinghouse_report_speakmc_initiatives_20240220rev.pdf

Respondents Within Each Respondent Group Who Discussed Specific Purposes of the MSI

Respondent Type Dl;icr:sc;s;eed Enr(;l/ltr)}:)ent Per&c;r&e;nce Fl(j;ﬂ;r)‘g I?ﬁrgggohggs Proviss(iacm:c Setate/ Pf:\:;gi%en: D?(ism';lv()t Pe:ggge
(#) N (#/%) School (#/%) | Military (#/%) | (#/%) (#/%)
All respondents 108 26 24% | 14 | 13% 31 29% 57 | 53% 36 33% 4 4% 1 11% 7 | 6%
Program manager 7 3 | 43% 2 29% | 1 | 14% 3 43% 2 29% 1 14% | 0 | 0% | O 0%
MIC3 representative 9 2 1 22% | 2 1 22% 0 | O% 5 56% 7 78% 1 1% O 0% 0| 0%
School liaison 44 18 | 41% 8 18% 1 25% 21 | 48% 17 39% 1 2% 0O 0% 5| 1%
School administrator 10 0| 0% 0 0% | 3 |30%, 5 50% 2 20% 0 0% 1 110% 1 10%
Teacher/counselor 10 1 1 10% 0 0% | 2 |20%, 9 90% 4 40% 0 0% O 0% 0 | 0%
EFMP-FS 7 1 | 14% 0 0% | 4 57% 3 43% 0 0% 0 0% 0O 0% 1 14%
Command 10 0| 0% 1 10% 7 |70% 6 60% 1 10% 1 0% @ 0 | 0% | O | 0%
Parent 9 1 1% 1 "% | 2 22%| 4 44% 1 1% 0 0% O 0% 0| 0%
Local partner 2 0| 0% 0 0% @ 1 |50% 1 50% 2 100% 0 0% O 0% 0 | 0%

Note. Participants may have responses in more than one category.

Table 23

Number and Percent of Respondents Within Each Respondent Group Who Discussed Specific Purposes of the MSI

Implementation

School administrators and teachers/counselors were
asked about what data are collected related to the MSI
and how frequently the data are collected. Twenty-two
school administrators and 19 teachers/counselors
responded to these questions, and 5 participants from
other participant type groups spontaneously discussed
either the type or frequency of data collection.

Participants indicated that MSI data are collected either
at enrollment (i.e., 33% of those who discussed fre-
quency of data collection), yearly (i.e., 65% of those
who discussed frequency), or every semester (i.e., 3%
of those who discussed frequency). For the individuals
who said that the data are collected yearly, five indi-
cated that families either must enroll or update their
files every year and that is when MSI data collection
occurs. Eight participants discussed Impact Aid cards
when discussing the yearly MSI data collection.

Participants discussed several different combinations
of response options that are provided to parents when
responding to the MSI request. Some participants indi-
cated that the data collection form only asks if the
student is military affiliated or if they are part of a mili-
tary family. Some participants said that the question
was only related to whether the parent was active duty.
Others indicated that the question asked about active
duty, National Guard, and Reserves. Others said the
question also asked about families with a retired Service

member. Some participants indicated that response
options also included civilian DoD employees.
Furthermore, some schools appear to collect informa-
tion related to Service branch, unit name, rank, military
occupational specialty, or whether the family lives on
the military installation. This last item, however, sug-
gests that either data are collected once for both Impact
Aid and the MSI, or the participant was thinking about
Impact Aid when answering questions about the MSI.

School administrators, teachers/counselors, and par-
ents were asked about how the MSI data are used.
Table 24 displays how many participants discussed each
category of MSI use.

School personnel discussed several ways in which the
MSI data are used. Personnel indicated that the data
influenced funding, data were needed to obtain certain
programming, data were used by the Military and Family
Life Counselor (MFLC) to identify military-connected
students, data were used to market programs and
events to military families, and data were used in
performance monitoring.

It was used to justify partnering with the DoD on a
STEM [Science, Technology, Engineering, and
Mathematics] grant. Data was used to ensure the
appropriate representation of military-connected
students were involved. (School Administrator)

It is collected for DoDEA funding support. (School
Administrator)

Schools use it to identify students for MFLC services,
celebrations, Purple Up, Month of the Military Child.
(School Administrator)

Military Student Identifier | 37



Respondents Within Each Respondent Group Who Discussed How MSI Data Are Used

Data Not Used by

Discussed | School District, or

Respondent Type Data Use | State Uses Data

School District or

Teachers Do
Not Use Data

Teachers

Use Data Parents Do Not

Use Data (#/%)

Parents Use
Data (#/%)

(#) (#/%)

State (#/%)

(#/%) (#/%)

All respondents 58 21 37% 2 4% 8 14% 9 16% 4 7% 16 28%
Program manager 0 - - - = o o - - - - - -
MIC3 representative 0 - - - - - - - - - - - R
School liaison 0 - - = o 5 - - - - - _ -
School administrator 21 17 81% 2 10% 0 0% 1 5% 0 0% 0 0%
Teacher/counselor 17 3 18% 0 0% 8 47% 8 47% 0 0% 0 0%
EFMP-FS 0 - - - - - - - - - - - -
Command 0 - = = = o - - - - - - -
Parent 20 1 5% 0 0% 0 0% 0 0% 4 20% 16 80%
Local partner 0 - - - = = - - - - - - -

Note. Participants may have responses in more than one category; not all categories of responses are presented.

Table 24

Number and Percent of Respondents Within Each Respondent Group Who Discussed How MSI Data Are Used

Teachers/counselors discussed the way in which they
use the MSI data. These responses centered around
having a fuller understanding of students’ circumstances
in order to better serve students’ needs.

Teachers will make recommendations if they know a
parent will be [deployed]. This data can help teachers
to stay aware/be more sensitive of times that are
tough (e.g., holidays) — this data affects the way
teachers approach the child and the services they
need. (Teacher/Counselor)

When they pull up student information in their system,
there is [an indicator] if a student is a military kid. Staff
can then keep that in the back of their mind. That
insight is very helpful for younger students who may
not be able to communicate as well. It reminds staff to
gather more information — e.g., parent may be
deployed. (Teacher/Counselor)

Our data will have a flag if they are military — we will
ask: does that student have a connection with the
MFLC? Have they recently moved? Do they have any
noted behavioral issues? Change in family life? Has
one of their caregivers recently left? Are they
preparing for a move? Did they move before? Were
there gaps? (Teacher/Counselor)

In contrast, approximately half of the teacher/counselor
participants who discussed how the data are used indi-
cated that teachers do not use the MSI data.
It is completed online, so teachers don’t see the
responses. Teachers do not get the data. (Teacher/
Counselor)
Of the 20 parents who discussed whether they used
MSI data to make decisions about their children’s edu-

cation, 20% indicated that they do use the data, and
80% indicated that they do not use the data.

Yes. | look for military-friendly schools, schools with a
higher percent of military kids, Purple Star, programs
for deployed families. (Parent)

I look for schools with a high percent of military kids.
This increases the odds that the faculty and peer
group will be more aware of the military child
experience, and will mean an MFLC will be

present in the school. (Parent)

Most schools are not reporting or showing the data.
(Parent)

No. I'm not sure how | would be able to use that to make
decisions. | never knew this data was available. (Parent)

Ninety participants discussed whether military families
were self-identifying as such. Most school personnel
(91% of school administrators and 89% of teachers/coun-
selors) who discussed family self-identification reported
that most families identify as military families. Conversely,
46% of school liaisons who discussed this topic reported
that most families do not identify as military connected,
and 20% of school liaisons indicated that a certain per-
cent (i.e., 10-50%) of families do not identify as military
affiliated. In addition, a MIC3 representative also indi-
cated that families are reluctant to self-identify as military
families on the MSI.

Of the 81respondents who answered the question about
differences in data use for students who have an IEP
or 504 Plan, 90% indicated there was either no differ-
ence in data use or they did not know whether there
was a difference.

Military Student Identifier | 38



Respondents Within Each Respondent Group Who Discussed the Impact of the MSI

Respondent Type ms;:fts@? No Impact (#/%) | Yes Impact (#/%) Irlnn:)rl):::e?:taapt?:r?(s#(;;:) Unsur?#tlac;);mpact lsgtullris;;t?#?/?’/f)
All respondents 121 32 26% 59 49% 5 4% 28 23% 6 5%
Program manager 7 2 29% 1 14% 2 29% 2 29% 0 0%
MIC3 representative 0 - - - - - - - - - -
School liaison 46 19 41% 19 41% 0 0% 8 17% 4 9%
School administrator 21 4 19% 13 62% 0 0% 5 24% 0 0%
Teacher/counselor 18 4 22% 12 67% 1 6% 3 17% 0 0%
EFMP-FS 2 0 0% 0 0% 0 0% 2 100% 0 0%
Command 9 2 22% 6 67% 1 1% 1 1% 0 0%
Parent 18 1 6% 8 44% 1 6% 7 39% 2 1%
Local partner 0 - - - - - - - - - -

Note. Participants may have responses in more than one category.

Table 25

Number and Percent of Respondents Within Each Respondent Group Who Discussed the Impact of the MSI

One hundred twenty-one participants commented on
the impact of the MSI. As can be seen in Table 25,
almost half (i.e., 49%) of the participants who discussed
the presence or absence of impact believed that the
MSI does have an impact. Approximately a quarter of
participants who discussed impact did not believe that
it had an impact (i.e., 26%) or were unsure if it has an
impact (23%). A smaller proportion (i.e., 5%) indicated
that the MSI could be impactful, but, as it is currently
implemented, MSI is not impactful. Furthermore, five
participants discussed that the impact was dependent
on how the MSI is implemented in particular schools.

No, MSI Not Impactful

No, just because we don’t really use it within the
school. (School Administrator)

It is not impactful on achievement or outcomes.
(Teacher/Counselor)

No, there is poor implementation at the state level.
[The state education department] is not tracking the
data or holding school districts accountable to track.
(School Liaison)

Yes, MSl is Impactful

Of the 59 participants who indicated that the MSI has
an impact, 47% of participants indicated that the MSI
impacted the supports, resources, and programming that
they were able to offer. Eight participants specifically
mentioned MFLCs, and three mentioned Anchored4Life.

The more military kids you have in a school, the more
MFLCs you get. (Parent)

A higher military student population allows for a
full-time MFLC, Anchored4Life. (School Administrator)

Dollars for students in the military — money devoted to
after-school sports and tutoring. (School Administrator)

Twenty-eight percent of participants who thought MSI
had an impact mentioned that MSI impacts funding.
Participants either spoke generally, indicated additional
state funding, referred to Impact Aid, or discussed grants.
| It can lead to more state funding. (School Liaison)
| This leads to additional money for schools based on
the percent of military students. (Parent)
Fifteen percent of participants with affirmative impact
responses discussed how the MSl impacts interactions
with individual students.
| We can check to make sure the kid is taking advantage
of available supports. (School Administrator)

It helps people to serve the students better — additional
understanding of possible needs. (Teacher/Counselor)

| Increased sensitivity. (Command)

Furthermore, 3% of participants who indicated that the
MSI had an impact mentioned that the MSI helps with
accountability, and 2% of participants (i.e., 1 parent) dis-
cussed how it helped them identify a school with a high
military population for their child.

Moreover, 2% of participants who indicated that the
MSI had an impact (i.e., 1 school liaison), discussed that,
prior to the implementation of the MSI, individuals in
the local community were under the impression that

Military Student Identifier | 39



the military students were having a negative effect on
schools’ test scores. The MSI showed that the mili-
tary-connected students were actually scoring higher
than the school average.

Finally, one parent discussed the MSI having a nega-
tive effect on their children.

My children have been ostracized by their peers and

made to feel like they are ‘weirdos’ for having a

parent in the military. My children wanted to feel

normal and like any of the other kids. (Parent)
Of the 53 school liaisons, EFMP-FS, and parents who
discussed differences in the impact of the MSI for stu-
dents with an IEP or 504 plan, 58% indicated that there
was no difference, and 28% did not know if there were

families, or to using MSI data. Twenty-nine percent of
participants who discussed barriers indicated that they
were not aware of any barriers; 4% did not know if there
were barriers; 66% reported at least one barrier (see
Table 26). Responses that indicated that there were
barriers fell into four categories: problems with response
options, inconsistent implementation and use across
states, parents choosing not to identify, and other (see
Table 27 for details).

Respondents Within Each Respondent Group Who
Discussed the Presence or Absence of Barriers to the MSI

Does Not
Know
(#/%)

Discussed \[o)
Barriers | Barriers
(#) (#/%)

Reported
Barriers

Respondent Type
(#/%)

differences. Thirteen percent of these participants dis- All respondents 119 35/29% 5 4% |79 | 66%

cussed differences in impact. Four participants discussed Program manager 5 0 0% 0O 0% 5 100%

that additional funding or support could be obtained. MIC3 representative 5 0 0% 0 0% 5 100%

One school liaison indicated that some parents feel School liaison 44 4 9% 1 2% 39 89%

that there may be a negative impact related to the MSI. School administratorl 22 10 45% 1 | 5% 11 | 50%

There is a feeling that kids will not receive services in Teacher counsaen 19 1'58% 0 o% | 8 | 42%

a timely manner. Schools will “wait families out” and EEMP-FS 5 olo%lolow!s l100%

not provide services. (School Liaison) - ° ° °

Command 1 0 0% 0 0% 1 100%

. P t 18 10 |56%| 3 | 17% 5 | 28%

Barriers aren

Local partner 0 - - - - - -

Out of the 154 participants, 119 participants discussed
the presence or absence of barriers to the implemen-
tation of the MSI, to families identifying as military

Note. Due to rounding, the sum of the percentages may not equal 100%.

Table 26
Number and Percent of Respondents Within Each Respondent Group Who
Discussed the Presence or Absence of Barriers to the MSI/

Respondents Within Each Respondent Group Who Discussed Specific Barriers to the MSI

Discussed Specific | Problems with Response

Inconsistent Across | Parents Choose Not

Respondent Type Barriers (#) Options (#/%) States (#/%) to Identify (#/%) | Other (#/%)
All respondents 79 17 22% 5 6% 47 59% 36 46%
Program manager 5 2 40% 3 60% 1 20% g 60%
MIC3 representative 5 3 60% 0 0% 2 40% 40%
School liaison 39 " 28% 2 5% 30 77% 15 38%
School administrator " 1 9% 0] 0% 5 45% 55%
Teacher/counselor 8 0 0% 0 0% 2 25% 75%
EFMP-FS 0 0% 0] 0% 4 80% 1 20%
Command 1 0 0% 0] 0% 0 0% 1 100%
Parent 0 0% 0] 0% 3 60% 2 40%
Local partner 0 - - - - - - - -

Note. Participants may have discussed more than one barrier.

Table 27
Number and Percent of Respondents Within Each Respondent Group Who Discussed Specific Barriers to the MSI/

Military Student Identifier | 40



The problems with response options included a lack
of consistency across schools, a lack of understanding
of who is considered a military family, and problems
with data collection systems.

The greatest barrier is understanding the definition of
what is a military family — not that grandpa was in
WW2 — not about an uncle who is military. (School
Liaison)

Some military families will identify themselves as
active duty military in the student information
database that are not covered under MSI, such as a
family that has a member who is retired. (School
Liaison)

The response options are too confusing. Families can
only select one response option, but multiple apply.
(School Liaison)

Participants also discussed the limitations of the data
related to the fact that there are inconsistencies across
states in how the data are collected and used.
Everyone defines military connected differently; it
makes the data meaningless. (Program Manager)
Participants (i.e., program managers, school liaisons,
MIC3 commissioners, school personnel, EFMP-FS, and
parents) who discussed families who do not self-iden-
tify as military families to schools (i.e., 47 participants,
59% of those who discussed the presence of barriers)
identified multiple reasons for the lack of disclosure.
The reasons provided by these respondents included
safety/security, wanting to blend in, not seeing it as
important, privacy, fear of a negative impact on their
child, being wary of the government, and apparent mis-
understandings of how the data are used.
Concerns with operational security make families

nervous about identifying as a military family. (School
Liaison)

Service members are trained to not disclose military
affiliation. (Program Manager)

Some families are hesitant to identify as a military
family. Want to just be “normal.” (School Liaison)

If parents don’t see value, they may not identify as a
military family. (School Administrator)

They are concerned about privacy and resist sharing
info with the school district. (School Liaison)

Some families see as a disincentive that it could label
kids who won't be there long and close doors for

leadership or key positions in school or athletics.
(School Liaison)

| Families think they will have to pay more in taxes if
they identify as military families. (School Liaison)

Two additional barriers were discussed frequently. First,
10 participants (i.e., 13% of those who discussed the
presence of MSI barriers) mentioned that the data col-
lection process was a barrier.

It is not included in the online enroliment process.
(School Liaison)

Families are inundated with forms at that time of year
and may not complete forms. Schools use hard copy
versus electronic forms. Electronic forms might be
better received. (School Liaison)

Second, 11 participants (i.e., 14% of those who discussed
the presence of MSI barriers) indicated that the data
are not accurate.

Though, there is considerable difference between

Impact Aid numbers and Military Student Identifier
numbers. (School Liaison)

| The data is not always accurate. (School Liaison)

Most participants who discussed the presence or
absence of additional MSI barriers for families with a
child receiving special education services or with a dis-
ability (i.e., 76% of the 50 participants who discussed)
indicated that there were no differences in barriers.
However, three participants discussed additional rea-
sons why parents may be reluctant to identify as military
families to schools. Two participants indicated that par-
ents may not identify as military families because they
are concerned they will be required to participate
in EFMP.

Parents are afraid if they identify as military to the

school, they will be required to participate in EFMP.

EFMP is thought of as a career ender, so it is not

always used or wanted. (EFMP FS)
One participant indicated that parents worry that iden-
tifying as a military family will affect the services their
child receives.

Parents think schools may not provide services

because “I'm leaving at the end of the year,” or their

child may not get what they need because “we won'’t
be here long.” (School Liaison)

Military Student Identifier | 41



Improvements

One hundred thirty-three participants discussed whether Discussed| N No Ideas, | Specific

Working Ideas
Respondent Type Improve- | Ideas Well Discussed

ments (#) (#/%) (#/%) (#/%)

Respondents Within Each Respondent Group
Who Discussed Improvements Related to the MSI

they had ideas for improvements to the MSI. Of those

who discussed improvement, 33% did not have any

ideas for improvement, 5% said that they had no ideas All respondents 133 44|33%| 7 | 5% | 82| 62%
. . % % %
for improvements because the MSI was working well, AT (TR U O O] o Gk 7 i
MIC3 representative 2 0/0%| 0 0% | 2 [100%

and 62% discussed specific ideas for improvement.
Table 28 displays the data by participant type. School liaison 45 3 7%

—_

2% 41 9%

Many ideas for improvement of the MSI were discussed. School administrator 22 12]55%| 2 | 9% | 8 | 36%
Table 29 displays the number of participants who sug- | 1eacher/counselor LR reeg OF G0 | D (2250
gested ideas in each category. Ideas suggested by more | EFMP-FS 8 2|25%| 0 | 0% | 6 | 75%
than one respondent or that were related to discus- Command 9 3/33% 1 1% 5 56%
sions in previous sections are outlined below with Parent 18 10 56% 3 | 17% 5 | 28%
examples. Responses that indicated that it should be Local partner 4 1/25% 0 | 0% | 3 | 75%
mandatory for schools to collect MSI were included in Note. Each category is mutually exclusive. Due to rounding, the sum of

ope . . %
the accountability category as data collection is man- the percentages may not equal 100%.

datory as part of ESSA.23 Table 28
Number and Percent of Respondents Within Each Respondent Group Who

Discussed Improvements Related to the MSI

Advertising/DoD Support
o . o ) Number and Percent of Respondents Who
Explaining to families what it is used for; that there is Discussed Specific Improvement Ideas
confidentiality; commanders [should] publicize it and

provide their support. (School Liaison) V\‘fhej%‘?gg:s”st:d

Improvement

Improvement Idea

More transparency about what they use it for. Military Idea (#/%)
families would be more comfortable about providing

. o . Advertising/DoD support 25 30%
the information if they knew why they were providing 5 p= =
it. (School Liaison) ata use o

Response options 10 12%

The importance of [the MSI] data is not highlighted; Data collection 10 12%
the impact is not clear. (School Liaison) Consistency across states 9 1%
Accountability/mandatory for schools 9 1%

Data Use Timing or frequency of data collection 8 10%

1 O,

Availability of data...finding data is hard. | go to the D5 ETETITE] CUETEES £E TS 2 155
school liaison on base because the data is not readily Incentives 5 6%
available. (Parent) Expand covered groups 2 2%

) ) o Reduce number of requests for information 1 1%
Making the data available and easy to find it.

. L . Other 8 10%
Disaggregating it. (School Liaison)
Total respondents who discussed specific ideas 82
Add an icon in the gradebook to denote military-
connected students...It would increase awareness of Note. Participants may have discussed more than one improvement idea.
military connection and help support those students. Table 29
(Teacher/Counselor) Number and Percent of Respondents Who Discussed Specific Inprovement
Ideas

23 https://www.congress.gov/bill/114th-congress/senate-bill/1177/text

Military Student Identifier | 42


https://www.congress.gov/bill/114th-congress/senate-bill/1177/text

Response Options

The state needs to specify what data to collect, what
the military connection is. (School Liaison)

Differentiate among retirees, DoD civilians, active
duty, Guard/Reserve. (School Administrator)

It would be great to have a question at enroliment that
asks details about their military connection. For
example, are they active duty, retired, have a
deployed parent, etc. (Teacher/Counselor)

Data Collection

| Make it electronic, not paper. (School Liaison)

Helping families understand how to complete it would
be useful. (EFMP FS)

Consistency Across States

A universal system so all states do it the same way.
(School Liaison)

Accountability/Mandatory for Schools

| wish that the Department of Education would check
what states are actually reporting on — active duty,
Reserve, National Guard. Audit the states. (MIC3
Representative)

Make it mandatory, some schools do it, and some do
not. (School Liaison)

Timing or Frequency of Data Collection

Collecting data at the time of enrollment is the key to
success. (School Liaison)

A concern is that this information is only requested by
the families when they first enroll — what if they stay
for years, separate from [the Service], and are still
listed as a military student? | would love for it to be
updated each year. (Command)

Data Sharing Across Systems

Having those two entities talk to each other. It’s a lot
of gathering of similar data. Similar federal programs
providing data on military. The more you put on
people’s plates the less accurate things become.
Some school districts wanted to know if they could
use MSI data for Impact Aid, and Impact Aid said “no.”
It’s a lot of work for the school district. School districts
are struggling with filling positions across the board.
(School Liaison)

Incentives

There is no money associated with it, so there is low
compliance. (Program Manager)

Expand Covered Groups

It should ask about everyone affiliated with the
installation, then subcategorize by active duty, civil
service, etc. Everyone that is affiliated with the
installation qualifies for resources. They may not
qualify for everything. We have a ton of contractors,
and some of those students qualify for tutoring or
scholarships. (School Liaison)

Reduce Number of Requests for Information

Some parents get overwhelmed and tired of filing out
surveys and providing data. (Command)

Nearly all participants responded that they were familiar

with the MSI. However, when asked about the purpose
of the MSI, responses suggested that there may have
been some confusion between the MSI and Impact Aid.
Although some participants indicated that data collec-
tions may simultaneously address both MSI and Impact
Aid, other participants indicated that they are separate
data collections.

The purpose of MSI was discussed by 108 participants.
Stated purposes included tracking enrollment of mili-
tary-connected students, tracking performance of
military-connected students, increasing funding, iden-
tifying the military-connected students in schools,
providing services at the school or state level, and
offering services at the military level.

Regarding implementation of the MSI, respondents indi-
cated that data are collected at enrollment, yearly, or
every semester. Responses from participants indicated
that military affiliation data are not collected in a con-
sistent manner and that there are multiple ways that
schools or school districts ask about military affiliation.

School administrators, teachers/counselors, and par-
ents indicated that data are used in a variety of ways.
School personnel indicated that MSI data are used to
influence funding (e.g., DODEA STEM grant), to increase
programming availability (e.g., MFLC), to identify mili-
tary-connected students for potential MFLC services,
to market events to military families, to monitor perfor-
mance, and to better understand students’ circumstances
in order to better service students’ needs. Twenty per-

Military Student Identifier | 43



cent of parents who discussed MSI data use indicated
that they use the data (e.g., to look for schools with a
high percentage of military-connected students), and
80% indicated that they do not use the data. Some par-
ents indicated that schools do not report the data, or
they did not know the data were available.

Ninety participants discussed whether they believe most
military families identify as such. Ninety percent of school
personnel believe that military families self-identify as
military families, whereas 65% of school liaisons
believe that most families do not identify as military
connected or that a certain percent do not identify as
military connected.

Of the 121 participants who discussed whether the MSI
has an impact on student outcomes, less than half (49%)
reported that it did. Those who said that it does have
an effect, indicated impacts such as increasing sup-
ports, resources, and programming they are able to
offer (e.g., MFLC, Anchored4Life); increasing funding;
and impacting interactions with individual students (e.g.,
increased sensitivity, understanding possible needs).
Although infrequent, two participants indicated a neg-
ative effect of the MSI by expressing concerns about

their children being stigmatized due to their parent’s
military affiliation and discussing a concern that stu-
dents will not receive services in a timely manner due
to schools “waiting families out.”

Of the 119 who discussed the presence or absence of
barriers related to the MSI, 66% reported that there are
barriers. These barriers included a lack of consistency
across schools and states, a lack of understanding of
who is considered a military family, problems with data
collection systems, and families not self-identifying as
military families. Several different reasons for not wanting
to self-identify were discussed and include concerns
about operational security, not wanting to be “different,”
not understanding why it matters, privacy concerns,
fear of a negative perception of the military, being wary
of the government, misunderstandings about the pur-
pose, and fear of being required to participate in EFMP.

Eighty-two participants discussed specific ideas for
improvement to the MSI. These ideas were related to
advertising and DoD support, data use, response
options, data collection processes, consistency across
states, accountability, timing or frequency of data col-
lection, data sharing across systems, and incentives.

Military Student Identifier | 44



Purple Star Schools Program

PSSP is a state-sponsored recognition program for Most Families Aware

schools that have taken specific steps to be military MCEC has become the key spokespeople for PSSP —

they do all PSSP for educator trainings — they market
that component of it (School Liaison)

friendly.24 Each state establishes its own program name
and criteria, so variations exist across states.25 However,
common components of the programs include having

It is advertised on district websites...they talk about it
in the newcomers workshops. Also, the
superintendent did a video about it, too. (Parent)

Respondents Within Each Respondent Group
Who Were Aware of PSSP

a designated school staff member for military families,

a dedicated webpage for military programs, a peer-to-
peer transition program, and professional development.

waren

el All respondents 120 92% M 8%
Of the 131 participants who lived in a state with PSSP, Program manager 6 86% 1 14%
120 (92%) were aware of PSSP, and 11 (8%) were not. MIC3 representative 9 100% 0 0%
Awareness equaled or exceeded 80% for all subgroups. School liaison 37 100% 0 0%
Details are available in Table 30. School administrator 7 94% ! 6%
. . . . Teacher/counselor 15 88% 2 12%

Sixty-seven participants discussed family awareness
) o EFMP-FS 6 86% 1 14%

of PSSP. As can be seen in Table 31, of the participants
. ) ) Command 9 90% 1 10%
who discussed family awareness of PSSP, 34% believed . .
families k hat PSSP is; 45% said that parent v o : o

that most families know wha is; sai a
? Local partner 4 80% 1 20%

some families know what PSSP is, but others do not;

Note. Participants that did not live in states with PSSP did not receive

12% said that many families are not aware of PSSP; and questions about PSSP,

7% said that families are not aware because PSSP is Table 30

Number and Percent of Respondents Who Were Aware of PSSP

too new.

Respondents Within Each Respondent Group Who Discussed Family Awareness of PSSP

Discussed Family | Most Families Aware

Some Families Aware| Many Families Not | Families Not Aware;

HEEETIERL Aware (#/%) PSSP too New (#/%)
All respondents 67 23 34% 30 45% 8 12% 5 7%
Program manager 6 1 17% 5 83% 0 0% 0 0%
MIC3 representative 0 - - - - - - - -
School liaison 36 " 31% 19 53% 2 6% 4 1%
School administrator 2 2 100% 0 0% 0 0% 0 0%
Teacher/counselor 0 - - - - - - - -
EFMP-FS 6 3 50% 1 17% 1 17% 0 0%
Command 0 - - - - - - - -
Parent 17 6 35% 5 29% 5 29% 1 6%
Local partner 0 - - - - - - - -

Note. One school liaison has a response in more than one category as their territory covers more than one state. Not all categories are shown.

Table 31
Number and Percent of Respondents Within Each Respondent Group Who Discussed Family Awareness of PSSP

24 https://statepolicy.militaryonesource.mil/priorities/purple-star-school-program/2021

25 https://militaryfamilies.psu.edu/wp-content/uploads/clearinghouse_report_speakmc_initiatives_20240220rev.pdf

Purple Star Schools Program | 45


https://statepolicy.militaryonesource.mil/priorities/purple-star-school-program/2021
https://militaryfamilies.psu.edu/wp-content/uploads/clearinghouse_report_speakmc_initiatives_20240220rev.pdf

Some Families Aware

It depends on what district they go to school in. At
districts that have been awarded, families are much
more aware, because the schools promote the fact
that they are Purple Star Schools. (School Liaison)

Yes, if they have been somewhere that has it before
and know to look for it. (School Liaison)

| believe parents are aware of the program but I'm not
sure of if they know the exact intention. (Parent)

Most Families Not Aware

No. If they are familiar with PSSP, it doesn’t mean they
know what it entails. (Parent)

Zero families ask about PSSP when transitioning in.
(School Liaison)

Twenty-eight participants discussed school staff aware-
ness of the PSSP. Of those 28 participants, 89% indicated
that most school staff are aware of the PSSP, while 11%
said that most school staff are not aware of the PSSP
(see Table 32).

Most School Staff Aware

Yes. They have professional development each year.
Each staff member is required to attend. They
understand how many military families they serve. Not
the specific number but that a chunk of students are
military connected. They are aware of why and the
purpose. (School Administrator)

Yes, the whole staff are aware given the frequent
celebrations, Veterans Week, and Active Duty Parent
of the Week. They also publish the number of military-
connected students in the school. Much emphasis is
placed on honoring and recognizing military-connected
students and their families. (School Administrator)

Respondents Within Each Respondent Group
Who Discussed School Staff Awareness of PSSP

Responcent e | s St Nos St Noraure
All respondents 28 26 | 89% 3 1%
Program manager 0 = - - -
MIC3 representative 0 - - - -
School liaison 0 = - - -
School administrator 13 12 192% | 1 8%
Teacher/counselor 15 13 87% | 2 | 13%
EFMP-FS 0 - - - -
Command 0 = - - -
Parent 0 - - - -
Local partner 0 = > - -

Table 32

Number and Percent of Respondents Within Each Respondent Group Who
Discussed School Staff Awareness of PSSP

Respondents Within Each Respondent Group
Who Indicate School(s) Is a Purple Star School

. School(s) | School(s) is
Respondent Type B':;;?;gﬁ;sgg Is a PSéF)’ \[o] -] P(S)SP
(#/%) (#/%)
All respondents 88 75 | 85% | 15 | 17%
Program manager 0 = = = =
MIC3 representative 2 2 100% O 0%
School liaison 37 32 86% | 6 16%
School administrator 16 14 | 88% | 2 13%
Teacher/counselor 15 n | 73% | 4 | 27%
EFMP-FS 1 1 1100% | O 0%
Command 0 - - - -
Parent 17 15  88% | 3 18%
Local partner 0 - - - -

Note. Participants may have responses in more than one category
because parents may have children in more than one school, and
school liaisons may cover more than one state.

Table 33

Number and Percent of Respondents Within Each Respondent Group Who
Indicate School(s) Is a Purple Star School

Implementation

Of the 130 participants in states with PSSP, 88 discussed
school use of the PSSP. Of those who discussed school
use, 85% said that their school (e.g., if a school admin-
istrator, parent) or a school in their area (e.g., if a school
liaison) is a Purple Star School, and 17% said the school(s)
is not a Purple Star School. Table 33 shows responses
by participant type.

When participants discussed the designation, they often
spoke in general terms (e.g., This area has the most
Purple Star Schools in the state [School Liaison]), but
participants also gave specific examples of which pro-
visions of PSSP are used (e.g., peer-to-peer program,
Month of the Military Child events, school staff train-
ings, writing notes of appreciation to troops).

School Use

We have comprehensive supports. Citizenship

work in October, playing the branch song for each
Service branch and the kids sing the lyrics. Notes of
appreciation to troops. We wear different colors every
day, and the colors of our favorite military branch. We
do creative writing and musical composition to share
with our military folks while setting up a big breakfast.
We have donations, a library section, [program name]
that gives new students tours of the school, we read
books to younger kids, like A Paper Hug. (School
Administrator)

Purple Star Schools Program | 46



A banner exists in some schools. Every school does a
Veterans Day program because we are in a veteran-
heavy area — this is the only thing the school does.
No changes were made to what they do for the
military community, but they got that Purple Star
designation. (Parent)

Celebration, MFLC. Training — we give the staff
training every year on how we can be military friendly.
The district has this organized. The process itself is so
easy because the district has an MFLC for the schools
to lean on. We are spoiled. (School Administrator)

Twenty-eight participants (i.e., school liaisons and
EFMP-FS) responded to a question about whether there
were differences in PSSP implementation based on
whether students have an IEP or 504 Plan as opposed
to those students who do not. The majority (96%) of
participants who discussed this issue said there were
no differences.

No differences. Whatever students need, the district

provides (School Liaison)
School administrators and school liaisons were asked
about PSSP renewal. Of the 38 participants who dis-
cussed renewal, 74% said that renewal is required to
maintain the PSSP designation, 21% indicated renewal

is not required, and 11% were not sure.

Respondents Within Each Respondent Group
Who Discussed the Impact of PSSP Components

Discussed | Discussed Cg:zcisrf:ris
Respondent Specific |Components that%o Not
Type Components| that Work Work Well

(#) Well (#/%) #1%)

All o o o
respondents 54 35 65% 13 24% 15 28%
Program 0 ) ) ) ) |
manager
MIC3
representative
School liaison 26 16 | 62% 6 23% 8 31%
School 8 7 | 88%| 2 | 25% 0 0%
administrator
Iﬁﬂcn:‘;é ) 9 8 89% 3 | 33% 0| 0%
EFMP-FS 0 - - - - - -
Command 1 1 [100% O 0% | 0|0%
Parent 10 3 30% 2 20% | 7 70%
Local partner 0 - - - - - -

Note. Participants may have responses in more than one category.

Table 34
Number and Percent of Respondents Within Each Respondent Group Who
Discussed the Impact of PSSP Components

Specific Program Components

Fifty-four respondents commented on specific program
components of PSSP. As displayed in Table 34, 65%
discussed one or more components that worked well,
24% discussed one or more components that didn’t
work well, and 28% indicated a lack of clarity about
whether there were specific components that
worked well.

Program components that participants reported work
well include the military point-of-contact, the peer-to-
peer transition program, and the professional
development for school staff.

Recognition of families. Connections are important.
For example, “l didn’t know that Mr. Smith was in the
Army!” or “I didn’t know the art teacher was a military
child!” (School Administrator)

Yes, as a father of 3, | have seen benefits for my kids
and others. When transferring to a new school, it is
helpful to have friendly faces and people welcoming
you. It also gives leadership opportunities for military
students by giving them an opportunity for peer
mentorship. It helps the kids to be more welcome and
to grow. (Command)

Teachers really do care about military kids.

If they sense a change with a military kid they will
communicate with the families — communication with
families is phenomenal — they have a good bond with
families. When my girls got there, the 1st day, my
daughter was a nervous wreck. The nurse called me
at home, asked me if she could talk with my daughter
to calm her down as the nurse didn’t want to send my
daughter home as she was not sick and she wanted
to help her through her nerves. It was my daughter’s
new school, 1st time on a bus. It was great that the
nurse had that knowledge. My oldest daughter is in
5th grade — this is her 5th school in as many years —
they are doing a phenomenal job. (Parent)

Components that participants reported do not work
well include the application process, the lack of stan-
dardization of professional development, and a lack of
existing students for the peer-to-peer program.

Professional development on military students is an
annual requirement. This can be difficult to get this
every year. Who teaches it? The course is not
standardized by the state or defined who can teach
the course. The school liaison teaches and records it
for local districts. (School Liaison)

Purple Star Schools Program | 47



The hardest thing is that Student2Student is
dependent on how active current students are.
Adults pushing is not as effective as other children
pushing. We are a large school with four lunches, if
there are two lunches with current students involved
in the program and two lunches with no current
students involved in the program [if a new student
happens to be in one of the two lunches without a
current student-to-student member, the new student
may not have someone to be paired up with]. Some of
the pieces that are hard have to do with how the
school day has to run. (School Administrator)

The plaque doesn’t really mean that implementation
is really happening. (Teacher/Counselor)

Some participants were unsure whether components
work well.

Originally, my team felt it should be a portfolio submission.
The state didn’t want to spend the time, so it is a check
sheet. We wanted it to be a rigorous, meaningful
distinction — whether it is a meaningful distinction is
something | can’t answer yet. (School Liaison)

Impact on School Selection

Of the 65 respondents who discussed PSSP impacts
on school selection, 48% said it does impact school
selection, 34% said it does not impact school selection,
and 25% were unclear on whether PSSP impacted
school selection. Table 35 presents the data related to

the impact of PSSP on school selection.

Respondents Within Each Respondent Group Who
Discussed the Impact of PSSP on School Selection

Discussed Unsure
Respondent Type | IMEzcter i

Selection (#)
All respondents 65 31/ 48% 22/34% 16 | 25%
Program manager 6 3/50% 117% | 3 | 50%
MIC3 representative 0 - - - - - -
School liaison 85 14 40% 15/43% 8  23%
School administrator 1 1/100%| 0| 0% | O | 0%
Teacher/counselor 1 1.100% 0 | 0% | O @ 0%
EFMP-FS 6 5/83% | 1[17%| 0 0%
Command 1 0 0% 0| 0% 1 100%
Parent 15 7 47% 5 33% 4 | 27%
Local partner 0 - - - - - -

Note. Due to conflicting statements and school liaisons whose territory
covers more than one state, participants may have responses in more
than one category.

Table 35
Number and Percent of Respondents Within Each Respondent Group Who
Discussed the Impact of PSSP on School Selection

No Impact

Not yet. Families tend to look at schools on base as
that is more important than PSSP. (School Liaison)

We have a neighborhood school system based on
where families live. Decisions may be based on
housing..., proximity to spouse employer. Parents
want to see...school/student performance...but it's
probably not a driving force. (School Liaison)

No. It bears no weight. If you look at everything that
makes someone decide what school to send kids to.
There was nothing extra about being a Purple Star
School that made me think that they need to go to the
school. There is still systemic issues when dealing
with people in the military. Why be a Purple Star
School, supposedly pro-military, if you are still going
to make things difficult for military families. (Parent)

Impact

I think it does, but it is more about the implementation
of the award. | wouldn’t recommend one school over
another because they had a Purple Star. (School
Liaison)

| would think so. It is much easier to surround yourself
with families that know what you are going through as
military families. If there are zero military-affiliated
families, it can be difficult getting services or around
deployment. Teachers may not be aware of how to
handle situations like that. (EFMP-FS)

Yes. Especially experienced Service members who
see them as more inviting and supportive. (School
Liaison)

Impact on Outcomes

Of the 83 participants who discussed PSSP impacting
outcomes, only 16% said it did not impact outcomes.
Details can be found in Table 36.

Comments about specific impacts revolved around
improving school culture and climate, benefitting
social-emotional outcomes, and increasing the under-
standing the military lifestyle.

If implemented with fidelity, then yes. If not, just a seal
of approval. (Program Manager)

It is something where if a family runs into an issue,
academic or transition, the family will lean back on
Purple Star Schools and say “l thought you would
help with this given Purple Star.” It is affecting
outcomes in these outlier situations where a school
isn’t already providing support. (School Liaison)

Purple Star Schools Program | 48



Respondents Within Each Respondent Group Who Discussed the Impact of PSSP on Outcomes

Discussed Impact

Impact — with Unsure About

Respondent Type on Outcomes (#) No Impact (#/%) Impact (#/%) Caveats (#/%) Impact (#/%)

All respondents 83 13 16% 52 63% 6 7% 12 14%
Program manager 5 1 20% 1 20% 2 40% 1 20%
MIC3 representative 3 0 0% 3 100% 0 0% 0 0%
School liaison 29 7 24% 16 55% 3 10% 3 10%
School administrator 14 0 0% 12 86% 0 0% 2 14%
Teacher/counselor 12 0 0% i 92% 0 0% 1 8%
EFMP-FS 0 - - - - - - - -

Command 7 1 14% 3 43% 0 0% g 43%
Parent 13 4 31% 6 46% 1 8% 2 15%
Local partner 0 - - - - - - - -

Note. Each category is mutually exclusive. Due to rounding, the sum of the percentages may not equal 100%.

Table 36

Number and Percent of Respondents Within Each Respondent Group Who Discussed the Impact of PSSP on Outcomes

| think it affects culture. When the culture is positive,
as with any recognition, it bolsters morale, self-
confidence, the desire to do the very best when it
comes to school. Military students know they are an
appreciated, valued member of the student body,
whether in school or profession, this motivates the
best. (School Administrator)

More military children are going to that school since
more parents choose to send their children there.
Creates more community for both the students and
the families. (Parent)

If you took it away, we would have more social-
emotional concerns. And the school is already at its
limits regarding social-emotional concerns. It provides
a preventative impact (Teacher/Counselor)

Differences in Impact for Students with
an IEP or 504 Plan

Of the 37 participants who mentioned something about
the comparative impact between students with an IEP
or 504 Plan and students in the general education pop-
ulation, 68% perceived no difference in the impact, 5%
suggested that PSSP represents an added benefit for
students with an IEP or 504 Plan, and 27% indicated a
lack of clarity regarding whether there were differences
(see Table 37).

Differences

Children [receiving special education services] get a
mentor. (School Liaison)

Special education students benefit more than general
education kids from the buddy programs that help
socialization and acceptance at the new school
(EFMP-FS)

Respondents Within Each Respondent Group Who
Discussed the Impact of PSSP on Outcomes with
Regard to Students with IEPS or 504 Plans

Discussed No . Unsure About

$esepondent IEP/504 | Differences D|ff(;r/%/n)ces Differences
yP (#) (#/%) . (#/%)

All 37 |25|/68% |2 5% | 10 |27%
respondents
Program 0 _ ) ) ) ) )
manager
MIC3 0 ) ) ) ) ) )
representative
School liaison 28 21 | 75% | 1 4% 6 21%
School 0 ) ) ) ) . )
administrator
Teacher/ 0 ) ) ) ) . )
counselor
EFMP-FS 5 2 1 40% 1 | 20% 2 40%
Command 0 - - - - - -
Parent 4 2 | 50% | 0 0% 2 50%
Local partner 0 - - - - - -

Note. Each category is mutually exclusive.

Table 37

Number and Percent of Respondents Within Each Respondent Group Who
Discussed the Impact of PSSP on Outcomes with Regard to Students With
IEPs or 504 Plans

Purple Star Schools Program | 49



Barriers

Barriers to Implementation

Of the 77 participants who discussed the presence or
absence of barriers to school implementation of PSSP,
52% indicated that there were no barriers, while 48%
mentioned at least one barrier. Table 38 shows the
number and percentage of respondents with responses
in each category.

Seventeen percent of participants who discussed
barriers mentioned instances of PSSP being a
"check-the-box" program.

Certain schools are very proud and try hard to meet
the goals. Some think, “What is the bare minimum we
can do to get that designation.” It can just be a nice
“star” on the window. Not sure what the meat of the
program is. Not sure what evidence there is for an
impact. (Command)

Some states are giving it out like candy. (Program
Manager)

The school says it’s a Purple Star School, but there
are no events or other supports...Just says itis a
Purple Star School. (Local Partner)

Other barriers to implementation covered an array of
concerns, including a lack funding associated with the
award, concern from the school’s perspective that it
requires more time from an already overworked staff,
challenges with implementing the peer-to-peer program,
and a lack of consistency in implementation.

The lack of consistency across states. Some states
are not funding it. Parents are misled into believing
that schools are military friendly, when it is just a
check-the-box. (Program Manager)

I’m not sure how meaningful PSSP would be. They
would need to implement continued compliance,
complaint procedures, maintain certification. (MIC3
Representative)

The transition peer-to-peer program is harder in
schools with a low military kid population. (School
Liaison)

There is no budget for an awards ceremony or
banner. (School Liaison)

Time — support from staff who are already busy.
(School Administrator)

The designation can be misleading to families. If used
for early enrollment decisions, it could be misleading
because the Purple Star School criteria does not
meaningfully impact students. It does not address
academics or other factors that directly contribute to
education. (Command)

Respondents Within Each Respondent Group Who
Discussed the Barriers to School Implementation of PSSP

Other
Barriers
(#/%)

Discussed [\[o)
Barriers | Barriers
(#) (#/%)

Respondent Type

All respondents 77 40/52% 13 | 17% | 31 | 40%
Program manager 4 0 0% 3 |75%| 3 | 75%
MIC3 representative 1 0 0% 0 0% 1 [100%
School liaison 30 16 |53% 4 13% | 13 | 43%
School administrator 13 8 62% 1| 8% | 4 | 31%

Teacher/counselor 13 9 69% 0| 0% | 4 | 31%

EFMP-FS 3 1.33% 1 33% 1 | 33%
Command 2 0 0% 2 100% 2 100%
Parent 10 6 60% 1 10% | 3 |30%
Local partner 1 0 0% 1 100% O @ 0%

Note. Participants may have responses in more than one category.

Table 38

Number and Percent of Respondents Within Each Respondent Group Who
Discussed the Barriers to School Implementation of PSSP

Respondents Within Each Respondent Group
Who Discussed the Barriers to Students Using PSSP

Discussed | No Barriers

Respondent Type Barriers (#) (#/%) Barriers (#/%)
All respondents 39 28 | 72% i 28%
Program manager 0 - - - -
MIC3 representative 0 - - - -
School liaison 30 22 | 73% 8 27%
School administrator 1 1 1100% O 0%
Teacher/counselor 0 - - - -
EFMP-FS 1 0 0% 1 100%
Command 0 - - - -
Parent 7 5 71% 2 29%
Local partner 0 - - - -

Note. Each category is mutually exclusive.

Table 39

Number and Percent of Respondents Within Each Respondent Group Who
Discussed Barriers to Students Using PSSP

Barriers to Students Using

Of the 39 who discussed the presence or absence of
barriers to students using PSSP components, 72% said
there were no barriers, while 28% indicated there were
barriers (see Table 39).

Barriers include staffing challenges, lack of student
interest in being a peer-to-peer transition program
mentor, and the components being less appealing to
certain personality types.

A lack of staff to run programs like the transition

group. Students opt out because of personality
differences (e.g., introverts). (School Liaison)

Purple Star Schools Program | 50



Any barrier that could be in place would be due

to the student not engaging or the family not allowing
engagement. Opt-in, opt-out could be another barrier;
we do have some families that forgot to fill out the
forms. (School Liaison)

Lack of students who want to be mentors or guides.
(School Liaison)

Differences in Barriers for Students with

an IEP or 504 Plan

As shown in Table 40, of the 32 participants who dis-
cussed the comparative barriers across students in
general education and those with an IEP or 504 Plan,

Additional Barriers for Students with IEPs
or 504 Plans

A barrier might be that schools would want to

be a Purple Star school for the wrong reasons, for
recognition purposes rather than providing support to
military families. (EFMP-FS)

Improvements

Of the 97 participants who discussed improvements,
30% said they had no ideas, and 3% said they had no
ideas because PSSP was working well. Sixty-seven per-

88% suggested there were no additional barriers, while
13% said there were additional barriers.

cent of respondents mentioned at least one idea for
improvement. Details can be found in Table 41.

Respondents Within Each Respondent Group
Who Discussed the Differential Barriers for Using

No Ideas for Improvement

PSSP for Those with IEP or 504 Plans | don’t know enough about it to give any feedback.

Discussed | No Differences | Differences (Parent)

Respondent Type

IEP/504 (#) (#1%) (#/%)
All respondents 32 28 38% 4 | 13% Since I’'m not aware of the policy...I can’t answer this
Program manager 0 _ _ _ _ question. (School Administrator)
MIC3 representative 0 - - - - | don’t know, we have not tried applying for the
School liaison 28 26 93% 2 7%

designation and have no experience with it. (School

School administrator 0 - - - - Administrator)

Teacher/counselor 0 - = = =

EFMP-FS 2 1 50% 1 | 50% Things Working Well

Command Y N - - = | have only seen it when | am helping with this school
Parent 2 ! o0% | 1 |50% system. The military family liaison that | work with in
Local partner 0 - - - N the school system, they have done a really great job

of pulling in outside entities for programs and grants.
Not doing everything in house but connecting kids to
the community at large; it allows for additional
support of military-connected youth. (Local Partner)

Note. Each category is mutually exclusive. Due to rounding, the sum of
the percentages may not equal 100%.

Table 40
Number and Percent of Respondents Within Each Respondent Group Who
Discussed the Differential Barriers for Using PSSP for Those with IEP or
504 Plans

Respondents Within Each Respondent Group Who Discussed Improving PSSP

Respondent Type Im plra‘;\slzl:::ﬁ?s #) Im ptl:vlgn(:aei:c();f /%) Things Working Well (#/%) |ldeas for Improvement (#/%)
All respondents 97 29 30% 3 3% 65 67%
Program manager 4 0 0% 0 0% 4 100%
MIC3 representative 2 0 0% 0 0% 2 100%
School liaison 34 4 12% 0 0% 30 88%
School administrator 15 10 67% 0 0% 5 33%
Teacher/counselor 12 7 58% 0 0% 5 42%
EFMP-FS 5 2 40% 0 0% 3 60%
Command 7 1 14% 1 14% 5 71%
Parent 14 3 21% 1 7% 10 71%
Local partner 4 2 50% 1 25% 1 25%

Note. Each category is mutually exclusive. Due to rounding, the sum of the percentages may not equal 100%.

Table 41
Number and Percent of Respondents Within Each Respondent Group Who Discussed Improving PSSP

Purple Star Schools Program | 51



Improvement ideas include ensuring consistency across
the states, celebrating award achievement, funding the
awardees to ensure implementation, implementing
stronger accountability mechanisms, adjusting the timing
of application deadlines, making changes to the com-
ponents or the structure, connecting PSSP to school
goals, and sharing of best practices among schools
or states.

There is no fanfare once you win the designation.
Years ago, a lot of honors schools could get were
associated with the governor’s office making a big
deal of it, with the governor or lieutenant governor
attending as the award was handed out. |, as a
principal, asked the district for banners and signs to
be printed. (School Administrator)

Time and money. Dialogue between schools; a
conference or a convening about how to execute a
Purple Up Day or a Month of the Military Child event.
(Teacher/Counselor)

The designation needs to include yearly monitoring to
hold school districts accountable. The motivation for
joining Purple Stars was because they want to get
new money. (School Liaison)

Push back the application deadline. [The beginning
of the school year] is a terrible time. That would allow
schools more time to apply, share with staff and
community. More time to communicate and
understand the program and benefits. (School
Administrator)

Focus on substance. Talk to military kids, find out
what they need. Talk to elementary, middle school,
and high school kids, ask what could be meaningful to
them. Teachers make a huge difference — they had a
teachers’ meeting and they listened to a panel of
military kids. It is not a program thing, it is a people
skills thing. (Parent)

Create other "tiers" above Purple Star with better
supports, requirements, rewards to uphold the title
such as teacher bonuses, STEM involvement from the
installation, and interactions with the community
college and high school. (Command)

Show benefit for students to admins and school
leaders so they can get more buy-in. (School Liaison)

Connect it to school-wide issues, like matching
Purple Star criteria to school goals. We have a goal of
student belonging and include strategies for military-
connected students to feel part of the school
community. (School Administrator)

Participant awareness of PSSP was high. Of those who
lived in a state with PSSP, 92% were aware of PSSP. Of
the 67 participants who discussed family awareness of
PSSP, 34% indicated that most families are aware, 45%
indicated that some families are aware, 12% indicated
that many families are not aware, and 7% said that fam-
ilies are not aware because the program is too new.
There were some differences by participant type. All
program managers and 83% of school liaisons who dis-
cussed family awareness indicated that most or some
families are aware of PSSP. Parents were more evenly
split between most families being aware (35%), some
families being aware (29%), and many families not being
aware (29%).

Participants indicated high staff awareness of PSSP. Of
the 28 school personnel who lived in states with PSSP
and discussed school staff awareness, 89% indicated
that most staff are aware of PSSP. Of those who dis-
cussed implementation of PSSP, 85% said that their
school (e.g., school administrator or parent) or a school(s)
in their area (e.g., school liaisons,) is a Purple Star School.

Fifty-four participants discussed specific components
that were working well or not working well. Of those
54, 65% discussed specific components that they felt
were working well, 24% discussed specific components
that were not working well, and 28% of participants
were unsure if specific components were working well.
There was variability by participant type. Eighty-eight
percent of school personnel discussed specific com-
ponents that were working well, whereas 70% of parents
indicated that they did not know if specific components
were working well. Components identified as working
well included the military point-of-contact, the peer-to-
peer transition program, and the professional
development for school staff. Components identified
as not working well included the application process,
the lack of standardization of professional development,
andalack of existing students forthe peer-to-peer program.

Sixty-five participants discussed whether PSSP impacted
school selection. Overall, 48% of participants indicated
that whether a school is a Purple Star School does

Purple Star Schools Program | 52



impact school selection, 34% said that it does not impact
school selection, and 25% indicated that they were
unsure if it impacted school selection.

Of the 83 participants who discussed whether PSSP
had an impact on student outcomes, 63% indicated that
it does impact outcomes, 7% said that it has an impact,
but there are caveats, 16% indicated that it did not impact
outcomes, and 14% were unsure. There was variability
by participant group. Eighty-six percent of school admin-
istrators and 92% of teachers/counselors indicated an
impact, whereas 55% of school liaisons, 20% of pro-
gram managers, 43% of command, and 46% of parents
indicated an impact. Positive impacts included more
awareness of military culture, improvements to school
culture, and social-emotional benefits.

Of the 77 participants who discussed the presence or
absence of barriers to school implementation of PSSP,
48% discussed at least one barrier. Barriers included
PSSP being a “check-the-box” designation, a lack of

funding (e.g., at the state level, for a banner at the
school), a lack of time for staff to support it, lack of con-
sistency in implementation, and challenges in
implementing the peer-to-peer program.

Thirty-nine participants discussed the presence or
absence of barriers to students using PSSP compo-
nents. Twenty-eight percent indicated that there were
barriers. These barriers included staffing challenges,
lack of student interest in being a peer-to-peer transi-
tion program mentor, and the components being less
appealing to certain personality types.

Sixty-five participants provided specific ideas about
potential improvements to PSSP. These ideas included
consistency, accountability, funding, communication
between schools or states regarding best practices,
state-level excitement for the award, adjusting the appli-
cation timing, and connecting PSSP to school-wide goals
(e.g., student belonging).

Purple Star Schools Program | 53



Partnerships, Policy, and Coordination

Partnerships and Programs

In addition to the four initiatives explored in depth in
this process evaluation, participants were also given
the opportunity to discuss partnerships between
military installations and schools or school districts
and other programs that are available for
military-connected students.

Implementation

Partnerships between the installation and the school/
district, either formal or informal, were discussed by 115
(75%) participants. Table 42 highlights several commonly
mentioned partnerships.

Commonly Mentioned Partnerships

Participants Who
Discussed (#)

Partnership

Installation personnel attend school

board meetings 20
RegL.JIar megtings between school district 1
and installation

Installation personnel attend back-to-school 7
nights

Student field trips to the installation 29
School staff trips to the installation 4
Mentoring programs 9
Career day, career talks, and job shadowing 25
On-installation internships 5
Guest speakers from the installation 8
Service members volunteer at the schools 25
(formal arrangement)

Adopt-a-school26 30
STEM learning opportunities (11 discussed 32
STARBASEZ27)

Month of the Military Child events 9
JROTC 10
School Liaison 57
MFLC 58

Note. Participants may have discussed more than one partnership.

Table 42
Commonly Mentioned Partnerships

Other installation-school/district partnerships were men-
tioned by participants such as touch-a-truck events,
social events, military band performances, and lunches
with installation and school personnel. Furthermore,
peer-to-peer programs were discussed frequently (n=37)
and may have a connection to the military installation,
a particular Service, or be a community-based program.
Peer-to-peer programs commonly mentioned were Army
Youth Sponsorship Program, Anchored4Life, and
Student2Student. Additional programs that have a con-
nection to the military were mentioned: school-based
Boys and Girls Club (free for military-connected stu-
dents?8), Armed Services YMCA, Army Youth
Program in Your Neighborhood, and tutor.com (free for
military-connected students?2?).

Impact

Participants discussed their perception of different types
of impacts that the partnerships and programs have.
Impacts included promoting connection, inclusion, and
school climate and influencing social-emotional out-
comes, academic performance, and career readiness.

For programs like [program name], where [Service
members] show up for lunch and sit at tables and talk
with kids. If a kid is sitting alone, they will play with
the kid or sit with the kid — a [Service member] sitting
with them will bring other kids over — the kids may not
have known each other, and they met for the first time
because of the [Service member]. (School Liaison)

Yes, this work is creating a welcoming environment
for military-connected students and their families.
(School Administrator)

Increases socialization and connects kids with their
military roots, along with exploring areas where they
are located. (Parent)

The more the community understands the military
challenges, this can only help. Partnerships are critical
for us and our students. (Command)

26 https://www.armymwr.com/School-support/commanders-1/educators-school-administrators-and-units

27 https://dodstarbase.org/

28 https://www.militaryonesource.mil/resources/external/boys-girls-clubs-of-america-military-partnership

29 https://military.tutor.com/home

Partnerships, Policy, and Coordination | 54



https://www.armymwr.com/School-support/commanders-1/educators-school-administrators-and-units
https://dodstarbase.org/
https://www.militaryonesource.mil/resources/external/boys-girls-clubs-of-america-military-partnership
https://military.tutor.com/home

The Military Family Life Counselor helps families
navigate many issues and helps the student find
necessary resources while working with other staff to
make sure the student gets the help they need on a
more specialized level. (Teacher/Counselor)

MFLCs help identify some of the problems that a
regular counselor would not recognize (e.g., moving,
TDY [temporary duty], deployments). Especially for
the lower elementary kids. (Parent)

Providing safe places for students to be during
after-school hours. Giving students, either with MFLCs
or in programs, giving them an opportunity to speak
about their feelings around deployment, PCSing
[Permanent Change of Station], social emotional
aspects. (School Administrator)

Yes, it certainly improves school culture and climate,
which in turn improves school learning. (School
Administrator)

They are role models the kids can look up to; any time
you can get different people in reading to, working
with, and excited about what the kids are learning, it
adds another level of excitement to the day for the
kids. Your school changes because the community is
involved in it. It’s better for kids; it's better for the
community. It’s win-win all the way around. (School
Administrator)

It involves them in the future workforce, engineering,
science fields. Find out what they are good at, sparks
interest and may help them align to a future path.
(School Administrator)

Barriers

Fifty-eight participants discussed barriers to the imple-
mentation of partnerships. The most commonly
mentioned barriers were a lack of time or resources,
the presence of “red tape,” a lack of interest or difficul-
ties with communication, and turnover at the schools
and the installations.

Time and Resources

There need to be more school liaisons as many of the
ones in [state] get overwhelmed very quickly due to
the large military population. (Local Partner)

More school liaisons would benefit families. There is
not enough time in the day to meet the needs of
families. All school liaisons work beyond the allotted
hours. (School Liaison)

Standard ops tempo — hard to stop what you are
doing and find the right time to go and volunteer at
the school — standard hurdle that everyone faces.
(Command)

Red Tape

Paperwork with the district is difficult. District contract
language is difficult, and there are many required
forms. Liability is often a barrier. (Teacher/Counselor)

School liaisons are buried under layers of supervision
and permissions. (School Liaison)

Lack of Interest/Difficulties with Communication

Both the commander and the superintendent have to
be interested in establishing partnerships. (School
Liaison)

Partnerships are dependent on what the base
commander prioritizes. (School Liaison)

Turnover

Turnover. Changes in installation leadership and their
support for programs and turnover at the schools.
(School Liaison)

It is self-inflicted because people here turnover a lot.
(Command)

Barriers to students benefiting from the partnerships
were discussed by 12 participants. The two barriers
discussed most frequently were the geographic
distribution of the families and the difficulties
with transportation.

Schools and families are geographically spread out.
(School Liaison)

Transportation — not enough buses and drivers for
base field trips. (School Liaison)

One additional barrier mentioned by two school liai-
sons was related to staffing for students who receive
special education services or who have a disability.

If I bring in a program where it was just me and
active duty [Service members], if a student has a
one-on-one aide, but the program is an after school
program, the aide is not available [because aides are
only available during school hours]. (School Liaison)

Partnerships, Policy, and Coordination | 55



Improvement

Fifty-seven participants discussed specific ideas for
improvement to partnerships. Common themes were
funding, communication, and additional school liaisons.
Funding for programs; funding for promotional
materials. (School Liaison)

Allocating more time for the partnerships to take place,
both the installation and the school; communication
must happen consistently. (School Liaison)

We have a school liaison officer — that’s their job, to
bridge the schools to the installations. However, we
only have one officer who is working with many
districts. Since she is stretched thin, it would be
great to have another person like her. (School
Administrator)

Have a second school liaison or an assistant. The
school liaison could use the help! (Command)

Policy and Other Thoughts

Participants were given an opportunity to discuss rec-
ommendations to improve local or state policies related

to supporting military-connected children and to share
any information not previously discussed that would
be important to know.

Out of 154 participants, 118 (77%) provided specific sug-
gestions for policy improvement. These suggestions
included the following:

Increase Funding for Schools and for Military-
Connected Students

Continued opportunities, DODEA grants, those are
huge, chances for school districts to propose and
identify a need and have support to fill gaps and
make gains. Advocate for those federal allocations.
(School Administrator)

[Students receiving special education services] need
more assistance in the school systems. There is a
need for services as a whole. There is a shortage of
occupational therapists, speech therapists, ABA
[Applied Behavior Analysis] therapy. Schools need
more staff and money. (EFMP-FS)

| Funding. For teachers and schools. (Parent)

More Continuity Between School Districts, States,
and Military Services

One organization with oversight over MSI, PSSP, and
other resources. (School Liaison)

Special education and identification of categories
across states could be improved. (School
Administrator)

Have universal graduation requirements between
states. (Command)

Increase School Awareness of Military Culture;
Military Students’ Needs; and Opportunities for
Programs, Resources, and Funding Related to
Military Children

Additional training on behaviors and experiences of
military kids. (Teacher/Counselor)

Tell teachers about opportunities for military kids so
they can share and encourage. (Teacher/Counselor)

Increase Family Awareness of Available Programs
and Supports

Forums to help educate families; be more transparent
about the policies and laws. (Command)

Parents could be better informed of programs and
policies...my children have attended 5-6 schools in
total, and | have never heard of these policies while
going through the process of transferring to the new
schools. (Parent)

Knowing more about what is available, the services
available in areas. It is hard, each state has something
different, more or less services depending on where
the installation is located. If there was a way to help
families know what is available in each state. It would
be nice to know the school policies. If there was one
set of places that parents could go when trying to
navigate getting policy information. (EFMP-FS)

Parents don’t know about the school liaison. The
school liaison could be tapped much more. (Parent)

Allowing Virtual Courses

Offer online offerings if they can’t get the in-person
offering. (Parent)

Availability of Information

Make sure information is readily available; | did not go
to school for law, but | am reading legislation. (School
Liaison)

Each school district should have a military-specific
page on their website. (Parent)

Consultation with Various Stakeholders Before
Policy Change is Implemented

Have conversation with the lowest levels to learn
what needs to be improved. (School Liaison)

new policies — look at new policies from the military

Get input from school liaisons before implementing
point of view. (School Liaison)

Partnerships, Policy, and Coordination | 56



Decreasing Procedural Hurdles and Increasing
Procedural Safeguards

[It would be helpful to require] Service members with
children to check in and out with School Liaisons.
(School Liaison)

We have a lot of resources, but procedural things can
limit the impact that can be made. For example, the
release-of-information document for providing access
to the military identifier. Since we don’t always have
the release, it makes it difficult to serve military-
connected students. (Teacher/Counselor)

MFLCs — allow them to serve the children in an easier
way. For example, if the [school] counselor was talking
with a parent and the parent indicates that they want
MFLC services, the counselor cannot ask the MFLC to
reach out to the parent. The parent has to be the one
to initiate contact. But the parent is already stressed
and overwhelmed. The MFLC can do bulletin boards
and lunches, but their hands are tied to do actual
counseling. There are a lot of barriers to doing their
job. Most people don’t bother because it is so difficult.
MFLCs cannot work with students with IEPs. It is
double dipping.39 (Teacher/Counselor)

The school liaison is under the Child and Youth
coordinator, and that causes friction. Child and Youth
staff tend to be required to be at their desks,
answering phones. The school liaison needs to be at
schools and in the community. (School Liaison)

Timing of Moves and School Assignment

Now there is a huge swap in October/November and
another in January. It is destabilizing to schools.
About 80% of families transfer during the school year
[as opposed to during the summer]. (School Administrator)

Electives — preferential treatment for elective
selection and assignment — military kids have no
chance of getting the elective they want. (Parent)

Knowing where your child will attend school at least
30 days in advance would be helpful. | found out the
Friday before school started on Monday that my son
got into one of the [open enroliment] schools |
requested. The last-minute answer about where he
would attend was stressful. (Parent)

Thirty-nine participants shared information when they
were asked if there was any additional information they
wanted to discuss. Several responses stood out.

Some participants had comments related to positive
school environments or people wanting to help mili-

tary-connected children even though there may
be obstacles.

We do have a lot of staff here, other than the

MFLC, that are familiar with the military students,
military life. | am a military spouse. | am very familiar
with the military community and can relate to the
students myself. My co-counselor is a military veteran.
Veterans are teachers in the building. We can relate
to the kids and know what they are going through.

If parents are deployed or what have you, we can
connect and understand the lifestyle. It is a lifestyle;

it is different. (Teacher/Counselor)

No more new programs. Increase rigor in
implementation and funding into what we have. Get
data and if programs don’t work, close them.
(Command)

Sometimes, we will see a kid who has anxiety,

and we will find out that one of his or her parents are
deployed. We want to be able to provide proactive
and thorough support — information helps ahead of
time. (School Administrator)

Conversely, some individual stories do suggest that
opportunities for improvement exist.

My child turned 6 [in late June]. The school year
started in August or September and my son made the
cutoff for 1st grade. So, if a child turns 6 before or
after [a specific date] — they have to be placed in 1st
grade (before [a specific date]) or kindergarten (after
[a specific date]). My son just turned 6, has never
been in any school or daycare, and the law says he
has to go to first grade. So, | reached out to the waiver
office to get a waiver for my child from the board of
education. They said, we don’t do waivers for that.
The school should just do that. | asked the office, what
| can refer to to tell the school that. So, | searched the
provided website, looked at the education code, and
found the reference saying that my child could start
kindergarten or 1st grade. [My spouse] told me that
there was a family resource fair for military families.
And if we can’t do it there, we will just find another
school. We met with [the school liaison]...and showed
them the reference. She went to the board of
education people, who said that | was right. They
started making phone calls behind the scenes. | got a
phone call from the secretary of the school (I thought
it would be about enrolling my son in kindergarten)
who called me to argue with me. The school said,
technically the school is right. But | would not back
down. So, the school said that my child had to do a
placement test. [After the placement test,] the school
said, you are right, he is not ready for 1st grade. (Parent)

30 The Military and Family Life Counseling Program Guide (https://www.swcs.mil/Portals/111/MFLC-Program-Guide-6Sept2022_Final.pdf) indicates that

MFLC provides outreach to eligible families. The Program Guide also indicates that MFLC cannot provide treatment related to medical or mental health
disorders and cannot duplicate or replace services provided by other DoD support programs. However, MFLC can provide services that augment other

services.

Partnerships, Policy, and Coordination | 57


https://www.swcs.mil/Portals/111/MFLC-Program-Guide-6Sept2022_Final.pdf

EFMP-SLP Coordination

As shown in Table 43, of the 52 participants who dis-
cussed EFMP-SLP coordination, 90% said SLP & EFMP
work collaboratively, while 10% said there is not

much collaboration.

Respondents Within Each Respondent Group
Who Discussed Coordination between EFMP and SLP

. Work Not
Respondent Discussed . .
—- Collaboratively | Collaborative
Type Coordination (#) #/%) (#1%)
All 0 9
52 47 90% 5 10%

respondents
Program 0 _ _ ) _
manager
MIC3

. 0 - - - -
representative
School liaison 44 40 91% 4 9%
School 0 ) ) ) )
administrator
Teacher/ 0 _ _ ) _
counselor
EFMP-FS 8 7 88% 1 13%
Command 0 - - - -
Parent 0 - - - -
Local partner 0 - - - -

Note. Due to rounding, the sum of the percentages may not equal 100%.

Table 43

Number and Percent of Respondents Who Discussed Coordination
between EFMP and SLP

Work Collaboratively

| attend EFMP meetings; if EFMP has a question about
resources, the EFMP will reach out to me; if a parent
reaches out about EFMP resources, | reach out to
EFMP (School Liaison)

| talk to EFMP every week, two or three or four times a
week. EFMP, the relocation specialist, and | all work
together on a version of Smooth Moves. EFMP and |
collaborate on a special education workshop every
year. We have an outreach table together. | get
referrals from EFMP; EFMP gets referrals from me.
(School Liaison)

We are both one-deep and talk daily, serve as each
other's support. Anytime a family emails about a
school-age child in special education, we will cc the
other person so both are aware that there is a special
education student and then follow the case together.
(School Liaison)

Wonderful relationship. We collaborate on families,
events, everything EFMP does. We work together to
serve families. (EFMP-FS)

Not Much Collaboration

The EFMP case worker only came to the base one
time last year. | have regular communication with case
worker, at least monthly. | include base events and
happenings, and the EFMP case worker puts them in
an email newsletter to families. (School Liaison)

| respect her highly, and the school liaison does an
excellent job. There is little communication and very
little working together. | may get five emails a year
from the school liaison. There are some turf war
problems. [Collaboration] only happens when | send a
welcome letter, and it includes School Liaison contact
info. If families have questions about school, | send
the family to the school liaison. (EFMP-FS)

Some interaction. There is only interaction when
there is an issue. (School Liaison)

Barriers
Only 9 respondents mentioned one or more barriers
to implementation of the EFMP-SLP collaboration.

Other than hearing about families who are reluctant
to sign up for the EMFP program, there is still a stigma
that it will ruin a Service member’s military career
(School Liaison)

Families want us to be their advocates and neither the
school liaison program nor EFMP are qualified to be
an advocate for a child with special needs. (School
Liaison)

The EFMP coordinator has a lot of other hats...the
role and shoes that they have to fill to serve military-
connected families. | would like case workers...to be
less about being able to say they have a program and
more aligned with what do families need and how can
they meet those needs. More depth is needed. When
the EFMP person does not have the educational
experiences that school liaison does, it translates into
a lack of understanding of services and programs.
(School Liaison)

EFMP doesn’t have a lot of cases. One family was
referred to EFMP in the last school year. EFMP program
reps [who are not located on the installation] got used
to not visiting during COVID. There is not a policy that
prevents visiting [the installation]. This is a barrier that
needs to be fixed. (School Liaison)

EFMP cannot assist families in other Services [at Joint
Base].3" (School Liaison)

31 Department of Defense Instruction (DODI) 1315.19 Section 8 indicates that Family Support Services are available to all EFMP families regardless of

Service affiliation.

Partnerships, Policy, and Coordination | 58



School District and

School Website Data Extraction

A website data extraction was conducted and consisted
of a systematic review of school district and school
websites. The primary purpose of the data extraction
was to determine if information about the four initia-
tives was available. The secondary purpose was to
examine what additional programs or services were
available to military-connected students. The school
district websites that were examined were the 22 school
districts that approved school personnel interviews.
School websites were examined if (1) the school was
selected to participate, regardless of whether affiliated
school personnel were subsequently interviewed or (2)
the child of a parent interviewee attended the school.
Twenty-two district websites were examined, and 47
school websites were examined. The school districts
and schools were located in 11 states. These 11 states
varied widely in the number of military-connected stu-
dents and military installations in the state. Seven states
had over 10,000 military-connected school-age chil-
dren, and 4 states had less than 10,000 military-connected
school-age children. Moreover, four states had less than
five military installations, and seven states had five or
more installations.

The first data point that was collected was whether the
district or school had a web page for military families.
For the district websites, 17 districts (77%) had a web
page with information for military families; 5 (23%) did
not. For the school websites, 13 schools (28%) had web
pages with information for military families; 21 schools
(45%) had no web page, but they had a link to a district
web page for military families; and 13 schools (28%) did
not have a web page or link to the district page. The
accessibility of those web pages was also assessed. If
there was a link from the district or school homepage
orifthe link appeared in the first page of search results
(i.e., searching for “military”), then the page was con-
sidered accessible. For the districts, 16 of the 17 districts
that had web pages were considered accessible. For
the schools, 32 of the 34 schools that had either their
own web page or a link to the district page were
considered accessible.

Regardless of whether the district or school had a web
page for military families, the Clearinghouse examined
whether districts or schools had information on the four
initiatives. Clearinghouse staff examined whether the
components of the initiatives were discussed within
the context of the initiatives and whether the compo-
nents were discussed without being tied to the initiative.
If the school just linked to a district web page (e.g., there
is text that says “military families” that links to the dis-
trict web page), the information found on the district
page was not considered to be available on the school
page. However, if there was enough information on the
school web page so that one was directed to a specific
piece of information (e.g., “Click here to see the pro-
tections of the Compact”) that was located on the district
webpage, then it was considered to be “on” the
school page.

Advance Enroliment

All school districts and schools were located in states
that offer AE. However, only two school districts and
none of the schools provided general information on
AE. Both districts displayed this information on their
web page for military families, and both provided the
information in plain language as opposed to legislation.
One of the two districts provided additional information
about specific requirements. The timeframe within which
proof of residency was required was discussed, and
the school district website specified the addresses that
could be used for registration. Two additional districts
discussed the role of military orders in enroliment pro-
cedures. For one district, multiple documents were
needed to establish residency, and military orders was
just one of those. For the other district, evidence of
orders being sufficient for enrollment was discussed,
but additional requirements of AE for that state were
not discussed.

School District and School Website Data Extraction | 59




Interstate Compact on Educational

Opportunity for Military Children

The Clearinghouse examined whether school district
and school websites discussed the Compact, and
whether they provided a general description and/or
discussed specific provisions. Half of the school district
websites (i.e., 11) provided overall descriptions of the
Compact; the other half did not. Ten of those 11 district
websites also discussed the specific provisions of the
Compact. Eight of those ten discussed all of the pro-
tections. One district website only discussed the
provision related to immunizations, and one had a link
to the protections, but the link was broken. Two of the
websites that discussed all of the protections provided
the information using the language in the legislation
instead of plain language. One district website that did
not discuss the Compact did discuss their policy cov-
ering absences related to deployments without tying
the policy to the Compact initiative.

Of the 47 school websites examined, three provided a
general discussion of the Compact. Two school web-
sites discussed specific protections of the Compact.
One of these school websites discussed all of the pro-
tections, and one website only discussed absences
related to deployments. Without tying the policies to
the Compact itself, 10 schools discussed 1 (n=8) or 2
(n=2) protections of the Compact. The protections dis-
cussed were related to immunizations (n=2),
deployment-related absences (n=7), and non-custodial
parents (n=3).

Three school district websites provided information on
whom to contact for more information about the
Compact. One school district website provided contact
information for the state Compact commission. One
school website did provide links to MIC3; however, they
were presented without context, and there were mul-
tiple broken links.

Military Student Identifier

Out of the 22 school district websites and 47 school
websites, 2 district websites and no school websites
provided a general discussion of the MSI. Project staff
were unable to locate any discussion or examples of
the data collection form, and, as such, no response
options were identified. The two school district web-
sites that did provide information on the MSI discussed
the legislative basis of the MSI, who is to be counted
in the MSI (i.e., per ESSA), and a discussion of the ben-
efit of the MSI.

Purple Star Schools Program

Clearinghouse staff examined whether school district
and school websites discussed PSSP by providing a
general description or discussing specific components.
Not all districts or schools were in states that had PSSP.
Seventeen districts and 38 schools were in states with
the program. Of those 38 schools, 20 had been desig-
nated Purple Star schools.

Table 44 displays how many of the 17 school district
websites and 38 school websites had information related
to PSSP. The four columns show the following: (1) the
number of district websites that discuss PSSP and/or
specific requirements of PSSP, (2) the number of dis-
trict websites that provide information or discuss
activities that are consistent with PSSP criteria without
being tied to the initiative, (3) the number of schools
with a Purple Star School designation that discuss PSSP
and/or the specific components of PSSP, and (4) the
number of schools without a Purple Star School desig-
nation that discussed activities that are consistent with
PSSP criteria.

All states with PSSP include in their requirements a web
page for military families32. There were several combi-
nations of possibilities related to PSSP status and the
presence of a web page for military families. Individual
schools may or may not have a web page, schools may
link to a district web page for military families, schools
may or may not have Purple Star designations, and
PSSP may or may not be available in the school’s state.
Table 45 shows how many schools fall into each com-
bination of website availability and PSSP availability.

32 https://militaryfamilies.psu.edu/wp-content/uploads/clearinghouse_report_speakmc_initiatives_20240220rev.pdf

School District and School Website Data Extraction | 60


https://militaryfamilies.psu.edu/wp-content/uploads/clearinghouse_report_speakmc_initiatives_20240220rev.pdf

PSSP Components Discussed as Related to the Initiative or Discussed But Not Tied to the Initiative

District School

Component Related to Not Tied to Related to Not Tied to
Initiative Initiative Initiative @ Initiative P

(o]

General discussion n/a n/a n/a
n/a n/a n/a

5

Specific components discussed
Designated staff member for military families
Web page for military families

o
=
&

(2]

Enrollmentd

Academic planning

Graduation requirements

Counseling or other support services
Designated military families staff information
Transition planning

Resources and opportunities

Peer-to-peer transition program

Special education services
Military-recognition events

Mental health challenges of military-connected students
Compact

- = NO| == O WO -~/ =~ =00
NO O OO/N OO —~|~O0O 0 O U O

Peer-to-peer program

=)
=
[o))

Other requirements n/a
School resolution supporting military families
Recognition of the Month of the Military Child or similar
Partner with installation

Military-appreciation night at sports event

Public military display

Partner with school liaison

Service projects

Other military-recognition events

Staff professional development related to military families

O -0 0O/NO OO WNWWwWwO OO0~ 00000 W w w

OO0 -~ O -~ 0 =N N O

Video/pictures of school
JROTC

clo = 0= prlo=220O0oR 0w wuwo=s»NJyowxr

- WO O/0ON =~ O ~|h~ O

o
N

Note. @ Schools that have a PSSP designation. b Schools that do not have a PSSP designation. € Eight school websites had their own web pages for
military families; 10 school websites linked to the district page. d |f not tied to the initiative, components must have been discussed in relation to military
families, but the components did not have to be located on a web page for military families. € Three schools with Purple Star School designations that
did not have a web page for military families did have information on the designated staff member for military families located on other school website
pages (e.g., staff pages, the handbook). n/a = not applicable.

Table 44
Purple Star Schools Program Components Discussed as Related to the Initiative or Discussed But Not Tied to the Initiative

Number of Schools in Each Website and PSSP Availability Category

School Web Page for Links to District Web No School Web Page for Military

PSSP Availability Military Families Pagle= afg:ﬂl;/lei.llitary Fam:liae;e&fcl)\lrolvll.iil?‘l:i :;'I:Dai;:irliic;SWeb
Has PSSP designation 8 10 2

Does not have PSSP designation 5 7 6

Designation not available in state 0 4 5

Table 45

Number of Schools in Each Website and PSSP Availability Category

School District and School Website Data Extraction | 61



Finally, six school district websites provided informa-
tion that discussed which schools in the district had
received the Purple Star designation. Two of these dis-

Other Programs and Supports for
Military-Connected Students Identified on
School and School District Websites

Districts | Schools

#) #)

Program/Support

tricts provided this information on the web page for

military families; the remaining four districts provided

Other staff for military families 8 6
the information on other web pages (e.g., press releases). Special education department 7 5
Gifted programming 4 1
Other Programs and Supports for Tutoring (tutor.com) 1 /
Military-Connected Students Student2Student 4 8
Anchored4lLife 3 6
School and school district websites often included addi- Army Youth Sponsorship Program 1 1
tional information about programs and supports that ;‘;’;‘reagnrfwn/”"SPeCiﬁGd peer-to-peer 1 2
were specifically for military-connected students or that STARBASE/DoD STEM programs 1 0
were highlighted in relation to military-connected stu- School Quest 1 0
dents (e.g., on a web page for military families). Table School liaison 14 n
46 lists the programs and supports that were identified MFLC 10 17
and the number of school and school district websites Partnerships with DODEA 11
that included them. In addition, eight school district and Installation services 8 0
five school websites list the number or percent of mil- Table 46

Other Programs and Supports for Military-Connected Students Identified

itary-connected students in their district or school. on School and School District Websites

School District and School Website Data Extraction | 62



Measures of School Characteristics

School- and District-Level Measures

Recently, there has been interest in quantifying the
extent to which schools may be able to serve mili-
tary-connected students. Indeed, some of the Services
are evaluating the school districts outside of military
installations as part of 10 USC Sec 1781b. One goal of
this project was to identify metrics that could be con-
sidered as Services and parents seek to evaluate or
choose school districts in an installation area. This idea
presents a challenge due to several factors, such as (1)
states using different metrics to assess students and
school outcomes and (2) parents prioritizing different
school qualities (e.g., high military population, AP offer-
ings). Table 47 presents 43 publicly available measures
that Services and parents may be interested in consid-
ering as they evaluate local school districts or select
school districts or schools in which to enroll their chil-
dren. Not all measures may be important to all parents,
and additional measures, for which publicly available
data may not be available, may also be important.
Furthermore, standardized test scores and graduation
rates are important; however, they do not capture the

whole story of the academic performance of students
in a school or a school district. Thus, the list is not
intended to be a formula for determining high-quality
schools; rather, it presents factors that Services and
parents may want to consider when evaluating or
choosing a school district or a school.

Many of the listed measures can be used at the school
level or the school district level. For example, if one
wanted to examine math proficiency, one could look at
the percentage of students who meet or exceed expec-
tations at a specific school or the percentage of students
who meet or exceed expectations in the school district.
Furthermore, one could examine a particular area of
interest (e.g., part of a district or within two districts) by
examining the percentage of schools that have a pre-de-
termined percentage of students who meet or exceed
expectations. If examining an area, the catchment area
for districts/schools included in the metric should be
the furthest distance one would reasonably expect a
Service member to travel to get to the installation for
work every day (e.g., 30 miles).

Measures of School Characteristics | 63




Measures That Services and Par

s May Want to Consider When Evaluating or Selecting a School or School District

Academic Performance

Metric

Purpose

Location of Publicly

Limitatio Available Data

Overall English Language
Arts (ELA) Proficiency

Overall Math Proficiency

Overall Science
Proficiency

% of students who meet or
exceed expectations

% of students who meet or
exceed expectations

% of students who meet or
exceed expectations

Provides overall snapshot of
school ELA performance

Provides overall snapshot of
school math performance

Provides overall snapshot of
school science performance

Tests vary by state
Tests vary by state

Tests vary by state

State education
data websites

State education
data websites

State education
data websites

Cannot determine if
scores are due to
current school district or
past school districts;
definition of “military
student” varies by state

Provides overall snapshot of
how military students in the
school are performing in ELA

State education
data websites

% of students who meet or

IS G S exceed expectations

Cannot determine if
scores are due to
current school district or
past school districts;
definition of “military
student” varies by state

Provides overall snapshot of
how military students in the
school are performing in
math

State education
data websites

% of students who meet or

MSI Math Proficiency exceed expectations

Cannot determine if
scores are due to
current school district or
past school districts;
definition of “military
student” varies by state

Provides overall snapshot of
how military students in the
school are performing in
science

State education
data websites

% of students who meet or

MSI Science Proficiency exceed expectations

School or state
education data
website

Provides information on
whether MSI data are easily
accessible

- Whether MSI data are
Accessibility of MSI Data casily accessible
Provides overall snapshot of
a school’s academic growth
from the previous year

Higher performing
schools have less
potential for growth

State education
data websites

School academic growth

Academic Growth Scores rate

State education
data websites

Graduation standards
vary by state

Graduation rates at the
school (if high school)

. Provides an overall snapshot
Graduation Rates of graduation rates

Provides an overall snapshot
of school quality as
determined by state
standards

Grade/score given to the
school based on state-
developed metric

State education
data websites

Calculations and
categories vary by state

School Grade or Score
(ESSA)

Provides an overall snapshot
of whether a school has been
identified for improvement or
support

Future Readiness

Determination of a
school’s need for
additional support

State education
data websites

Annual Meaningful

Differentiation Criteria vary by state

Location of Publicly

Limitations Available Data

Measure Metric Purpose

Provides an overall snapshot
of a school on measures of
college, career, or military
readiness

State education
data websites

% of students who meet
or exceed expectations

College/Career/Military

Readiness Criteria vary by state

School Characteristics

Location of Publicly
Available Data

Measure Metric Purpose Limitations

Criteria vary by state;
may not be publicly
available for all states;
measures may not be
valid/reliable

State education
data websites

The score on a school
climate survey

Provides an overall snapshot

School Climate of school climate

Provides an overall snapshot
of the concentration of
military-connected students
in the school

State education
data websites

Military Student
Prevalence

% of military-connected
students

Definition of “military
student” varies by state

Measures of School Characteristics | 64



Measure

Metric

School Characteristics

Purpose

Limitations

Location of Publicly
Available Data

Funding Per Student

Current expenditures

Provides data on funding for
the school district

Does not provide
details on how money
is spent

https://nces.ed.

gov/ccd/
districtsearch/

Student/Teacher
Ratio

The number of students per
teacher

Provides data on class size

https://nces.ed.

gov/ccd/
schoolsearch/

Teacher Experience

% of teachers in their first
year of teaching

Provides overall snapshot of
the prevalence of teachers
with little experience

Does not provide
details about why there
may be a large number
of new teachers

https://ocrdata.
ed.gov/

Guidance Counselor
Support

# of counselors

Provides data on extent of
counselor support available

School website

Mental Health
Support

# of mental health support
personnel

Provides data on extent of
mental health support
available

School website

School Nurse Support

# of school nurses

Provides data on the extent
of physical health support
available

School website

Chronic Absenteeism

% of students in a district
who are chronically absent

Provides data on the number
of students who are absent
10% or more school days

https://ocrdata.
ed.gov/

In-school Suspension
Rate

Number of in-school
suspensions

Provides data on disciplinary
actions in the district

State education
data websites

Out-of-school
Suspension Rate

Number of out-of-school
suspensions

Provides data on disciplinary
actions in the district

State education
data websites

Program Offerings

Measure

Metric

Purpose

Limitations

Location of Publicly

Pre-K Availability

Availability of pre-K within
elementary schools

Provides data on the
availability of pre-K in public
schools

Available Data

School website

Kindergarten
Availability

Availability of tuition-free,
full-day kindergarten within
elementary schools

Provides data on the
availability of kindergarten in
public schools

School website

Gifted and Talented
Programming

Gifted and talented
programming offerings

Provides data on the
availability of gifted and
talented programming

Does not address the
quality of the
programming

https://ocrdata.
ed.gov/

AP Course Offerings

# high school AP course
offerings

Provides data on the
availability of AP courses

https:/
apcourseaudit.
inflexion.org/
ledger/

International
Baccalaureate (IB)

Availability of high school IB
program

Provides data on the
availability of the IB program

https://www.ibo.

org/programmes/
find-an-ib-school/

Extra-curricular
Activity Opportunities

# of extra-curricular activities
offered by the school/district

Provides data on the
breadth of opportunity for
extra-curricular activities

Does not address the
quality or depth of the
programming

District/school
website

After School Care

Availability of elementary
schools before/after school
care

Provides data on the
availability of before/after
school care in public schools

District website

Degree to Which
Multi-tiered Systems
of Support (MTSS) is
Implemented

# of domains covered in
district implementation of
MTSS (i.e., academics,
behavior, social-emotional
learning [SEL])

Provides data on the extent
to which MTSS is
implemented

District website

Measures of School Characteristics | 65


https://nces.ed.gov/ccd/districtsearch/
https://nces.ed.gov/ccd/districtsearch/
https://nces.ed.gov/ccd/districtsearch/
https://nces.ed.gov/ccd/schoolsearch/
https://nces.ed.gov/ccd/schoolsearch/
https://nces.ed.gov/ccd/schoolsearch/
https://ocrdata.ed.gov/
https://ocrdata.ed.gov/
https://ocrdata.ed.gov/
https://ocrdata.ed.gov/
https://ocrdata.ed.gov/
https://ocrdata.ed.gov/
https://apcourseaudit.inflexion.org/ledger/
https://apcourseaudit.inflexion.org/ledger/
https://apcourseaudit.inflexion.org/ledger/
https://apcourseaudit.inflexion.org/ledger/
https://www.ibo.org/programmes/find-an-ib-school/
https://www.ibo.org/programmes/find-an-ib-school/
https://www.ibo.org/programmes/find-an-ib-school/

Program Offerings

Location of Publicly

Measure

Purpose

Limitations Available Data

SEL Programming

Whether district includes SEL
programming in its
curriculum

Provides data on
implementation of SEL
curriculum

— District website

Online Learning
Opportunities

Whether district provides
online learning opportunities

Provides data on whether
online learning opportunities
are available

— District website

Dedicated Staff for
Military or
Transitioning
Students

Whether school or district
has a dedicated staff
member for military or
transitioning students

Provides data on whether
the school or school district
has policies/staff intended to
mitigate the challenges of
military life

District/school
website

Military Families

Presence of school district or
school web page with

Provides data on whether
the school or school district
has policies/staff intended to

District/school

Webpage ;gacqn{lzgztlon for military mitigate the challenges of website
military life
Provides data on whether
- . S - the school district has P
Military Social Whether district has military e X District/school
Workers social workers policies/staff intended to - website

mitigate the challenges of
military life

Military-Related

Whether district or school
has military-related support

Provides data on whether
the school or school district
has policies/staff intended to

District/school

has MFLCs

Support Groups groups mitigate the challenges of Website
military life
Provides data on whether
- the school or school district -
MFLC Whether district or school has policies/staff intended to . District/school

mitigate the challenges of
military life

website

Partnerships Between
the School and
Installation

Whether district or school
has a partnership with the
installation

Provides data on whether
the school or school district
has policies/staff intended to
mitigate the challenges of
military life

District/school
website

Availability of AE in
State

Whether the state has AE

Provides data on whether
the state has policies/staff
intended to mitigate the
challenges of military life

https://statepolicy.
militaryonesource.

mil/emeritus-
status-tracker/
advance-
enroliment

Availability of PSSP

Whether the school district
or school has received the
Purple Star School
designation

Provides data on whether
the school or school district
has policies/staff intended to
mitigate the challenges of
military life

State education
department
website; district/
school website

Peer Ambassador/
Peer-to-Peer Support
Program

Whether district or school
has a peer ambassador or
peer-to-peer support
program

Provides data on whether
the school or school district
has policies/staff intended to
mitigate the challenges of
military life

District/school
website

Staff Professional
Development Related
to Military Culture

Whether district or school
provides professional
development for staff related
to military culture

Provides data on whether
the school or school district
has policies/staff intended to
mitigate the challenges of
military life

District/school
website

Table 47

Measures That Services and Parents May Want to Consider When Evaluating or Selecting a School or School District

Measures of School Characteristics | 66


https://statepolicy.militaryonesource.mil/emeritus-status-tracker/advance-enrollment
https://statepolicy.militaryonesource.mil/emeritus-status-tracker/advance-enrollment
https://statepolicy.militaryonesource.mil/emeritus-status-tracker/advance-enrollment
https://statepolicy.militaryonesource.mil/emeritus-status-tracker/advance-enrollment
https://statepolicy.militaryonesource.mil/emeritus-status-tracker/advance-enrollment
https://statepolicy.militaryonesource.mil/emeritus-status-tracker/advance-enrollment

Themes Across

Initiatives and Programs

In addition to findings within each individual initiative,
several themes emerged across initiatives, partnerships,
and programs. Across all initiatives, participants reported
that when initiatives were implemented as intended,
there are many successes. Effective implementation of
the Compact and AE results in reduced stress for mili-
tary families during a PCS move and students being
able to enroll in the classes that they need or want.
Participants indicated that successful implementation
of AE leads to positive impacts for students and schools,
including less out-of-school time for students; more
timely access to services; and, in general, school staff
being more prepared for the students’ arrival. When
implemented as intended, participants indicated that
the Compact had a positive effect on credit transfers,
graduation, and extra-curricular activity participation.
Furthermore, when MSI is used to the fullest extent, its
use results in additional services (e.g., MFLCs, addi-
tional student services and programs) and improved
interactions with students (e.g., increased sensitivity,
connecting students with services). Participants reported
that PSSP and installation-school partnerships result in
improvements in school climate and culture, a better
understanding of the military lifestyle, and positive
social-emotional outcomes. Finally, regardless of
whether implemented as part of PSSP or independently,
participants indicated that peer-to-peer support pro-
grams, when implemented well, help new students
integrate into the new school.

Participants, however, also highlighted multiple barriers
to the successful implementation of the initiatives, part-
nerships, and programs. Lack of awareness was
commonly discussed across all initiatives. This included
lack of family awareness and lack of school awareness.
Lack of family awareness included a complete lack of
knowledge of one or more initiative, knowledge of the
name of the initiative but lack of any substantive knowl-
edge about the initiative, and families being misinformed
about the purpose of the initiative. Participants identi-

fied certain characteristics that may be associated with
the lack of knowledge, such as families with children
in elementary school as opposed to middle school or
high school; families being in the Service for a shorter
amount of time, yet participants did provide anecdotes
of families who had been in the Service for many years
who were still unaware of initiatives; and families having
moved from a state without the initiative. Furthermore,
participants discussed challenges to parents obtaining
information such as information overload, the informa-
tion being provided to the Service member parent (as
opposed to the spouse who may be more likely to enroll
the children in school), and general difficulty finding
information about the initiatives. Participants also iden-
tified several characteristics that may make it more likely
that school personnel are unaware of the initiatives.
These include schools with fewer military families,
schools where there is high turnover at the school, and
schools being an elementary school.

A lack of accountability or enforcement was also dis-
cussed across all four initiatives. Participants discussed
instances of general noncompliance related to AE, the
Compact, and the MSI. They also discussed instances
of lack of ongoing compliance with the required com-
ponents of PSSP (e.g., obtaining the designation and
then not continuing to implement the components) and
situations where the PSSP designation was a “check-
the-box” designation, and the school had no meaningful
support for military families.

The absence of consistency across schools, school dis-
tricts, and states also emerged as a common theme
across all four initiatives. This included general com-
ments about lack of consistency. It also included specific
areas, including the processes and services for students
with an IEP or 504 Plan (e.g., evaluation policies, who
qualifies for services, therapies that cannot be used in
schools in specific states, differences in funding for
special education, the availability of services), differ-

Themes Across Initiatives and Programs | 67




ences in criteria and programming for gifted students,
and variability in how the MSl is collected and used.

Several factors related to housing were mentioned by
participants. First, some participants discussed a lack
of military housing or a lack of housing availability near
the installation. Participants mentioned that this was
pushing families into communities that were further
away from the installation. These communities may not
have the knowledge or resources to support mili-
tary-connected students, may not have as many military
families to act as a support system, may be less likely
to have MFLCs, and may be impacting school liaison
resources as these additional schools could be added
to the school liaisons’ workloads. Second, although
some participants discussed the benefits of open enroll-
ment, other participants discussed some challenges
related to open enrollment policies. One challenge is
that schools have a lower military population because
students are no longer clustered around the installa-
tion. Another challenge is that, in combination with AE,
families may select schools before they know where
they will live. This may result in long commutes to school
or in families having to provide transportation.

Similarly, challenges were also discussed related to
geographic considerations. The challenges of being in
a large metro area with many school districts and a
sizeable geographic spread were discussed, as were
the challenges associated with being in a rural area.
The specific challenges would vary based on the spe-
cific geographic considerations, and solutions that have
worked in one area may not translate to a different type
of geographic area. Therefore, strategies that may work
in one area may not work in another area.

Challenges related to staffing and resources were dis-
cussed in relation to several topics. For instance, lack
of resources was discussed in reference to students
with an IEP or 504 Plan and how staffing problems and
a lack of resources impacted getting the appropriate
level of services. Lack of resources was also discussed
in relation to PSSP and how some of the requirements
were a challenge for already overworked staff.
Furthermore, these challenges were discussed in rela-
tion to school-installation partnerships. Specifically,

respondents talked about time constraints related to
Service member volunteers. Participants also discussed
school liaisons who were beyond capacity and who did
not have enough time to fully support military-connected
students and help facilitate partnerships between the
schools and installations. Indeed, four different partic-
ipant types (i.e., school administrator, command, local
partner, school liaison) indicated that additional school
liaisons at their location would be beneficial. The point
participants made about school liaisons also relates to
the previous discussion about school and family aware-
ness of the initiatives and about housing and geographic
considerations. If there are many schools or school
districts surrounding the installation or if families are
moving further away from the installations, this may
increase school liaisons’ responsibilities, which could
result in reduced family and school awareness and
reduced support.

Participants also mentioned funding. This was discussed
specifically related to AE, the MSI, and PSSP. Participants
believed that without funding associated with these
initiatives, compliance was difficult. Furthermore, school
personnel discussed having to use school funds to pur-
chase a plaque or banner celebrating their Purple Star
School designation as opposed to these items coming
from the state.

The timing of certain events was also discussed related
to multiple initiatives. Participants discussed that the
timing of PSSP applications and the MSI data collection
were challenging because they occur at the beginning
of the school year and at the same time as other data
requests. Relatedly, the timing of information provision
was discussed. Some participants reported that fami-
lies are overloaded with information at certain times
and that makes it difficult for them to retain the infor-
mation. Related to enrollment and AE, challenges were
discussed related to mid-year moves and changing
move dates. These moves and changing move dates
resulted in classes being at capacity when students
enroll and students not getting the classes they may
need or want. Finally, schools being assigned at the
last minute, just days before school started, was
extremely stressful for families.

Themes Across Initiatives and Programs | 68



Participants made several suggestions related to
improving technology or leveraging technology to
improve experiences for military families. Participants
discussed ensuring that enrollment websites have
mobile compatibility, collecting MSI data electronically
instead of via a paper form, having virtual meetings
before students arrive, and providing virtual courses
if classes are full or not available (e.g., foreign
language classes).

Participants also made specific comments regarding
communication methods and stakeholder buy-in. School
liaisons discussed advertising the initiatives at various
types of school and installation events. Participants also
talked about information dissemination methods that

specifically target the parent who enrolls the children
in school (i.e., typically the spouse, not the Service
member). Participants discussed relaying information
via spouse briefs and FRGs. In addition, participants
discussed framing PSSP implementation within how it
aligns with overall school goals. Furthermore, partici-
pants mentioned advertising the benefit of the initiatives
(i.e., benefits to students and schools) in order to
increase buy-in from stakeholders and suggested com-
mand provide formal support for certain initiatives (e.g.,
MSI). Participants also mentioned general information
overload and a lack of information (e.g., MSI data avail-
ability). Finally, participants mentioned communication
challenges related to school-installation partnerships.

Themes Across Initiatives and Programs | 69



The following recommendations are based on findings
from the data gathered during the preparation of the
literature review, the state-level initiatives report, and
the current report. The recommendations are framed
as steps that DSLO can take to support military-con-
nected students. Some recommendations require DSLO
to work collaboratively with specific partners to help
improve the experiences of military-connected students
and their families. As applicable, recommendations in
this report are linked to associated recommendations
in the National Academies of Science, Engineering, and
Medicine (NASEM) 2019 report titled, “Strengthening
the Military Family Readiness System for a Changing
American Society.”33

Recommendation 1

To address the inconsistency in data collection, data
reporting, and definitions of “military-connected stu-
dents” across initiatives and states, advocate for
standardization of data collection related to military-con-
nected students, to include operationalization (i.e., how
“military-connected student” is defined), data collec-
tion, and data reporting.

Note. This recommendation is based on findings report-
ed on pages 36-37, 40-44 and 68-69 of this report and
pages 4, 17-21, and 40-51 of the state-level report. This
recommendation is consistent with Recommendation 1
in the NASEM report, which advises standardizing defi-
nitions in order to “facilitate synthesis and comparison of
information” (p. 326).

Recommendation 2

To address awareness challenges related to the initia-
tives, support the development, implementation, and
sharing of evidence-informed34 practices for strategic
communication of the initiatives to parents and
school personnel.

Recommendations

Note. This recommendation is based on findings report-
ed on pages 15-17, 20-27, 31-46, 52, 56, 67, and 69 of
this report. This recommendation is consistent with Rec-
ommendation 10 in the NASEM report, which advises
optimizing program delivery in terms of service delivery
timing, dose, and format. This also applies to information

delivery.

Recommendation 3

Given the inconsistencies in implementation across
states and school districts, advocate for information
transparency and expectation management related to
the specific ways the initiatives are implemented in each
state and school district.

Note. This recommendation is based on findings report-
ed on pages 20-23, 26, 28, 31-35, 37-38, 40-44, 50, 52-
53, 56, 59-61, and 67 of this report and pages 3-27 of
the state-level report. This recommendation is consistent
with Recommendation 5 in the NASEM report, which ad-
vises understanding the unique aspects of communities

surrounding military installations.

Recommendation 4

In order to take advantage of modern technology that
could be used to enhance support of military families
and promote consistency in initiative implementation,
encourage states to leverage technology to directly
support military families and to support effective imple-
mentation of the initiatives.

Note. This recommendation is based on findings report-
ed on pages 20-23, 26, 28, 31-35, 37, 40-44, 47, 50, 52-
53, 56, 67, and 69 of this report and pages 3-27 of the
state-level report. This recommendation is consistent with
Recommendation 10 in the NASEM report, which advises
“harnessing new technologies for program delivery” (p.
338). Use of technology may be similarly advantageous
in the school setting.

33 https://doi.org/10.17226/25380

34 Evidence based: “demonstrates impact on outcomes of interest through application of rigorous scientific research methods...that allows for causal inference”.
Evidence informed: “developed...with the best available external evidence from systematic research and a body of empirical literature...demonstrates impact
of outcomes of interest through application of scientific research methods that do not allow for causal inference” (NASEM, 2019, p 9).

Recommendations | 70



https://doi.org/10.17226/25380

Recommendation 5

In light of findings related to inconsistencies in imple-
mentation, a lack of enforcement, and varying
perceptions of impact, support initiative standardiza-
tion, enforcement, and evaluation.

Note. This recommendation is based on findings reported
on pages 20-23, 26-28, 31-35, 37, 39-44, 48, 50, 52-53,
56-57, and 67 of this report, pages 3-27 of the state-lev-
el report, and pages 24-25 of the literature review. This
recommendation is consistent with Recommendations
2 and 7 in the NASEM report, which advise the use of
evidence-based and evidence-informed approaches and
the use of program evaluation and continuous quality im-
provement in order to support military family readiness.

Recommendation 6

To address findings related to (1) persistent challenges
with IEP transfers and (2) variability experienced by stu-
dents in gifted programs, consider ways to increase (1)
IEP transportability and (2) standardization of gifted qual-
ifications and programming.
Note. This recommendation is based on findings report-
ed on pages 17-18, 21-23, 31-32, 34-35, and 67-68 of this
report and pages 18-20 of the literature review.

Recommendation 7

To address challenges related to parent and school

personnel awareness, consider the ways in which

increasing the capacity of the School Liaison Program

and standardizing school liaison duties may improve

parent and school personnel awareness of the initiatives.
Note. This recommendation is based on findings report-
ed on pages 15-17, 20-22, 24-27, 31-38, 43-46, 52, 55-56,
and 67-68 of this report.

Recommendation 8

Based on the variability across states in how the MIC3
state commissioner duties are executed, consider how
the selection and implementation of the MIC3 state
commissioner position (e.g., whether it is a paid posi-
tion or additional duty, the location of the commissioner

within the education system) may impact the execution
of MIC3 commissioner duties.

Note. This recommendation is based on findings report-
ed on pages 31 and 33-34 of this report.

Recommendation 9

To address concerns that lack of funding affects imple-
mentation, advocate for states to fully fund the initiatives
and support the use of existing and potential funding
mechanisms to improve the implementation of the four
initiatives and to implement other programming that is
evidence informed or evidence based.

Note. This recommendation is based on findings report-

ed on pages 22, 34, 42-44, 50, 52-53, 56-57, and 68 of

this report.

Recommendation 10

Given the lack of quantitative research around mili-
tary-connected students’ transitions to new schools and
the lack of evidence regarding the effectiveness of pro-
grams and initiatives for military-connected students,
support research to understand the scope of successes
or difficulties during transitions to new schools and eval-
uations to ensure evidence-informed and evidence-based
practices are used to support students during
those transitions.

Note. This recommendation is based on findings report-
ed on page 57 of this report and pages 16-21, 24-25,
and 27 of the literature review. This recommendation is
consistent with Recommendations 2 and 7 in the NASEM
report, which advise the use of evidence-based and ev-

idence-informed approaches and the use of program
evaluation and continuous quality improvement in order

to support military family readiness.

Recommendations | 71



Appendix

Semi-structured Interview Questions

Appendix — Semi-structured Interview Questions | 72



Advance Enroliment
(for the 34 states with the policy)

Are you familiar with Advance Enroliment? If yes, what is
the purpose of Advance Enrollment?

Program
Manager

School
Liaison

Teacher/
Counselor

Respondent Type

School
Administrator

EFMP-FS

Command

Question

MIC3 Category

Representative

Local
Partner

X

X

X

X

X

X

X X(*) X Awareness

Are school staff aware of Advance Enrollment and its
purpose?

X

X

Awareness

Are students/families aware of Advance Enrollment and
its purpose?

Awareness

Do you know or have a sense of approximately what
percent of the military families [for school personnel: in
your school] [for SL: in your area] have requested
Advance Enrollment in the last year?

Implementation

In the past year, approximately what percent of the
military families in your school enrolled based on military
orders as opposed to having a physical residence in the
school district? This answer may or may not be different
than the answer to the previous question.

Implementation

Is there any difference in the way Advance Enrollment is
implemented for students in special education/with a
disability vs. in general education?

Implementation

In what ways is Advance Enrollment having an impact
on student outcomes? (If participant says that it is not:
Do you have any thoughts on why it is not having an
impact)?

Impact

Please discuss any differences in impacts on students
based on whether the student is in general education
vs. in special education/has a disability.

(X) - - Impact

What are barriers to schools implementing Advance
Enroliment?

Barriers

10

Are there any real or perceived barriers to families using
Advance Enrollment? If so, please describe.

Barriers

1

Do families with a student who receives or is eligible to
receive services under an |[EP or 504 plan experience
any barriers to using Advance Enroliment?

(X) - - Barriers

12

Fo

Can you think of anything that could be done to improve
Advance Enrollment or its implementation?

r States Without an Advance Enrollment Policy

Does the state, school district, or school allow military-
connected students to be enrolled in school before they
are physically present in the district (e.g., on the basis of
military permanent change of station orders)?

Improvement

n/a

Note. (X) indicates that this item will be asked instead of the previous question if the parent has a child who receives special education services or has a disability. (*) Indicates that the question will be
asked if it is relevant to that local partner.

Appendix — Semi-structured Interview Questions | 73



Interstate Compact on Educational Opportunity
for Military Children (for all 50 states and DC)

Are you familiar with the Compact? If yes, what is the
purpose of the Compact?

Program
Manager

School
Liaison

Teacher/
Counselor

Respondent Type

School
Administrator

EFMP-FS

Command

Question

MIC3 Category

Representative

Local

Parent Partner

X

X

X

X

X X(*) - Awareness

Are school staff aware of the Compact?

X

X

Awareness

In general, are students/families aware of the Compact
and its purpose?

Awareness

Are school personnel making use of the Compact to
help with course placement, extra-curricular activity
participation, graduation, and special education services
implementation? If yes, in what way? If not, why do you
think they are not?

Implementation

Please discuss any difference in the way the Compact is
implemented for students in special education/with a
disability vs. in general education?

Implementation

When military-connected students with an existing IEP
or 504 plan transfer into schools in this area, how long
does it typically take for them to receive comparable
services?

Implementation

Under what circumstances do military-connected
students with an existing IEP or 504 plan who transfer
into schools in this area receive a new evaluation?

Implementation

On average, how long does it take for a new IEP/504
evaluation of a military-connected student to occur
upon moving to the area?

Implementation

Is the Compact having an impact on students’
experiences and outcomes during school transfers? If
yes, in what way? If no, why do you think it is not
impacting students’ experiences?

Impact

10

Is there any difference in the impact on students based
on whether the student is in general education vs. in
special education/with a disability. If answer yes: What
are those differences?

(X) - X Impact

1

How does the Compact address or impact the transfer
of students from OCONUS DODEA schools or to
OCONUS DODEA schools?

Impact

12

Have you encountered any barriers in the
implementation of the Compact?

Barriers

13

Are families experiencing any real or perceived barriers
when attempting to use the Compact?

Barriers

14

Are there any real or perceived barriers for families
when attempting to use the Compact for children
receiving special education services or with a disability?

(X) > - Barriers

15

Can you think of anything that could be done to improve
the Compact itself or how it is implemented?

Improvement

Appendix — Semi-structured Interview Questions | 74



T .ge Respondent Type
@ Military Student Identifier Question

Local MIC3 Category

(for all 50 states and DC) Program | School | Teacher/ School N
A= Partner | Representative

Manager | Liaison | Counselor | Administrator SR PR

Are you familiar with the Military Student Identifier? If

*
yes, what is the purpose of it? X X X X X X X X(*) X Awareness

2 Whgt data are collected (e.g., only active duty, reserve/ ) ) X X ) ) ) ) ) Implementation
national guard, deployments)?

3 How frequently is |'§ collected (e.g., only upon ) ) X X ) ) ) ) } Implementation
enrollment, beginning of each school year, monthly)?

Do you believe that most military families, are self- .
4 identifying as such? Why or why not? ) S 2 2 ) ) . ) . I SR e

Are/how are the data used by the school, the district, .
5 - - - X - - - - - Implementation
and the state?

Do teachers use the data? If yes, how do they receive
6 the information (e.g., receive a list of military-connected ) ) X ) ) ) ) ) ) Imolementation
students; information is available on a student’s profile)? P

If yes, how do they use the data?

Is there any difference in the way the Military Student
7 Identifier data are used for students in special ) X X X ) ) ) ) ) Imolementation
education/with a disability vs. in general education? If P

yes: In what way?

Do you use Military Student Identifier-related data to
8 help you make decisions about for your children’s - - - - - - X - - Implementation
education? If yes, in what way?

Is the Military Student Identifier having an impact on
9 | student outcomes? If yes, in what way? If no, why do X X X X - X X - - Impact
you think it is not having an impact?

Please discuss any difference in the impact of the
Military Student Identifier on student outcomes based
101 on whether the student is in general education vs. in ) 2 ) ) 2 ) (X) ) ) [

special education/has a disability.

" Have you encountered any barriers in the ) ) X X ) ) ) ) ) Barriers
implementation of the Military Student identifier?

Do families encounter any real or perceived barriers to
12 | identifying as military families or to using Military - X - - - - X - - Barriers
Student Identifier data?

Are there any real or perceived barriers to identifying as
13 military faml!lgs or.to using M|I|tary.SFudent Iqentmer ) X ) ) X ) (X) ) ) Barriers
data for families with children receiving special

education services or with a disability?

Can you think of anything that could be done to improve
14  the Military Student Identifier itself or how it is X X X X X X X X(*) - Improvement
implemented?

Appendix — Semi-structured Interview Questions | 75



Respondent Type

Purple Star School Program (or similar) b School | Teacher/ School Local MIC3 Question
for the 30 states with a program rogramyji>coo(fileacner cilere 5 ) Category
( program) Manager | Liaison | Counselor | Administrator AR el e Partner | Representative
Are you familiar with the [Purple Star School Program/
1 | name of that states’ military-friendly school designation X X X X X X X X(*) X Awareness
program]? If yes, what is the purpose of it?
2 Are school staff aware of it and its intention? (regardless : ) X X ) ) ) ) ) Awareness
of whether it is being implemented in the school)
- . o o
3 Are stug:lents/famll.le.s aware of it and its intention? If.so, X X ) ) X ) X ) ) Awareness
does it impact decision-making around school selection?
Is the Purple Star School (or other name) designation .
4 being implemented in your<{school/installation area>? X X X LSl
If yes: How is it being implemented in the school — what X X X :
5 are the components of the program? (1BI) (1BI) (1BI) Implementation
Overall, what components work well and what X X X X
6 components do not work well in the implementation of - (1B1) (1BI) (1BI) - - (1BI) - - Implementation
the Purple Star School (or other name) designation?
Are there any differences in the way specific components
of the Purple Star School (or other name) designation is X X
7 | implemented for students in special education/with a - (1BI) - - (1BI) - - - - Implementation
disability vs. in general education? If yes: Can you
please discuss the differences?
Is the Purple Star School (or other name) designation a .
8 ] - - X - - - - - - - Implementation
one-time application process, or do schools have to renew?
Is the Purple Star School (or other name) designation X X X X X
9 | having an impact on student outcomes? If yes, in what X (1B1) (IBI) (1B1) - (1B1) (IBI) - - Impact
way? If no, why do you think it is not having an impact?
Please discuss any difference in the impact of the
10 Purple Star School (or other name) designation on : X ) ) X ) (X) ) ) Impact
students based on whether the student is in general (1BI) (1BI) (IBI) P
education vs. in special education/with a disability.
Have you encountered any barriers with the
11 | implementation of the Purple Star School (or other - X X X - - - - - Barriers
name) designation?
Are there any real or perceived barriers to students X X
12  using the services/programs used to obtain the Purple - (1BI) - - - - (1BI) - - Barriers
Star School (or other name) designation?
Are there any real or perceived barriers to students who
13 receive special education services or have a disability ) X ) ) X ) (X) ) } Barriers
using the services/programs used to obtain the Purple (1BI) (1BI) (IBI)
Star School (or other name) designation?
Can you think of anything that could be done to improve
14 | the Purple Star School designation (or other name) itself X X X X X X X X(*) - Improvement
or how it is implemented?

Note. (IBI) indicates that a question will be asked if the Purple Star Schools Program (or similar) is being implemented in the school (i.e., for school personnel and parent) or in the installation area (i.e., for
school liaisons, EFMP-FS, command, local partners).

Appendix — Semi-structured Interview Questions | 76



Respondent Type
Installation-School/School District Partnership Question

(for all 50 states and DC) Program | School | Teacher/ Category

EFMP-FS | Command |Parent

Manager | Liaison | Counselor | Administrator Partner | Representative

Is there a formal partnership/relationship between the
1 installation and the schopl district/school (e.g., a formal ) X X X X X ) ) Implementation
arrangement for interaction between the two)? If yes:

Please describe.

Are there any informal relationships between the
installation and the school district/school (i.e., any

2 | informal information/resource sharing [e.g., educational - X X X X X - - Implementation
field trips to the installation that are not part of a formal
agreement))? If yes: Please describe.

If participant answers yes to question 1 or 2: Please
discuss any difference in the way installation-school .
3 - - . - - X - - X - - - - Implementation
partnerships are implemented for students in special

education/with a disability vs. in general education?

If participant answers yes to question 1 or 2: Is the
4 | partnership/relationship having an impact on student X X X X - X - - - Impact
outcomes? If yes, in what way?

If participant answers yes to question 1 or 2: Please
discuss any difference in the impact of formal or

5 | informal installation-LEA partnerships on students based - X - - X - - - - Impact
on whether the student is in general education vs. in
special education/with a disability.

Are there any barriers to implementing partnerships .
6 | between the installation and the school/school district? ) 2 %8 2 ) %8 ) ) ) RIS

If participant answers yes to question 1 or 2: Are there
7 any barriers to students benefiting from any part of a ) X ) ) ) ) ) ) ) Barriers
partnership between the installation and the school/

school district?

If participant answers yes to question 1 or 2: Are there
any barriers to children receiving special education

8 | services or who have a disability benefiting from any - X - - X - - - - Barriers
part of a partnership between the installation and the
school/school district?

Can you think of anything that could be done to improve

installation-school partnerships? X X X X ) X - - - Improvement

Note. MIC3 representatives were asked about formal and informal partnerships in one question.

Appendix — Semi-structured Interview Questions | 77



Respondent Type

Question

Program | School | Teacher/ N Category
Manager | Liaison | Counselor | Administrator AR S e Partner | Representative

Coordination

Please describe your working relationship with the
1 | EFMP Family Support Coordinator or case workers (for - X - - X - - - - Coordination
EFMP staff: the School Liaison).

To what extent does SLP and EFMP collaborate to serve
2 | families with children who are eligible for special - X - - X - - - - Coordination
education services or who have a disability?

How does EFMP (for EFMP staff: SLP) policy and/or
3 | implementation impact the work you do as a school - X - - X - - - - Coordination
liaison (for EFMP staff: an EFMP staff member)?

Respondent Type
. . Question
General/Concluding Questions Program | School | Teacher/ EFMP-ES | Command | Parent Category
Manager | Liaison | Counselor | Administrator Partner | Representative

What programs or initiatives are available for military- .
1 connected students that we have not discussed so far? X X X X X X X X X Implementation
2 If there are any pr(.)grams/lnltlatlves: What impact are X X X X X X X X ) Impact

they having on military-connected students?

What would you recommend to improve local or state
3 | policies related to supporting military-connected X X X X X X X X - Improvement

children?

Is there anything that we have not discussed that you
& think would be important for us to know? 28 2 2 28 2 2 2 28 24 Qi

Appendix — Semi-structured Interview Questions | 78



OFFICE OF THE UNDER SECRETARY OF DEFENSE
4000 DEFENSE PENTAGON
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20301-4000

PERSONNEL AND
READINESS

The Honorable Jack Reed

Chairman DEC 3 1 20%
Committee on Armed Services

United States Senate

Washington, DC 20510

Dear Mr. Chairman;

The Department’s response, in coordination with the Department of Homeland Security
and the States, to section 579 of the James M. Inhofe National Defense Authorization Act for
Fiscal Year 2023 (Public Law 117-263), “Recommendations for the Improvement of the
Military Interstate Children’s Compact,” is enclosed. Section 579 requires the Secretary of
Defense and the Secretary of Homeland Security, in consultation with the States through the
Defense-State Liaison Office, develop recommendations to improve the Military Interstate
Children’s Compact.

Thank you for your continued strong support for our Service members and their families.
I am sending a similar letter to the Committee on Armed Services of the House of

Representatives.
Sincerely,
Ashish S. Vazirani
Performing the Duties of the Under Secretary of
Defense for Personnel and Readiness
Enclosure:
As stated.
cc:

The Honorable Roger F. Wicker
Ranking Member



OFFICE OF THE UNDER SECRETARY OF DEFENSE
4000 DEFENSE PENTAGON
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20301-4000

PERSONNEL AND
READINESS

The Honorable Mike D. Rogers

Chairman 2024
Committee on Armed Services DEC 31

U.S. House of Representatives

Washington, DC 20515

Dear Mr. Chairman:

The Department’s response, in coordination with the Department of Homeland Security
and the States, to section 579 of the James M. Inhofe National Defense Authorization Act for
Fiscal Year 2023 (Public Law 117-263), “Recommendations for the Improvement of the
Military Interstate Children’s Compact,” is enclosed. Section 579 requires the Secretary of
Defense and the Secretary of Homeland Security, in consultation with the States through the
Defense-State Liaison Office, develop recommendations to improve the Military Interstate
Children’s Compact.

Thank you for your continued strong support for our Service members and their families.
I am sending a similar letter to the Committee on Armed Services of the Senate.

Sincerely,

Ul

Ashish S. Vazirani
Performing the Duties of the Under Secretary of
Defense for Personnel and Readiness

Enclosure:
As stated.

cc:
The Honorable Adam Smith
Ranking Member



Report to the Committees on Armed Services of
the Senate and the House of Representatives, and
to the States

Recommendations to Improve the Military
Interstate Children’s Compact

December 2024

The estimated cost of this report for the Department of Defense is approximately $13,000 in Fiscal Years
2023 —2024. This includes $0 in expenses and $13,000 in DoD labor.
Generated on 2024Aug02 RefID: F-8D08F9B



INTRODUCTION

Section 579 of the James M. Inhofe National Defense Authorization Act (NDAA) for
Fiscal Year (FY) 2023 (Public Law 117-263) requires the Secretary of Defense and the
Secretary of Homeland Security, in consultation with the States through the Defense-State
Liaison Office (DSLO), to develop recommendations for the Committees on Armed Services of
the Senate and the House of Representatives, and the States, to improve the Military Interstate
Children’s Compact, also called the Interstate Compact on Educational Opportunity for Military
Children (the Compact). The report should include the following three considerations:

(1) identify of any barriers—

(A) to the ability of a parent of a transferring military-connected child to
enroll the child, in advance, in an elementary or secondary school in the State
in which the child is transferring, without requiring the parent or child to be
physically present in the State; and

(B) to the ability of a transferring military-connected child who receives
special education services to gain access to such services and related supports
in the State to which the child transfers within the timeframes required under
the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (20 U.S.C. § 1400 et seq.);

(2) consider the feasibility and advisability of—

(A) tracking and reporting the number of families who use advanced
enrollment in States that offer advance enrollment to military-connected
children;

(B) States clarifying in legislation that eligibility for advanced enrollment
requires only written evidence of a permanent change of station order, and
does not require a parent of a military-connected child to produce a rental
agreement or mortgage statement; and

(C) the Secretary of Defense, in coordination with the Military Interstate
Children’s Compact, developing a letter or other memorandum that military
families may present to local educational agencies that outlines the protections
afforded to military-connected children by the Military Interstate Children’s
Compact.

(3) identify any other actions that may be taken by the States (acting together
or separately) to improve the Military Interstate Children’s Compact.

DSLO focuses on improving the economic well-being and quality of life for military
members and their families by assisting State officials in making policy changes on various
issues, including the education of military-connected students (MCS).



RESEARCH AND RELATED INFORMATION USED TO
INFORM REPORT

Summary

DSLO relied on the following five resources for this report, described below. In addition,
the Appendix has supplementary background information that may clarify the scope of these
programs.

Evaluation of State Implementation of Four State Policy Initiatives for MCS

In April 2022, DSLO, in collaboration with the Clearinghouse for Military Family
Readiness at Pennsylvania State University (the Clearinghouse), initiated a project titled,
“Evaluation of State Implementation of Supportive Policies to Improve Educational Experiences
and Achievement for K-12 Military Children” (SPEAK), to examine the implementation of four
State-level policy initiatives, as well as other types of policies and programs, intended to support
MCS. The initiatives examined were Advance Enrollment (AE), the Interstate Compact on
Educational Opportunity for Military Children (the Compact), the Military Student Identifier
(MSI), and the Purple Star Schools Program or equivalent. The Clearinghouse employed a three-
part approach to its investigation:

In Phase I of the SPEAK project, the Clearinghouse conducted a comprehensive literature
review, spanning 20 years, related to educational outcomes of MCS and found very little
research or evaluation work related to these four initiatives. This literature review was published
in July 2022.!

In Phase II of the SPEAK project, the Clearinghouse conducted a data extraction of State
education agency websites to assess how each of the four initiatives was implemented at the
State level by examining the legislative and regulatory requirements of the policies. This
assessment found variability across States regarding their adoption of the initiatives,
applicability, definitions, and how the initiatives were enacted to impact the educational
experiences of MCS. This research was published in June 2023.?

Finally, in May 2024, the Clearinghouse completed Phase III of the SPEAK project?,
consisting of interviews of stakeholders with national, State, and local perspectives on

! Karre, Jennifer K. PhD, and Daniel F. Perkins PhD. “Military-Connected Students’ Educational Success.”
Clearinghouse for Military Readiness at Penn State University, July 21, 2022.
https://militaryfamilies.psu.edu/resources/publications/view/military-connected-students-educational-success/.
2 Karre, Jennifer K. PhD, Kristin K. Brawley, Meghan Baker, Keith Aronson PhD, and Daniel F. Perkins PhD.
“State Implementation of Four Initiatives to Support Military-Connected Students.” Clearinghouse for Military
Readiness, June 13, 2023. https://militaryfamilies.psu.edu/resources/publications/view/state-implementation-of-four-
initiatives-to-support-military-connected-students/.

3 Karre, Jennifer L. PhD, Kristin K. Brawley, Cameron Richardson PhD, and Daniel F. Perkins PhD. “An
Implementation Evaluation of Four Initiative Intended to Support Military-Connected Children’s Educational
Success.” Clearinghouse for Military Readiness, May 10, 2024.
https://download.militaryonesource.mil/StatePolicy/pdfs/PennState-SPEAK.pdf.



implementation of these initiatives and programs. A total of 154 interviews were conducted
across 30 States. Those 30 States host 82 percent of military installations in the 50 States and
District of Columbia and 88 percent of MCS in the country. Department of Defense (DoD)-
affiliated participants were connected with all six branches of the U.S. Armed Forces. The
participants included Military Service headquarters personnel, installation commanders, School
Liaison Program (SLP)* and Exceptional Family Member Program (EFMP)? personnel, school
personnel in the installation area, parents who are Service members or spouses of Service
members assigned to the installation, local partners identified by installation personnel, and
Military Interstate Children’s Compact Commission (MIC3)° representatives. The questions
focused on awareness, implementation, impact, barriers, improvements, and coordination of
services related to all four State initiatives aimed at supporting MCS.

A considerable number of SLP personnel (30 percent) participated in this evaluation,
adding significant value to the project. The SLP offers various services and resources to support
students, parents, installation leadership, schools, and the surrounding community. School
liaisons are located at each installation and serve as the primary point of contact for grades pre-K
through 12 for education-related matters. They inform parents about local schools, graduation
requirements, afterschool programs, and homeschooling. By working with these stakeholders,
the SLP builds a support network to provide the best possible education experience for military-
connected children and youth worldwide.

The findings of the final Clearinghouse SPEAK report, which consolidates results from
all three Phases of the project, are being utilized to respond to section 579 of the NDAA for FY
2023, to identify any gaps in policy implementation at the State-level, and to inform future
DSLO State policy priorities and other DoD efforts to continue improving educational
opportunities and outcomes for MCS.

Supplemental Data Report on Barriers to MCS Access to Advance Enrollment and
Special Education Services

AE

AE is an initiative allowing military parents to enroll their children in a public school
based on orders to the State, as opposed to traditional means of establishing residency
(e.g., proof of lease or mortgage statement).” At the time of this report, 41 States had enacted
AE policies.

In 2023, the Clearinghouse provided a supplemental report using data obtained through
interviews conducted through the SPEAK study to inform our response to Congress regarding

4 “School Liaison Program.” Military One Source. June 15, 2023.
https://www.militaryonesource.mil/benefits/school-liaison-program/.

510 U.S.C. § 1781c. https://www.govinfo.gov/app/details/USCODE-2023-title10/USCODE-2023-title10-subtitle A-
partll-chap88-subchapl-sec1781c.

6 “Military Interstate Children’s Compact Commission.” Accessed August 21, 2024. https://mic3.net/background/.

7 «“Advance Enrollment.” Military State Policy Source. October 1, 2023.
https://statepolicy.militaryonesource.mil/emeritus-status-tracker/advance-enrollment.



MCS access to AE. This 2023 Clearinghouse Supplemental Data Report® concluded, “potential
barriers to the ability of a parent of a transferring military-connected child to enroll the child, in
advance, without requiring the parent or child to be physically present in the state were identified
and fall into the following categories™:

1. Awareness: Of the 27 school liaisons who discussed the presence or absence of barriers to
the use or implementation of AE, 19 (70 percent) indicated there were barriers. Of the 19
who affirmed the presence of barriers, 5 (26 percent) discussed barriers related to parents’
unrealistic expectations, lack of school awareness, and school liaisons’ lack of knowledge of
families coming to and leaving the installation. Moreover, 5 of the 21 School Liaisons
(24 percent) who discussed ideas for improvement mentioned increasing school awareness of
AE or school liaison knowledge of incoming and outgoing students. In addition, 50 percent
of program managers/analysts who discussed ideas for improvement of AE mentioned
increasing school awareness.

Note, of all participants included within the referenced Clearinghouse SPEAK Phase II1
report, military parents were identified as the participant group with the least awareness of
AE. Of the 148 participants who lived in States with AE, 127 (86 percent) were aware of
AE, and 21 (14 percent) were not. Parents self-reported the lowest level of awareness

(70 percent) of any of the participant groups, “...Of the participants who discussed family
awareness of AE, 41% believed that most families know what AE is, 37% reported that some
families know or there were caveats to their awareness. Twenty-two percent reported that
many families are not aware of AE.”

2. Home Address: School liaisons discussed barriers related to the student’s home address.
Eleven of the 19 (58 percent) school liaisons who indicated there are barriers associated with
AE discussed address-related barriers, specifically that school enrollment was based on or
required a physical address. In addition, issues related to the student’s home address were
discussed by the program managers/analysts and MIC3 State commissioners.

3. Consistency: Three of the 21 School Liaisons (14 percent) who discussed ideas for
improvement related to AE discussed a lack of consistency across States and/or policy
vagueness. Program managers/analysts also discussed challenges related to consistency
when discussing barriers and areas for improvement.

4. Funding, Support, and Enforcement: One school liaison discussed wanting more
enforcement and support by the State. In addition, one program manager/analyst discussed
the need for funding to implement the initiative.

5. Technology-based Challenges and Opportunities for Improvement: Two of the 21
school liaisons (10 percent) who discussed ideas for improvement to AE and one program
manager/analyst discussed potential improvements facilitated by technology.

8 Karre, J., Richardson, C., & Perkins, D. (2023). SPEAK Military Children Data to Inform Congressional Report:
Sec. 579 FY 2023 NDAA. Recommendations for the Improvement of the Military Interstate Children’s Compact.



6. School and District-specific Issues: Three of the 19 school liaisons (16 percent) who
discussed barriers to the use and implementation of AE discussed school- or district-specific
issues. Specific issues are noted below.

“Schools push back saying it is special treatment for military students; for example, corporate
families also transition.” (school liaison)

“Enrollment and registration for classes are different processes. Schools are shut down
during the summer, so staff are not available to help military families then.” (school liaison)

Special Education Services

This report also concluded there were additional barriers to MCS receiving special
education services under the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) (20 U.S.C.
§ 1400 et seq.).’ The barriers were related to a lack of services, slow document transfer
processes, and restrictions to open enrollment policies.

e Lack of services/resources:
- “The special education department says they don't have the services required.” (school
liaison)
“[State] does not offer [specific type of] therapy.” (school liaison)
“Resources are up to 300 miles away.” (school liaison)
e Slow document transfers:
- “Still have families who don’t have copies of IEPs, that creates problems during
enrollment.” (school liaison)
- “Documentation not always transferred by losing district in timely manner or hand
carried by parents.” (school liaison)

e Restrictions in open enrollment:

- “No out-of-district [open enrollment/school choice] transfers [for students with IEPs or
504 Plans].” (school liaison)

See the Appendix for additional discussion of AE and the SLP.

% Congressional Research Service, The Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA), Part B: Key Statutory
and Regulatory Provisions R41833 (Washington, D.C.: Aug.29, 2019).



Vanderbilt University: Examination of MIC3 Implementation Practices

A recent quality improvement research study published by Vanderbilt University

examined the implementation of the Compact by the MIC3.!° For additional background
information on the Compact and the MIC3, see the Appendix. The study evaluated how the
organization defined and measured MIC3 success and what actions would improve
commissioners’ efficacy. Commissioners representing various military-populated States
completed a series of surveys and semi-structured interviews. This project revealed the
following six key findings:

1.

2.

Connectivity and communication with State councils varies from State to State.

Promising practices are not scaled to individual States.

Commissioners rely on support from the national headquarters.

Partnerships make a positive impact on commissioner efficacy.

The Commission does not have a unified definition or measurement tool of success.

State commissioners use family feedback and a lack of stakeholder requests as indicators of

success. A lack of stakeholder requests may be related to lack of knowledge of the compact,
not an indicator of success.

The report also included the following ten recommendations:

1.

2.

Develop a Compact success measurement tool to be utilized in each State.

Create a formalized plan, scaled across States, to take the place of the uncertainty and lack of
feedback.

Gather data to answer the implementation question. No longer rely on comments from
families or a lack of requests or complaints to understand if what they are doing makes an
impact.

Require formalized data collection, utilized in each State to measure success and mastery of
compact implementation.

Provide feedback to individual commissioners by utilizing a formalized performance
measure.

Partner with other military support organizations and initiatives to assist commissioners in
understanding how other advocates are successful.

10 Cogpill, Jennifer PhD. "Exploring the Military Interstate Children's Compact Commission's Implementation
Practices to Advocate for Military Children." Vanderbilt University, August 10, 2022.
http://hdl.handle.net/1803/17700.



7. Develop a mentorship program between commissioners of same-tiered States with similar
military populations.

8. Develop a formalized procedure for each State council’s interaction with the MIC3 and each
State’s department of education.

9. Develop a relationship with military senior leadership in professional development courses
such as the Sergeant Major Academy, the Senior Leadership Development Seminar, and the
Battalion and Brigade Leadership Courses.

10. Create military spouse opportunities within the MIC3 to learn more about the Compact and
to advocate to commissioners.

Supplemental Literature Review: Barriers to MCS Access to Special Education
Services

DSLO also conducted a review of IDEA,!'! Government reports, and literature to identify
barriers to MCS’ ability to access special education and related services. The analysis resulted in
the identification of the following barriers:

e The inability to initiate processes prior to moving to the new location can delay the process to
define and implement services.

e State and Federal educational systems were not initially built with the high mobility of the
military family in mind.

e Military families moving into a new jurisdiction may experience inconsistencies in the
implementation of special education services because Federal law allows States some
flexibility in establishing eligibility criteria for such services. '

e Individual State policies and procedures to ensure all children with disabilities who are
residing in the State are identified, referred to in statute as “child find,” can delay or prevent
a child from receiving educational support. '

e There is a lack of understanding of the needs of military families requiring early intervention
and other special needs services and the ability/effectiveness of providers to support their
needs.'* Additionally, there is a need to better understand the needs and experiences of
IDEA Part C/early intervention professionals who serve military families.

! Congressional Research Service, The Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA), Part B: Key Statutory
and Regulatory Provisions R41833 (Washington, D.C.: Aug.29, 2019).

12 GAO, Special Education — DoD Programs and Services for Military-Dependent Students with Disabilities, GAO-
22-105015 (Washington, D.C.: May 19, 2022), https://www.gao.gov/products/gao-22-105015.

13 GAO, Military Personnel: DOD Should Improve Its Oversight of the Exceptional Family Member Program,
GAO-18-348 (Washington, D.C.: May 8, 2018), https://www.gao.gov/products/gao-18-348.

14 Sands, et al. Military families with young children with disabilities: Families’ and providers’ perceptions. Early
Childhood Research Quarterly, Volume 64, 3rd Quarter 2023, Pages 61-71 (2023),
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0885200623000133.



¢ Incomplete evaluations and eligibility determinations for highly mobile children delay
eligible children from receiving free and appropriate education. '

e  When some highly mobile children change school districts after the previous school district
(academic year) began but have not yet completed the evaluation, the new school district
might postpone the evaluation until the new school district’s response to the intervention
process has been implemented. '

e When some children transfer to a new school district during the summer, the new school
district might not provide those children with extended school year services as comparable
services because the new school district believes its obligation to provide comparable
services is limited to those services the child would receive during the normal school year.!”

e Students are not eligible to receive special education or related services under IDEA if they
do not meet two required criteria: be classified as having one of the several eligible
categories of disabilities; and require special education and related services because of the
identified disability to benefit from public education.'® Parents could perceive this as a
barrier to receiving services if they disagree with the determination of the school district.

Information Provided by MIC3

In response to statutory requirement to work in “consultation with the states,” DSLO
requested the MIC3 provide a response to a variety of questions related to this congressional
requirement. The MIC3 noted the following key points in its April 2024 response letter'®:

e The Compact is a demonstration of State sovereignty and a collaborative effort among States
to ensure uniform treatment of military children in education.

e Interstate compacts provide a State-developed structure for collaborative action while
building consensus among the States and evolving to new and increased demands over time.

e Interstate compacts are always limited to the specific terms set forth in the enabling
legislation enacted by member States.

e As it relates to the ability to make changes to the Compact, the MIC3 letter was notable for
these statements as it relates to rulemaking functions and limitations:

15 Michael K. Yudin and Melody Musgrove, Letter to State Directors of Special Education from the U.S.
Department of Education Office of Special Education and Rehabilitation Services (Washington, D.C., 2013).

16 Ibid.

17 1bid.

18 Congressional Research Service, The Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA), Part B: Key Statutory
and Regulatory Provisions R41833 (Washington, D.C.: Aug.29, 2019).

19 Military Interstate Children’s Compact Commission Ltr Dated 22 April 2024
https://download.militaryonesource.mil/StatePolicy/pdfs/1b-2024.4.22-Itr-re-NDAA-MIC3.pdf.



“With regard to expanding the scope of the Compact, the terms of the statute states that
no amendment to the Compact will be effective or binding on the member states until it is
universally adopted by statute in every member state. Since, as noted above, the
Compact cannot be expanded through rulemaking, adding additional areas or objectives
to the Compact’s functions would require amending the Compact statute in every
member state. Not only is this a prohibitively lengthy and costly process, but the
Commission has also already considered the issue of unanimous statutory amendment to
expand scope. After extensive discussion and debate, ultimately it was directed by
affirmative vote of the Commission in 2022 that it declines to “reopen” the Compact
statutes in the member states in order to expand its scope.”

e Identified barriers related to changing the Compact to address AE and special education
services for military-connected children:

- AE: “As outlined above, because AE was not part of the original model statute adopted
by the fifty states and the District of Columbia, unanimous consent by the member states
is required. This approval is not forthcoming, as noted above. Further, every member
state must legislatively modify the statute to implement such an initiative. This is not
feasible.”

- Special Education: “As the IDEA is a federal law and outside of the Commission’s
statutory mandate, further initiatives regarding this objective (to the extent not already
addressed by the Compact and the IDEA in conjunction) are more appropriately directed
to the US Department of Education.”

e While the MIC3 states it welcomes feedback and suggestions for improvement, the letter
noted recommendations are advisory and require unanimity among member States for
implementation.

(1)(A) IDENTIFICATION OF BARRIERS TO MCS’ ABILITY TO
ENROLL IN ADVANCE

Summary

As previously detailed, the Clearinghouse SPEAK Supplemental Data Report®® identified
several barriers to MCS access to AE policies related to awareness, home address, consistency,
funding and enforcement, technology, and school and district-specific issues.

Additionally, based on the previously referenced MIC3 response?!, the Department
acknowledges improving the Compact to enhance services to military-connected children related
to AE is not feasible as the Compact does not address the timing of enrollment. No amendment

20 Karre, J., Richardson, C., & Perkins, D. (2023). SPEAK Military Children Data to Inform Congressional Report:
Sec. 579 FY 2023 NDAA. Recommendations for the Improvement of the Military Interstate Children’s Compact.

21 Military Interstate Compact Commission Ltr Dated 22 April 2024
https://download.militaryonesource.mil/StatePolicy/pdfs/1b-2024.4.22-Itr-re-NDAA-MIC3.pdf.



to the Compact will be effective or binding on the member States until it is universally adopted
by statute in every member State. In addition, if the Compact does not address a particular area
of concern, the rulemaking power cannot be used to expand or add to the scope of the Compact.

e If State education agencies (SEAs) and local education agencies (LEAs) included
standardized and user-friendly information for military families on available AE provisions
in State policy, it would increase awareness of AE. See the Appendix for a discussion of AE,
the SLP, and the EFMP.

e If States were to articulate who is eligible for AE, the benefits afforded to military families,
and requirements for military families with regard to AE and this information was easily
accessible to military families (e.g., on an education department webpage designated for
military families), it would also increase awareness of AE among military families. Families
should not need previous knowledge of the initiative to find the information.

o If States added specificity via legislative changes or education department regulations
(e.g., specifying who and what types of programs and activities are eligible for advance
enrollment), variability in implementation would be reduced.

(1)(B) IDENTIFICATION OF BARRIERS TO MCS ACCESS TO
TIMELY PROVISION OF SPECIAL EDUCATION SERVICES
AND RELATED SUPPORTS UPON TRANSFER

Summary

DSLO evaluated barriers to the ability of a transferring military-connected child who
receives special education services to gain access to such services and related supports in the
State to which the child transfers within the timeframes required under the IDEA. The analysis
of both academic and non-academic research identified 10 applicable barriers. Those are
outlined in the research section of this congressional report.

As detailed in the research section of this congressional response, the 2023 Clearinghouse
Supplemental Data Report* also concluded that there were additional barriers for MCS
receiving services as part of an IEP or 504 Plan. The barriers were related to a lack of services,
slow document transfer processes, and restrictions to open enrollment/school choice.

The Compact defers to relevant Federal statutes, including the IDEA, when it comes to
transferring MCS who receive special education services gaining access to such services.??

For similar reasons provided in the AE response, improving the Compact to enhance
services to MCS receiving special education services does not appear to be feasible as no

22 Karre, J., Richardson, C., & Perkins, D. (2023). SPEAK Military Children Data to Inform Congressional Report:
Sec. 579 FY 2023 NDAA. Recommendations for the Improvement of the Military Interstate Children’s Compact.

2 “IDEA Compact Related Guidance.” Military Interstate Children's Compact Commission, June 13, 2023.
https://mic3.net/commr-resource/idea-compact-related-guidance/.

10



amendment to the Compact will be effective or binding on the member States until it is adopted
by statute in every member State.

e States could:

- Implement DSLO’s policy priority entitled, “State Support for Military Families with
Special Education Needs;”** and

- Review and implement guidance provided within the U.S. Department of Education
letters provided to SEAs in February 2022, November 2022, and November 2023.%

(2)(A) CONSIDERATION OF FEASIBILITY AND
ADVISABILITY TRACKING AND REPORTING OF THE
NUMBER OF MILITARY FAMILIES USING ADVANCE
ENROLLMENT

Summary

To consider the feasibility and advisability of tracking and reporting the number of
families who use AE in States offering AE to MCS, it is necessary to identify them in statewide
longitudinal data systems. The MSI provision to track MCS in the public education system,
added to the Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA),*° established a requirement for LEAs and
public charter schools to include specific demographic questions in their enrollment process to
identify MCS.?’

According to the 2022 Clearinghouse SPEAK Phase I report, “There is no research on the
implementation or effectiveness of this MSI initiative. Although the law only requires data
collection related to active-duty families, some states also identify National Guard families,
Reserve families, surviving families, families who are experiencing deployments, or veteran
families. Under this law, military-connected student status is reported by the parent.”?

24 “State Support for Military Families With Special Education Needs.” Military State Policy Source. Defense State
Liaison Office, October 1, 2023. https://statepolicy.militaryonesource.mil/priorities/state-support-for-military-
families-with-special-education-needs.

25 “Key Policy Letters Signed by the Education Secretary or Deputy Secretary.” Department of Education, February
9, 2022. https://www2.ed.gov/policy/elsec/guid/secletter/220209.html; “Letter to State Directors of Special
Education on Ensuring a High-Quality Education for Highly Mobile Children. OSEP Policy Support 22-02.”
Department of Education, November 10, 2022. https://sites.ed.gov/idea/idea-files/letter-to-state-directos-of-special-
education-on-ensuring-a-high-quality-education-for-highly-mobile-children-november-10-2022/; “State Support for
Military Families With Special Education Needs.” Military State Policy Source. Defense State Liaison Office,
October 1, 2023. https://statepolicy.militaryonesource.mil/priorities/state-support-for-military-families-with-special-
education-needs.

26 “pUBLIC LAW 114-95—DEC. 10, 2015,” Congress.gov. August 21, 2024,
https://www.congress.gov/114/plaws/publ95/PLAW-114publ95.pdf.

27 Elementary and Secondary Education Act, 20 U.S.C. §6311(h)(1)(C)(ii) (2015).

28 Karre, Jennifer K. PhD, and Daniel F. Perkins PhD. “Military-Connected Students’ Educational Success.”
Clearinghouse for Military Readiness at Penn State University, July 21, 2022.
https://militaryfamilies.psu.edu/resources/publications/view/military-connected-students-educational-success/.

11



Additionally, the 2023 Clearinghouse Phase II and III reports found a lack of consistent
implementation of the MSI across all 50 States and the District of Columbia. See the Appendix
for more information about this report’s findings on State implementation of the MSI.

Until the MSI is effectively implemented across all SEAs and LEAs, and consistently
reported to the States and the Department of Education, it is not feasible to collect reliable
information about MCS, including military children with special education needs in public
schools. Additionally, to track military family use of AE policies, the ESSA would need to be
amended to require States to include that data point within the required elements of the MSI.

(2)(B) CONSIDERATION OF FEASIBILITY AND
ADVISABILITY CLARIFYING ADVANCE ENROLLMENT
REQUIREMENTS IN STATE LEGISLATION

Summary

To consider the feasibility and advisability of individual States clarifying in statute via
legislation that eligibility for AE requires only written evidence of a permanent change of station
and does not require a parent of an MCS to produce a rental agreement or mortgage statement,
DSLO looked to the Clearinghouse SPEAK Phase II Data Extraction Report? findings.

Regarding the feasibility, States can amend statutes through the State legislative process
to clarify eligibility requirements for AE. However, the State legislative process can be
complex, time-intensive (e.g., some State legislatures do not meet annually) and does not
guarantee passage of policy changes. At the time of the Clearinghouse Data Extraction Report,
38 States had “passed legislation allowing military dependent children to enroll in school based
on military orders as opposed to traditional proof of residency. Twenty-two of those States
(58 percent of those with AE legislation) explicitly allow electronic or remote registration or
enrollment, and six States (16 percent) specify parents, legal guardians, and students who do not
need to physically appear to register or enroll. Nineteen States (50 percent) include language
specifically stating students may use military orders to establish residency, or when in possession
of military orders, students are considered residents or are in compliance with residency
requirements. However, for 14 of those 19 States, this established residency is temporary, and
additional proof of residency is required at a later date.”>°

Additionally, as stated within the previously referenced April 2024 MIC3 letter:
“As outlined above, because Advance Enrollment was not part of the original model

statute adopted by the fifty states and the District of Columbia, unanimous consent by the
member states is required. This approval is not forthcoming, as noted above. Further,

2 Karre, Jennifer K. PhD, Kristin K. Brawley, Meghan Baker, Keith Aronson PhD, and Daniel F. Perkins PhD.
“State Implementation of Four Initiatives to Support Military-Connected Students.” Clearinghouse for Military
Readiness, June 13, 2023. https://militaryfamilies.psu.edu/resources/publications/view/state-implementation-of-four-
initiatives-to-support-military-connected-students/.

30 Ibid.

12



every member state must legislatively modify the statute to implement such an initiative.
This is not feasible.”

o If States that have not implemented AE were to consider enacting legislation or policy,
ensuring that MCS with special education needs are explicitly included in statute as eligible
students would improve clarity for families and schools regarding AE.

e [tis advisable for States with AE policies to clarify that:
- The provisions of the policy apply to MCS with special education needs; and

- Remote enrollment must be allowed (i.e., military families do not need to appear in
person at the time of enrollment/registration); and

- Military orders or other proof of military transfer into the State may be used in lieu of
other residency requirements until a specified timeframe upon arrival.

e DSLO is available to provide best practice examples to States wishing to clarify their current
statutes to this end. States can also review the AE portion of the DSLO website to review
examples from other States.>!

(2)(C) CONSIDERATION OF FEASIBILITY AND
ADVISABILITY DEVELOPING A MIC3 LETTER OR OTHER
MEMORANDUM FOR MILITARY FAMILIES

Summary

The Clearinghouse SPEAK Phase I1I report®? summarizes findings relevant to the
consideration of the feasibility and advisability of the Secretary of Defense, in coordination with
the MIC3, developing a letter or other memorandum military families may present to local
educational agencies outlining the protections afforded to MCS by the Compact:

“There is evidence of a lack of awareness and experience among at least some school
personnel and some military families regarding the existence or scope of the Compact.”

“[T]here is also evidence of a positive impact of the Compact when there is awareness of
the Compact and when it is implemented.”

In its response to DSLO, the MIC3 also made the following statement in support of the
development and provision of a letter:

31 «“Advance Enrollment.” Military State Policy Source. Defense-State Liaison Office, October 1, 2023.
https://statepolicy.militaryonesource.mil/emeritus-status-tracker/advance-enrollment.

32 Karre, J., Brawley, K., Richardson, C., & Perkins, D. (2024, May). An Implementation Evaluation of Four
Initiatives Intended to Support Military-Connected Children’s Educational Success. Clearinghouse For Military
Family Readiness. https://download.militaryonesource.mil/StatePolicy/pdfs/PennState-SPEAK .pdf.

13



“It is noted that the Commission supports the provision of a letter or memorandum of
support to military families to assist them as they transition from state to state. The
Commission would welcome the opportunity to develop a marketing and communication
plan with the USDOD to educate parents, inform commanders, and build awareness of
the Compact across services.”?

The DoD and MIC3 National Office are currently collaborating on such a letter.

Recommendation

e The Department has no recommendation as this action is in progress.

(3) ADDITIONAL STATE ACTIONS TO IMPROVE THE
COMPACT

Summary

The development and execution of education policy for MCS has many responsible
entities, which often have disjointed and unclear connection points. Given that education policy
is determined by local, State, and Federal authorities for all children, adding additional layers of
authority for military children through the DoD and the MIC3 cannot be achieved without
clarifying roles and responsibilities and developing long-term goals and strategies for
stakeholders to work together. There is currently no entity charged with being that convening
authority.

Multiple participants in the Clearinghouse SPEAK Phase III study noted the lack of
flexibility of the Compact. Some participants expressed concerns about making changes to the
Compact, which they fear may result in States opting out, thereby reducing the impact the
Compact is likely having on military families. Others noted when the Compact was created,
flexibility [to make changes to the model language or rules] was not built in to address emerging
issues experienced by military families. See the Appendix for additional discussion regarding
the flexibility of the Compact.

In acknowledgement of the very targeted scope of the Compact and limitations in terms
of its ability to make substantive changes, States, acting as members of the Compact, can take
actions to ensure a variety of improvements to the Compact are undertaken, consistent with the
findings and recommendations contained within the final Clearinghouse SPEAK report.

Enact State Legislation External to Compact Statute
e States could consider the benefits of implementing the Arkansas model for a statute outside

the Compact, as codified in Chapter 28 of Title 6 of the Arkansas Code (A.C.A. § 6-28),
entitled, “Arkansas Military Child School Transitions Act of 2021.” This approach creates

33 Military Interstate Compact Commission Ltr Dated 22 April 2024
https://download.militaryonesource.mil/StatePolicy/pdfs/1b-2024.4.22-Itr-re-NDAA-MIC3.pdf.

14



legislation outside the Compact, a concept endorsed by the MIC3.3* The Arkansas statute
operationalizes the Compact at the State level and enhances MCS educational experience in
the State, to include providing additional State-specific supports and data-collection
requirements. Specifically:

- Creating a unique requirement for Arkansas schools to designate a Military Family
Education Coordinator in any school with twenty or more military students enrolled.

- Significantly expanding the definition of who is eligible for support to include:
(1) members of the active duty and activated Reserve Components of the Uniformed
Services; (2) members or veterans of the Uniformed Services who were severely injured
in the line of duty and are medically discharged or retired for a period of 1 year following
the medical discharge or retirement; (3) members of the Uniformed Services who die
while on active duty or as a result of injuries sustained while on active duty for a period
of 1 year following the death; (4) dual status military technicians; and (5) traditional
members of the National Guard and Reserve Components of the U.S. Armed Forces who
are relocating to the State for employment or to serve as a member of an Arkansas-based
Reserve Component unit.

- Directing the State Board of Education to promulgate rules to implement the chapter,
ensuring both the Compact and the additional provisions are adhered to by local school

districts.

- Permitting enrollment in distance and digital education coursework for inbound
transitioning students.

- Creating the Arkansas Council of Military Children, with enhanced requirements
significantly above and beyond the requirements of the MIC3, to include requirements
for who sits on the council as well as how often the council meets.

- Allowing for AE and specifying enhanced transfer of educational records.

- Enhancing enrollment, placement, eligibility, and graduation processes.

- Providing for the adoption of and enforcement of administrative rules.

- Providing for the uniform collection and sharing of data between and among public
schools.

- Requiring specific data elements to be reported to the Arkansas Public School Computer
Network will help Arkansas to understand the number of MCS across the State.

34 “Statutory Language External to the Compact.” Military Interstate Children’s Compact Commission. October 1,
2023. https://mic3.net/wp-content/uploads/2022/11/Statutory-Language-External-to-the-Compact 2022.11.04.pdf.

15



- Directing the Arkansas Education Commissioner as responsible for the administration
and management of the State’s participation in the Compact.>’

While several other States have taken legislative actions outside the Compact, the
Arkansas model appears to be the most robust mechanism to increase flexibility, oversight,
accountability and consistency of the Compact and other supportive policies and programs for
MCS. By inserting implementation and oversight mechanisms into separate State codes,
Arkansas created the flexibility necessary to serve military families nearly 20 years after the
Compact was initially written while not modifying the State Compact statute. States can more
easily amend these new sections of code as necessary to improve their services to military
families without having to modify Compact statute language in all 50 States at once.

Improve Compact Implementation and Enforcement

e States, acting as members of the Compact, can enhance the Compact by implementing the
recommendations contained within the previously discussed Vanderbilt University research
36
report.

Increase Compact Consistency

e To increase the consistency of statutory language, States could work with MIC3 to assess
their Compact legislation to evaluate the alignment with the MIC3 model language and refine
the legislation accordingly. This could be particularly beneficial in those States where the
changes reduce the protection for military students compared to the model language.?’

e Utilizing existing MIC3 resources, individual States could improve LEA staff training,
specifically to ensure that the Compact is applied consistently both within a State and across
State boundaries.

e A promising practice to identify knowledge or implementation gaps is for States to conduct
monitoring, oversight, or randomly conducted surveys of parents and LEA and school
personnel.

e States can remedy administrative-related inconsistencies of States’ commissioners and
councils, as identified by the Vanderbilt University report,*® by considering how the selection

35 “Arkansas Military Child School Transitions Act of 2021.” Justia Law. October 1, 2023.
https://law.justia.com/codes/arkansas/title-6/subtitle-2/chapter-28/subchapter-1/section-6-28-103/.

36 Cogbill, Jennifer PhD. “Exploring the Military Interstate Children’s Compact Commission's Implementation
Practices to Advocate for Military Children.” Vanderbilt University, August 10, 2022.
http://hdl.handle.net/1803/17700.

37 Karre, J., Brawley, K., Baker, M., & Perkins, D. (2024, February). State Implementation of Four Initiatives to
Support Military Connected Students. Clearinghouse For Military Family Readiness.
https://schoolresources.militaryfamilies.psu.edu/about/research/view/state-implementation-of-four-initiatives-to-
support-military-connected-students/.

38 Cogbill, Jennifer PhD. "Exploring the Military Interstate Children's Compact Commission's Implementation
Practices to Advocate for Military Children." Vanderbilt University, August 10, 2022.
http://hdl.handle.net/1803/17700.

16



and implementation of the MIC3 State commissioner position (e.g., whether it is a paid
position or additional duty, the location of the commissioner within the education system)
may impact the execution of MIC3 commissioner duties.

Increase Funding, Compliance, Monitoring, and Enforcement

e If States implemented and enforced a more robust data collection policy to comply with the
Compact statute and provide critical information for military families, SEAs, and LEAs, all
might understand the impact of MCS transitions as they move with their families. This data
could be requested of each State department of education, pursuant to ESSA MSI
requirements. See the Appendix for additional discussion.

Issues with compliance, monitoring, and enforcement were another common theme
discussed by the participants in the Clearinghouse SPEAK Phase III interviews. Funding and
concerns about the adequacy of funding were discussed both in relation to compliance,
monitoring, and enforcement and as a stand-alone issue. There were also discussions centered
on compliance with the Compact, particularly related to extracurricular activities, special
education, and different testing requirements by States.

The previously referenced Vanderbilt University research® concluded:

“The Commission does not have a unified definition or measurement tool of success.
Each state operates independently but uses family feedback and lack of stakeholder
requests as an indicator. The MIC3 must develop a compact success measurement tool to
be utilized in each state. Creating a formalized plan, scaled across states, can take the
place of the uncertainty and a lack of feedback. To be able to tackle the overarching
concern, wondering if the legislation is effective, we need to be able to gather that data to
answer the question. The organization can no longer rely on passing comments from
families or lack of requests or complaints to understand if what they are doing makes an
impact. It requires formalized data collection, utilized in each state, to measure success
and mastery of compact implementation.”

Leverage Technology

e States could consider ensuring detailed information about the Compact is easily accessible to
military families (e.g., located on State education department and local school district
webpages for military families).

The Clearinghouse SPEAK Phase 111 report*’ noted concerns regarding awareness of the
Compact, stating that 69 percent discussed one or more barriers related to the Compact,
including lack of parent and school personnel awareness. Of those who discussed one or more
barriers, 20 percent discussed a lack of school awareness, and 23 percent noted a lack of parent
awareness as a challenge. Furthermore, of the parents who discussed specific barriers,

3 Cogbill, Jennifer PhD. “Exploring the Military Interstate Children’s Compact Commission’s Implementation
Practices to Advocate for Military Children.” Vanderbilt University, August 10, 2022.

40 Karre, Jennifer L. PhD, Kristin K. Brawley, Cameron Richardson PhD, and Daniel F. Perkins PhD. “An
Implementation Evaluation of Four Initiative Intended to Support Military-Connected Children’s Educational
Success.” Clearinghouse for Military Readiness, May 10, 2024.
https://download.militaryonesource.mil/StatePolicy/pdfs/PennState-SPEAK.pdf.

17



67 percent discussed a lack of knowledge among parents about the Compact. A recent military
service organization report stated:

“The majority (74%) of active-duty military families with at least one child enrolled in
grades K-12 report they do not know about the Interstate Compact on Educational
Opportunity for Military Children. However, those who have used the Interstate
Compact to advocate for their child report positive outcomes.”*!

Technology is one of the most effective ways to socialize the Compact with military
families.** Several participants in the Clearinghouse SPEAK Phase I1I study discussed ways that
technology could be leveraged to improve experiences for military families, particularly in an
age in which more people are utilizing online platforms like Zoom or Teams. MIC3 has taken
significant steps to increase training using technology, but this has not been seen consistently
across the States.

Increase Military Family Representation on Compact State Councils

e Virginia has included a military spouse on the Compact State council, which is consistent
with the DSLO priority entitled, “Military Community Representation on State Boards and
Councils.”® Other States could consider the benefits to be derived from increasing military
family representation on Compact State councils.

e Encourage MIC3 to enforce the requirement contained within the Compact model language
for State councils to designate a military family education liaison.

The final Clearinghouse SPEAK report highlighted the importance of the State councils
having connectivity within the State government and on committees influencing educational
opportunities in the States. Related, DSLO has identified the benefit of military family
representation at the State and national MIC3 level. Notably, Virginia was the first State to
include a military spouse as a representative on its MIC3 State council.

CONCLUSION

While making substantive changes to State Compact statutes is not feasible given its
framework, this congressional response proposes a variety of potential actions Federal and State
governments can take to improve State implementation of the Compact and MSI and increase
transferring MCS access to timely special education services and supportive State policies such
as AE.

41 Strong, J., Brooks, R., Blaadid, B., Howell, K., Jackson, A., Scott, A., Gloria, E., Hunt, K., Higgason, K., Moser,
J., Vasquez Maury, R., Linsner, R., Yih Harvie, J., & Brennan Nanni, M. (n.d.). Military Family Lifestyle Survey
2022 Comprehensive Report. Blue Star Families. https://bluestarfam.org/wp-
content/uploads/2023/03/BSF_MFLS_Spring23 Full Report Digital.pdf.

4242021 Demographics Profile of the Military Community.” Military One Source. November 25, 2022.
https://download.militaryonesource.mil/12038/MOS/Reports/2021-demographics-report.pdf.

43 “Military Community Representation on State Boards and Councils.” Military State Policy Source. October 1,
2023. https://statepolicy.militaryonesource.mil/priorities/military-community-representation-on-state-boards-and-
councils.

18



Appendix
Background

Interstate Compact on Educational Opportunity for Military Children

In 2006, the Office of the Under Secretary of Defense for Personnel and Readiness, in
cooperation with the Council of State Governments (CSG) and National Center for Interstate
Compacts, drafted the Compact to address the educational challenges transitioning children of
military families encountered. The following year, an advisory group led by the DSLO and CSG
finalized the model statute language, and by 2014, all 50 State legislatures and the District of
Columbia had adopted the Compact.

An interstate compact is a legally binding agreement between two or more States, similar
to a contract, designed to promote cooperative action among States and provide a widely
recognized and durable policy solution.** The MIC3, per the authorizing statutes in each State,
was created in 2008 and is the statutorily created administrative entity with responsibility to
administer the provisions of the Compact. Commission members include the 50 States, the
District of Columbia, and 6 ex officio representatives. The ex officio representatives include the
DoD and five non-profit organizations: the Military Child Education Coalition, the National
Military Family Association, the Military Impacted School Association, the National Federation
of State High School Associations, and Blue Star Families.

Compact Flexibility

By statute, the Compact cannot make substantive changes to the model language adopted
by all States without unanimous agreement among all member States. However, rulemaking
power is vested in MIC3 to clarify or augment current provisions.

A recent example of the MIC3 rulemaking process relates to the awarding of partial
credit for MCS. A longstanding issue for MCS is the fact that a child may transfer during the
school year and subsequently lose those credits if they did not finish the semester (or quarter).
For context, based on feedback received by the Joint Chiefs of Staff, OSD, and the Military
Services in a recent evaluation, this partial credit issue was determined to be the most important
issue for the DSLO to consider working with the States in FY 2026. Related legislation enacted
in California by Assembly Bill 365 (2017)* provides a framework for DSLO to engage with
States for potential policy changes to address the issue.

4 “National Center for Interstate Compacts.” National Center for Interstate Compacts, July 10, 2022.
https://compacts.csg.org/compacts-2/.

4 “Education Code Article 3. Sec 51225.2 Courses of Study.” California Legislative Information. October 1, 2023.
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=51225.2&lawCode=EDC.

19



Recently, the State of Nevada requested the MIC3 evaluate and issue an advisory opinion
on the issue of partial credit. The resulting advisory opinion*® states, “Despite citation to the
Compact’s provisions on placement flexibility, there was a lack of clarity as to whether the
compact would permit the local education agency to waive seat time requirements to remedy the
misalignment of semesters between the two districts to permit full award of course credit.”
Subsequently, the MIC3 proposed the following rule change to Sec 5.104 Placement

Flexibility*’:

(b) In the event that a student transfers to another state or school district and
there is misalignment with the secondary semesters, resulting in lost (Carnegie
unit) seat time and loss of course credit for the entire semester due to the lost seat
time, the receiving school has the flexibility to:

(1) provide the student with the missed coursework and waive the lost seat
time and/or

(2) use discretion to waive the lost seat time and award semester credit if
the student’s end of semester grade(s) demonstrate mastery.

In August 2024, after seeking and receiving feedback from the public and interested
stakeholders (to include various agencies and components of DoD), the MIC3 Rules Committee
discussed the proposed rule change and ultimately voted to “stand on the legal advisory #1-2024
and table the rules amendment for a year.” Consequently, the whole commission of MIC3 will
not consider the matter at its annual business meeting (ABM) in October 2024.

Compact Compliance, Monitoring, and Enforcement

In a February 2023 legal opinion*® written by the law firm EMWN Law at the request of
the MIC3, the question of data collection was discussed. The Commission’s previous rule on
data collection provided that:

(a) As required by the compact, and as specified by the operational procedures
and forms approved by the Commission, the States shall gather, maintain, and
report data regarding the transfer and enrollment of students who transfer from
one State LEA to another State LEA under this compact.

(b) Each State shall report to the Commission annually the number of students
transferred to an LEA from another State and received from another State’s LEA
in the previous year.

(c) Reports required under SEC. 2.102 (a) and (b) shall be received by the
Commission no later than June 30 of each year.

46 «“MIC3 Legal Advisory Placement Flexibility.” Military Interstate Children's Compact Commission. October 1,
2023. https://mic3.net/wp-content/uploads/2024/07/09-MIC3-Legal-Advisory-1-2024 Placement-Flexibility.pdf.
47 «“MIC3 2024 Annual Business Meeting Proposed Rules.” Military Interstate Children's Compact Commission.
October 1, 2023. https://mic3.net/2024-proposed-rules-and-amendments/.

48 EMWN Law Response Letter: https://mic3.net/wp-content/uploads/2024/04/1b-2024.4.22-1tr-re-NDAA-
MIC3.pdf.

20



Although only one State, Arkansas, had attempted to comply, this rule was aligned with
the Compact’s statutory requirement (Article XIL.I):

“The Interstate Commission shall collect standardized data concerning the educational
transition of the children of military families under this compact as directed through its
rules which shall specify the data to be collected, the means of collection and data
exchange and reporting requirements.”

Two questions were raised by the Commission and answered by the law firm:

“Question 1: Can the Commission repeal its own rule mandating the collection of data by
the member states when the Compact’s model language contains an identical provision?
Short Answer: Yes, the Commission can repeal this rule, provided that the correct
procedure is observed for doing so.

Question 2: Given that the model language requires the member states to collect certain
data regarding the movement of military children, can the Commission choose not to
enforce this requirement?

Short Answer: No, the Commission is bound by this statutory mandate; however, in this
case, the model language would allow the Commission to adopt a more flexible data
collection model.”

At its 2023 ABM, the MIC3 submitted a significant change to rule “Sec 2.102 Data
Collection and Reporting” to be considered by the Compact State commissioners. In a verbal
statement at the ABM, the DoD ex-officio voiced concerns that the rule change was not
consistent with Compact data collection requirements or MIC3’s legal opinion; and
recommended that MIC3 instead work with stakeholders to “determine what would make
capturing the data consistently and accurately possible.” Nonetheless, the rule change was
subsequently approved by a majority vote of commissioners.

The following changes to rule 2.102 Data Collection follow:

“(a) Asrequired by the compact, and as specified by the operational procedures and
forms approved by the Commission, the State shall gather, maintain, and report data
regarding the transfer and enrollment of students—whe-transferfrom-onestate EEAte

anotherstate LEA-under-this-compaet.
(b) Each State shall may report as determined by to the Commission annuatly the
number of students transferred to an LEA from another State’s and received from another

State’s LEA #-the-previeus—year.
(c) Reports that may be required under SEC. 2.102 (a) and (b) shall be received by the

Commission ne-later-thanJune-30-ofeach-year- in a manner and frequency determined by

the Commission.”*’

49 “Data Collection and Reporting.” Military Interstate Children’s Compact Commission. June 15, 2023.
https://mic3.net/wp-content/uploads/2023/06/R-2.102-Data-Collection-and-Reporting.pdf.

21



MSI

The MSI is a data point States are required to collect and include as part of each State’s
report card pursuant to ESSA.

In practice, this data has not been as useful as originally envisioned. Findings from the
Clearinghouse project indicated there is wide variability among States in terms of who is counted
in the MSI data. Parents are asked to voluntarily self-identify as a military family, and the
response options provided (e.g., active duty military, National Guard, surviving families, reserve,
veteran) are not consistent across States. In addition, researchers were unable to identify a
consistent definition for “military family” (e.g., active duty only; active duty, National Guard,
and Reserve). The differences in who is included in the counts of military families, combined
with the fact that achievement standards differ across States (Ji et al., 2021), mean the
interpretation of this data across States is not consistent and will differ. Furthermore, even when
States clearly define what military-connected means, researchers found it difficult to find school,
district, and State-level achievement data for MCS. Generally, the information was found by
searching the State education department website with terms such as “data dictionary,” “data
elements,” and “glossary,” as opposed to this information being linked to the data.>

Finally, House Report 117-397, pages 168-169, accompanying the NDAA for FY 2023,
requested the Secretary of Defense to submit a report examining the availability and utility of
data on military students, especially those with special needs. This report, authored by the
Department of Defense Education Activity, reviewed the current state of the MSI data element
and the extent to which the MSI data meets the standards in the ESSA and IDEA. The report
noted the following considerations:

e Require SEASs to use the definition developed by the Common Education Data
Standards workgroup for “active duty” within the data systems. Not all States use the
definition provided because they have expanded who qualifies as “active duty” to include
military-connected populations within their States who work in relevant, connected fields.

o Leverage existing models of data reporting and collection to consider military-
connected students a protected group like those experiencing homelessness. Under the
McKinney-Vento Act, designed to ensure homeless students have access to a free,
appropriate public education, States must meet legislative requirements related to providing
demographic and outcome data for students experiencing homelessness. These data are
submitted to the Department of Education through the EDFacts Submission System and
reported annually (National Center for Homeless Education, 2019).

e Require States to ensure MSI is a reportable demographic item in their statewide
longitudinal data systems. Recommend States report students with an MSI as a
demographic subgroup that can be disaggregated to multiple demographics providing a

30 Karre, J., Brawley, K., Baker, M., & Perkins, D. (2024, February). State Implementation of Four Initiatives to
Support Military Connected Students. Clearinghouse For Military Family Readiness.
https://schoolresources.militaryfamilies.psu.edu/about/research/view/state-implementation-of-four-initiatives-to-
support-military-connected-students/.

22



cross-section across all demographics, to include but not be limited to students with
disabilities, race, ethnicity, and gender, so disaggregated data is available for both ESSA and
IDEA accountability reports.

e Require States to report military-connected students with disabilities as an ESSA
subgroup. Under ESSA, schools already need to separate out and provide data specific to
the performance of students who are homeless (Data Quality Campaign, 2016) related to
academic achievement, graduation rates, academic progress for elementary and middle
schools, and progress in attaining English language proficiency.

e Require States to identify an actual timeframe for IEP implementation, such as the
school being provided up to 30 days to either re-evaluate the student or adopt the existing
IEP. Neither Part B of the IDEA nor the regulations implementing Part B of the IDEA
establish timelines for the new public education agency to adopt a child’s IEP from the
previous public agency or to develop and implement a new IEP. Consistent with 34 CFR
§ 300.323(e)-(f), the new public agency must take these steps within a reasonable period to
avoid any undue interruption in the provision of required special education and related
services.

AE

AE is an initiative allowing military parents to enroll their children in public school based
on orders to the State, as opposed to traditional means of establishing residency (e.g., proof of
lease or mortgage statement), allowing enrollment to occur before the family has moved to the
new duty station.”’ At the time of this report, 41 States have enacted AE policies.

Based on findings from the Clearinghouse analysis, statutory language defining the
requirements of AE policies varies widely across States. For example, some States include
specific details about the mode of enrollment (e.g., remote enrollment, not needing to physically
appear), the type of schools or programs governed by the AE law (e.g., open enrollment schools,
virtual education options, electives, sports), the documents required at the time of enrollment
(e.g., military orders), the timeframe within which students must provide any additional
documentation (e.g., sometimes traditional proof of residency is required within 10 days of an
official arrival date), and the address may be used for proof-of-residency. Additionally, each
State’s statutory language sets the minimum requirement for public schools in that State, but
schools may allow other opportunities or have additional requirements so long as they do not
conflict with the statute.>

St «“Advance Enrollment.” Military State Policy Source. October 1, 2023.
https://statepolicy.militaryonesource.mil/emeritus-status-tracker/advance-enrollment.
52 Ibid.

23



SLP

The SLP> is an essential element of the DoD Child and Youth Programs, Pre-
Kindergarten-12th Grade (PK-12) support, and youth sponsorship programs provided at military
installations. The SLP serves active duty military, National Guard and Reserve military
personnel, DoD civilians, and their families living on or off a military installation within the
Service-approved catchment area. Additionally, the SLP supports spouses of military members
who died as a result of a combat-related incident and those acting in loco parentis for eligible
dependent PK-12 MCS. School liaisons at each installation provide information and build
partnerships with the civilian and military community to address common education challenges
of military families. School liaisons are also an initial contact for participation in the Youth
Sponsorship Program which helps build resilience in youth and ease transitions. SLP support is
free of charge and open to all DoD identification cardholders, educators who serve military-
connected students, and community partners involved with PK-12 education.

SLP goals include:

¢ Identifying barriers to academic success and developing solutions.

e Promoting parental involvement and educating local communities and schools about the
needs of military children.

e Developing and coordinating partnerships in education.

e Providing students, parents, and school personnel with the tools they need to overcome
obstacles to education that stem from the military lifestyle.

Installation school liaison duties include:

e Serving as the primary point of contact for PK-12 education-related matters in their assigned
areas of responsibility.

e Representing, informing, and assisting their respective commands as it relates to PK-12
education-related issues.

e Assisting all military families in their areas of responsibility with a variety of PK-12
education-related issues.

e Coordinating with local school systems.

e Forging partnerships between the military community and local communities and schools.

33 DoDI 6060.04, “Youth Services (YS) Policy.” Washington Headquarters Service. Department of Defense, June
15, 2023. https://www.esd.whs.mil/Portals/54/Documents/DD/issuances/dodi/606004p.pdf?ver=2019-12-04-
064421-733.

24



EFMP

The EFMP is a DoD program supporting military families with dependents who have
medical or educational special needs due to a disability or chronic medical condition.>* The
EFMP aims to ensure families receive the support they need, especially during relocations and
deployments. It helps to identify and address the unique needs of these family members. Once
enrolled, families may access a range of support services, including the family support “warm
hand-off,” which assists families with transitioning services and supports such as medical care,
housing assistance, educational resources, respite care, and information about community
support programs. In addition, EFMP enrollment can influence military assignments to ensure
families are stationed in locations where appropriate medical and educational support services
are available for their dependents.

In addition to a school liaison, each installation has one or more EFMP Family Support
providers, typically connected to an installation Military and Family Support Center. The EFMP
FS provider can assist with special education support, including training and appropriate
referrals. In addition, amendments to 10 U.S.C. § 1718c in the NDAA for FY 2021 (Public Law
117-81) required the “Secretary of each Military Department provide legal services by an
attorney, trained in education law, at each military installation- (A) the Secretary determines is a
primary receiving installation for military families with special needs; and (B) in a state the
Secretary determines has historically not supported families enrolled in the EFMP.”>> Currently,
each Military Department has on staff at least one specialized attorney to assist in training,
educating, answering questions, and providing assistance with special education concerns.

3«10 U.S.C. 1781c - Office of Special Needs.” GovInfo. June 15, 2023.
https://www.govinfo.gov/app/details/USCODE-2023-title10/USCODE-2023-title10-subtitle A-partlI-chap88-
subchapl-sec1781c.

55 “pUBLIC LAW 117-81—DEC. 27, 2021.” Congress.Gov. June 15, 2023.
https://www.congress.gov/117/plaws/publ81/PLAW-117publ81.pdf.

25



VOLUNTARY SELF-ASSESSMENT FOR
STATES TO SUPPORT MILITARY-CONNECTED
CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND THEIR
FAMILIES UNDER THE IDEA

October 2024




CONTENTS

Y 4 Yo 1 ot £ oY S 1

Voluntary Self-Assessment for Part B Educational Agencies to Support Military-

Connected Children and Famili@s ......c.cceivueiineiiiiiiiiiiiiiniintiicnse s essssssaseseses 3
IDEA Part B State and Local Education Self-AsSeSSMENt.......cocueerieiiiiiiiiiieniee et 3
Military-Connected Children with Disabilities ..........ccviiiiiiieiiiiiii e 3

POlICIES AN PrOCEAUIES ....cueieiieieitte sttt ettt sttt ettt st e et e sabeesbee e sabeesabeesabeeesnbeesareenas 5

Voluntary Self-Assessment for Part C Lead Agencies to Support Military-Connected

Children and FamMIli@s .......cciceeeiiiiiiiiiiciiiiicieinc et se s ss s e as e e as e s ane e 11
IDEA Part C Early INterVeNtION .. .ccii ettt e e e e e e et e e e e e e e e anbeee e e e e e eennnrnenees 11
Part C Lead Agency and Early Intervention Provider Self-Assessment ........ccccoeeccviieeeiieiccciiieeeeeeeens 12

Military-Connected Infant and Toddler with Disabilities...........cccceeeeiiiieiiiiei i, 12

POlICIES AN PrOCEAUIES ... 14



INTRODUCTION

The Office of Special Education Programs (OSEP) of the U.S. Department of Education (Department)
developed this two-part self-assessment as a voluntary technical assistance tool to assist States in
supporting military-connected? children with disabilities? (CWD) served under the Individuals with
Disabilities Education Act (IDEA). The voluntary self-assessment is applicable for IDEA’s provisions
requiring a free appropriate public education (FAPE) under Part B, from ages 3 through 21 or early
intervention systems under Part C for CWD, from birth to age 3. This first section identifies areas that
State educational agency (SEA) and local educational agency (LEA) leaders may wish to focus on as part
of providing special education and related services under Part B of the IDEA and supporting military-
connected CWD through seamless transfers between LEAs.? The second section identifies areas that
State lead agencies (LAs) may wish to focus on when providing early intervention services under Part C
of the IDEA to infants and toddlers with disabilities and their families.

The self-assessment identifies best practices to support timely and effective provision of IDEA services to
military-connected CWD and highlights specific IDEA regulations that may be of particular interest to
their families, particularly when they transfer between school districts. However, it is important to
recognize that all IDEA regulations are applicable to military-connected CWD, and SEAs and LEAs must
comply with them in providing special education and related services to all CWD including military-
connected CWD.

Our nation depends on the strength and readiness of our military, and it is important to assist this
community, which includes CWD. The challenges faced by families of military-connected CWD are
unique. Parents know their children best, and the role of the family is critical in supporting their children
navigate successful transitions throughout their educational careers. The families of military-connected
CWD may also have frequent transfers between and within states. This presents additional challenges
such as frequent separation from parents and support networks as well as disruptions in the continuity
of early intervention and special education and related services under IDEA. It is important for school

! Military-Connected Students. In addition, the National Defense Authorization Act of 2020 amended section 1111(h)(1)(C)(ii) of the ESEA to
modify the definition of “military connected” by removing the term “active duty.” Based on the amendment, this student group has been
changed to “status as a student with a parent who is a member of the Armed Forces (as defined in section 101(a)(4) of title 10, United States
Code).” Under 10 U.S.C. 101(a)(4), “Armed Forces” is defined to include the Army, Navy, Air Force, Marine Corps, Space Force, and Coast
Guard, which would also incorporate their reserve components (i.e., Army National Guard and Air National Guard, and Army, Navy, Air
Force, Marine Corps, and Coast Guard Reserves). At a minimum, this student group must include students with parents on “active service.”
Under 10 U.S.C. 101(d)(3), this would include individuals on active duty, full-time or part-time National Guard duty, and full-time or part-time
Reserve status. It would not include students with a parent who is a retiree, a veteran, or in the Retired Reserves or students with a family
member (e.g., sibling or grandparent) other than a parent or guardian who meets the definition of being a member of the Armed Forces.
While an SEA may establish a more expansive definition, the SEA must be able to report the military-connected student group consistent
with the updated definition. The Department encourages each SEA to publish its definition of “military-connected” alongside this data, so it
is clear to the public which students are included in the student group.

In this document, CWD refers to children with disabilities as defined in the IDEA and not to children with disabilities who are served through
other early intervention and educational programs administered by the U.S. Department of Defense (DOD).

This self-assessment is voluntary and is not a substitute for a careful review of the IDEA statute, its implementing regulations, and other
applicable U.S. Department of Education Office of Special Education and Rehabilitative Services (OSERS) and OSEP policy guidance. To
request technical assistance from OSEP, please contact your OSEP State Lead.



VOLUNTARY SELF-ASSESSMENT FOR STATES TO
SUPPORT MILITARY-CONNECTED CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND THEIR FAMILIES UNDER THE IDEA

administrators and teachers to have accurate and timely information to meet their obligations to make
FAPE available to military-connected CWD under IDEA.*

Military-connected families report issues with the timely provision of special education and related
services for their children. Common reported issues® include:

e Delays in completing evaluations and providing services that are compounded by frequent
moves;

e Lack of understanding by school personnel and families of IDEA requirements; and

e Impact of personnel shortages in schools and the Exceptional Family Member Program.®

In April 2024, the Department of Defense estimated that there are nearly 1.6 million military-connected children.

> OSEP staff learned of these issues during calls with the top 10 States with military-connected youth (VA, TX, CA, NC, FL, GA, WA, MD, CO, HI)
in February 2024.

Exceptional Family Member Program — The Exceptional Family Member Program Family Support provides information, resources, skills and
support to help military families with special needs navigate systems of care.



https://www.militaryonesource.mil/special-needs/efmp/

VOLUNTARY SELF-ASSESSMENT FOR STATES TO
SUPPORT MILITARY-CONNECTED CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND THEIR FAMILIES UNDER THE IDEA

VOoLU RY SELF-ASSESSMENT FOR PART B EDUCATIONAL

AGENCIES TO SUPPORT MILITARY-CONNECTED
CHILDREN AND FAMILIES

IDEA PART B STATE AND LOCAL EDUCATION SELF-ASSESSMENT

Based on the above issues commonly reported by military-connected families, OSEP has designed the
following questions as a voluntary tool for SEAs and LEAs. This will help them assess how well they
ensure the timely provision of special education and related services for military-connected CWD under
IDEA Part B, particularly given their frequent educational transitions as military families transfer between
duty stations.”

Under IDEA Part B, SEAs are required to have policies and procedures in place to meet their
responsibilities under IDEA Part B to ensure services are provided to all eligible CWD from ages 3
through 21 and their families in a timely manner. SEAs may wish to review their policies and procedures
and their general supervision system that includes activities to monitor the implementation of those

policies and procedures. These questions can be used in SEA and LEA self-assessments, monitoring, or
reviews to help gauge compliance with the highlighted IDEA Part B requirements in areas including
implementation of policies and procedures, integrated monitoring and sustaining compliance, dispute
resolution, technical assistance, and data. As explained above, the IDEA Part B requirements highlighted
in this voluntary self-assessment are only a subset of all the IDEA Part B requirements that apply to all
CWD, including military-connected CWD.

Military-Connected Children with Disabilities
Data and other Demographic Information

1. What is the estimated population of military-connected CWDs in the State?

2. In which LEAs are military-connected CWDs enrolled?

7 The IDEA regulations cited in this document apply to all children with disabilities, including military-connected children with disabilities.


https://sites.ed.gov/idea/files/Guidance_on_State_General_Supervision_Responsibilities_under_Parts_B_and_C_of_IDEA-07-24-2023.pdf

VOLUNTARY SELF-ASSESSMENT FOR STATES TO
SUPPORT MILITARY-CONNECTED CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND THEIR FAMILIES UNDER THE IDEA

3. How many State complaints or due process complaints have been filed with the State in the last
five years regarding timely evaluations, eligibility determinations, and individualized education
program (IEP) implementation for military-connected CWDs?

4. Which State agency serves as the State’s representative to the Military Interstate Children’s
Compact Commission (MIC3)?8

5. Is the SEA represented on the MIC3 State Council? If yes, which SEA office serves as the
representative?

6. How does the SEA office that administers IDEA collaborate with other organizations that support
military-connected CWDs, including those organizations that do not participate on the MIC3
State Council?

7. How else does the SEA consider and address the needs of military-connected CWDs, such as
including a military-connected parent representative on the State Special Education Advisory
Council?

8 See, https://mic3.net/.


https://mic3.net/

VOLUNTARY SELF-ASSESSMENT FOR STATES TO
SUPPORT MILITARY-CONNECTED CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND THEIR FAMILIES UNDER THE IDEA

Policies and Procedures

General

1. What, if any, are the SEA’s or LEA’s written policies specific to military-connected CWDs?

2. What methods does the SEA or LEA use to monitor the implementation of its written policies
specific to military-connected CWDs?

3. How are the SEA’s or LEA’s written policies specific to military-connected CWDs made available
to LEAs or other stakeholders?

4. What, if any, are the SEA’s or LEA’s policies and/or strategies to specifically engage with parents
of military-connected CWDs?

5. What policies does the SEA or LEA have to address the impact of personnel shortages on
military-connected CWDs?




VOLUNTARY SELF-ASSESSMENT FOR STATES TO
SUPPORT MILITARY-CONNECTED CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND THEIR FAMILIES UNDER THE IDEA

Child Find (34 C.F.R. §§ 300.111, 300.131)

1. What are the SEA’s or LEA’s written policies regarding child find for military-connected CWD,
including those placed by their parents in private schools?

2. What methods does the SEA or LEA use to monitor the implementation of its written child find
policies regarding military-connected CWD?

3. How are the SEA’s or LEA’s written child find policies regarding military-connected CWD made
available to LEAs and other stakeholders?

Evaluations (34 CFR §§ 300.301 through 300.311)

1. How does the SEA or LEA ensure that evaluations are completed as expeditiously as possible and
within 60 days of receiving parental consent for the evaluation or within the State-established
timeline, consistent with applicable Federal regulations, for a military-connected CWD who
transfers to a new school district in the same school year, whether in the same State orin a
different State, after the previous school district has begun but has not completed the
evaluation?

2. What are the methods the SEA uses to encourage LEAs to complete evaluations of military-
connected CWD within expedited timeframes (e.g., within 30 days to the extent possible),
consistent with each military-connected child with a disability’s individual needs, whenever
possible?



https://sites.ed.gov/idea/regs/b/b/300.111
https://sites.ed.gov/idea/regs/b/b/300.131
https://sites.ed.gov/idea/regs/b/d/300.301/c/1
https://sites.ed.gov/idea/regs/b/b/300.111

VOLUNTARY SELF-ASSESSMENT FOR STATES TO
SUPPORT MILITARY-CONNECTED CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND THEIR FAMILIES UNDER THE IDEA

3. What methods does the SEA use to inform LEAs that they may not postpone evaluations,
including to complete a Multi-tiered System of Support process, for military-connected children
who change LEAs after the previous LEA began, but had not yet completed, an evaluation?

4. What methods does the SEA use to monitor each LEA’s implementation of evaluation
procedures under IDEA Part B as they relate to military-connected CWD?

5. What is the average timeframe from initial referral to the completion of evaluations under IDEA
Part B for military connected CWD?

IEP Development, Implementation, and Placement (34 C.F.R. §§ 300.320 through 300.324)

1. How does the SEA monitor its LEAs for IEP development and implementation timeframes for
military-connected CWD?

2. What are the factors that lead to any delays in IEP development and implementation timelines
for military-connected CWD in the LEA or in the State?



https://sites.ed.gov/idea/regs/b/d/300.320
https://sites.ed.gov/idea/regs/b/d/300.324

3.

VOLUNTARY SELF-ASSESSMENT FOR STATES TO

SUPPORT MILITARY-CONNECTED CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND THEIR FAMILIES UNDER THE IDEA

For a military-connected CWD who transfers within the State during the school year, how does
the SEA make LEAs aware that the new LEA (in consultation with the parents) must initially
provide FAPE to the child, including the provision of services comparable to those described in
the child’s IEP from the previous LEA, until the new LEA either adopts the child’s IEP from the
previous LEA or develops and implements a new IEP for the child?

For a military-connected CWD who transfers from out of State during the school year, how does
the SEA make LEAs aware that the new LEA (in consultation with the parents) must initially
provide FAPE to the child, including the provision of services comparable to those described in
the child’s IEP from the previous LEA, until the new LEA conducts its own evaluation (if
determined to be necessary by the new LEA) and develops and implements a new IEP for the
child, if appropriate?

How does the SEA ensure that each military-connected CWD who transfers to a new LEA during
the summer has an IEP in effect at the beginning of the school year?

Explain how the SEA or LEA ensures that Extended School Year (ESY) services are provided as
part of comparable services for in-State transfer students whose IEP from the previous LEA
contains those services, especially military-connected CWD who transfer during the summer or
holiday breaks, for the duration of time determined appropriate by the newly-designated IEP
Team or until the new LEA adopts the child’s IEP from the previous LEA or develops and
implements a new IEP for the child.




VOLUNTARY SELF-ASSESSMENT FOR STATES TO
SUPPORT MILITARY-CONNECTED CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND THEIR FAMILIES UNDER THE IDEA

7. Explain how the SEA or LEA ensures that ESY services are provided as part of comparable
services for out-of-State transfer students whose IEP from the previous LEA contains those
services, especially military-connected CWD who transfer during the summer or holiday breaks,
for the duration of time determined appropriate by the newly-designated IEP Team or until the
new LEA conducts its own evaluation and eligibility determination, if determined necessary by
the new LEA, and develops and implements a new IEP for the child.

Exchange of Records (34 C.F.R. § 300.323(g) and Military Compact)

1. What are the SEA’s written policies regarding the prompt exchange of relevant education records
made available to LEAs and other stakeholders?

2. What methods does the SEA use to ensure that LEAs accept hand-carried copies of relevant
education records as not to delay enrollment and placement of military-connected CWD while
waiting for official records?

Procedural Safeguards (34 C.F.R. §§ 300.500 through 300.536)

1. What methods does the SEA use to ensure that parents of military-connected CWD are informed
of their rights, including the opportunity to present and resolve complaints through the due
process complaint and State complaint procedures?



https://sites.ed.gov/idea/regs/b/d/300.323/g
https://www.esd.whs.mil/Portals/54/Documents/DD/issuances/dodi/134229_dodi_2017.pdf
https://sites.ed.gov/idea/regs/b/e/300.500
https://sites.ed.gov/idea/regs/b/e/300.536

VOLUNTARY SELF-ASSESSMENT FOR STATES TO
SUPPORT MILITARY-CONNECTED CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND THEIR FAMILIES UNDER THE IDEA

2. How does the SEA and LEA ensure that parents of military-connected CWD understand the
differences between the services provided under the IDEA and through the Exceptional Family
Member Program?

10



VOLUNTARY SELF-ASSESSMENT FOR PART C LEAD AGENCIES TO

SUPPORT MILITARY-CONNECTED CHILDREN AND FAMILIES

IDEA PART C EARLY INTERVENTION

In the second part of this document, OSEP identifies areas that State Part C lead agencies (LAs) may wish
to focus on when providing early intervention services to military-connected infants and toddlers with
disabilities and their families under Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) and supporting the
seamless transfers of such children to new LAs or early intervention service providers (EIS providers).®

This document identifies best practices to support IDEA service provision to military-connected infants
and toddlers with disabilities and their families. This self-assessment identifies specific IDEA Part C
regulations that may be of interest to military-connected infants and toddlers with disabilities and their
families, particularly when they transfer between States and EIS providers. However, it is important to
recognize that all IDEA regulations are applicable to military-connected infants and toddlers with
disabilities and their families.

Under IDEA Part C, LAs are required to have policies and procedures in place to meet their
responsibilities under IDEA Part C to ensure early intervention services are provided to all eligible infants
and toddlers with disabilities and their families in a timely manner. LAs are also required to have a
general supervision system that includes activities to monitor the implementation of policies and

procedures. These activities should be implemented to identify and address disparities related to access
that may include child find, evaluation and assessment, and eligibility, program experiences, and the
provision of services necessary to ensure positive outcomes for all children and families served under
the Part C of the IDEA. Military-connected families with infants and toddlers with disabilities may require
unique supports and services as they may face stress due to frequent relocation, separation, and
changes in or loss of support systems. It is therefore critical that States have effective policies and
procedures in place to ensure military-connected families with infants and toddlers with disabilities can
access timely early intervention services under Part C of IDEA.

Military-connected families have reported barriers in accessing IDEA Part C early intervention services for
infants and toddlers with disabilities. Commonly reported issues® include:

e Transfer-related delays impacting the determination of Part C eligibility and development of the
individualized family service plan (IFSP) that are created or compounded by frequent moves,

° This self-assessment is voluntary and is not a substitute for a careful review of the IDEA statute, its implementing regulations, and other
applicable U.S. Department of Education Office of Special Education and Rehabilitative Services (OSERS) and OSEP policy guidance. To
request technical assistance from OSEP, please contact your OSEP State Lead.

10 OSEP staff learned of these issues in calls held with the top 10 States with military-connected youth (VA, TX, CA, NC, FL, GA, WA, MD, CO, HI)
in February 2024.

11


https://sites.ed.gov/idea/files/Guidance_on_State_General_Supervision_Responsibilities_under_Parts_B_and_C_of_IDEA-07-24-2023.pdf

VOLUNTARY SELF-ASSESSMENT FOR STATES TO
SUPPORT MILITARY-CONNECTED CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND THEIR FAMILIES UNDER THE IDEA

e |dentifying IDEA-related resources and accessing supports in new communities,
e Delays in the receipt or release of early intervention records.

e Difficulty receiving early intervention services in natural environments when IDEA Part C EIS
providers are unable to consistently access family housing on military bases, and

e Communication challenges between the Exceptional Family Member Program?! and IDEA Part C
requirements leading to delays in referrals, eligibility determination, and timely service delivery.

PART C LEAD AGENCY AND EARLY INTERVENTION PROVIDER SELF-
ASSESSMENT

Based on the above issues commonly reported by military-connected families, OSEP has designed the
following questions as a voluntary tool for States to assess how well your State is providing early
intervention services to military-connected infants and toddlers with disabilities under IDEA Part C,
particularly given how frequently military families transfers between duty stations.!? These questions
can be used by LAs and EIS providers as part of their monitoring activities or other reviews to determine
compliance and identify best practices in areas such as the implementation of policies and procedures,
integrated monitoring and sustaining compliance, conducting dispute resolution, and providing technical
assistance and data.

Military-Connected Infant and Toddler with Disabilities
Data and other Demographic Information

1. Does the State have available data or information on, and if so, what is the State’s estimated
population of, military-connected infants and toddlers with disabilities?

1 The Exceptional Family Member Program Family Support provides information, resources, skills and support to help military families with
special needs navigate systems of care.

12 The IDEA Part C regulations cited in this section of the document apply to all infants and toddlers with disabilities and their families served
under IDEA Part C, including military-connected infants and toddlers with disabilities and their families served under IDEA Part C.

12


https://www.militaryonesource.mil/special-needs/efmp/
https://www.militaryonesource.mil/special-needs/efmp/

VOLUNTARY SELF-ASSESSMENT FOR STATES TO
SUPPORT MILITARY-CONNECTED CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND THEIR FAMILIES UNDER THE IDEA

2. In which EIS providers are military-connected infants and toddlers with disabilities receiving IDEA
services?

3. Which State agency serves as the State’s representative to the Military Interstate Children’s
Compact Commission (MIC3)?13

4. How does the LA's office that administers IDEA Part C collaborate with other organizations that
support military-connected infants and toddlers with disabilities, including those organizations
that do not participate on the MIC3 State Council?

5. How else does the LA consider and address the needs of military-connected infants and toddlers
with disabilities and their families, such as including a military-connected parent representative
on the State Special Education Advisory Council?

6. How does the LA implement IDEA’s payor of last resort and coordination of all financial
resources, including TRICARE, to pay for IDEA Part C services?

3 See https://mic3.net/.

13



https://mic3.net/

VOLUNTARY SELF-ASSESSMENT FOR STATES TO
SUPPORT MILITARY-CONNECTED CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND THEIR FAMILIES UNDER THE IDEA

7. How does the LA’s system of payments policy reflect identification and coordination of TRICARE
and Medicaid as part of IDEA Part C’s coordination with all financial resources requirement?

Policies and Procedures

Data Collection (34 C.F.R. § 303.701)

1. What mechanisms does the LA or EIS provider have in place to collect information about
military-connected infants and toddlers across its IDEA 618 and 619 data collections?

2. How does the LA or EIS provider use and analyze its data to identify performance gaps for
military-connected infants and toddlers and their families?

3. How does the LA use and analyze its data to identify noncompliance or technical assistance
needs of EIS providers serving military- connected infants and toddlers and their families?

IFSP Development, Review, and Revision (34 C.F.R. §§ 303.340, 303.342 through 303.345)

1. Military-connected infants and toddlers and their family may relocate frequently. How does the
LA or EIS provider analyze data to assess if there are more delays or longer delays in the
implementation of the IFSP for military-connected infants and toddlers?

14


https://usdedeop.sharepoint.com/sites/EDMSIP/Lead_Area/Military-Connected%20Families/303.701
https://sites.ed.gov/idea/regs/c/d/303.340
https://sites.ed.gov/idea/regs/c/d/303.342
https://sites.ed.gov/idea/regs/c/d/303.345

VOLUNTARY SELF-ASSESSMENT FOR STATES TO
SUPPORT MILITARY-CONNECTED CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND THEIR FAMILIES UNDER THE IDEA

2. What are the LA or EIS policies and procedures to ensure timely implementation of the IFSP
supports and services if an infant and toddler is moving from one EIS program to another EIS
provider within a State?

3. How are IFSP teams trained to discuss the steps that should be taken to support a smooth
transition between EIS provider when military-connected families are relocated?

4. How are IFSP teams trained on supporting families to apply for the Exceptional Family Member
Program if the family is not connected to the program?

Natural Environments (34 C.F.R. §§ 303.26 and 303.126)

1. What are the formal interagency agreements, memorandums of understanding, or other written
procedures in place to help ensure Part C EIS providers are allowed access to family housing on
military bases so that military-connected infants and toddlers receive services in natural
environments?

2. What are the formal interagency agreements, memorandums of understanding, or other written
procedures with the Exceptional Family Member Program and/or other military programs which
support coordination of services for military-connected families?

15



https://sites.ed.gov/idea/regs/c/a/303.26
https://sites.ed.gov/idea/regs/c/b/303.126

VOLUNTARY SELF-ASSESSMENT FOR STATES TO
SUPPORT MILITARY-CONNECTED CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND THEIR FAMILIES UNDER THE IDEA

Personnel Systems (34 C.F.R. §§ 303.31, 303.118 through 303.119)

1. What efforts are the LA or EIS provider taking to recruit and retain personnel near military
bases?

2. How does the LA collaborate with institutions of higher education on preparing personnel to
work with military-connected families?

3. How does the LA or EIS provider provide training and professional development focused on the
military-connected family lifestyle and unique needs of military-connected families with infants
and toddlers with disabilities?

4. What efforts are being made to develop and implement cross agency trainings to increase
understanding and coordination between agencies and programs serving military-connected
families, specifically agencies and programs responsible for medical care, childcare, and IDEA
services?

5. How are EIS providers trained to utilize trauma informed care practices with military-connected
families to ease parental stress and address infants and toddlers’ mental health and social,
emotional, and behavioral development when a family member is deployed?

16


https://sites.ed.gov/idea/regs/c/a/303.31
https://sites.ed.gov/idea/regs/c/b/303.118
https://sites.ed.gov/idea/regs/c/b/303.119

VOLUNTARY SELF-ASSESSMENT FOR STATES TO
SUPPORT MILITARY-CONNECTED CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND THEIR FAMILIES UNDER THE IDEA

Transition Services (34 C.F.R. §§ 303.209, 303.401 and 300.124)

1. What are the Part C to Part B transition policies and procedures that address requirements in
circumstances when military-connected family relocation occurs during the transition period
after two-year six months of age?

2. How does the LA and EIS provider conduct ongoing analysis in collaboration with the State
educational agency and local educational agencies to assess their policies, procedures, and
practices and identify improvement activities that enhance the infrastructure necessary to
support successful transitions from Part C to Part B services for military-connected families?

3. LA are required to have policies and procedures to ensure a smooth and seamless transition
from Part C to Part B. Describe any additional procedures the LA or EIS programs have in place to
support military-connected families who are relocating to another State or EIS provider when
military-connected families are relocated prior to the Part C to Part B transition.

Child Find Requirement (34 C.F.R §§ 303.301 through 303.303, 303.115 and 300.111)

1. How does the LA or EIS provider regularly evaluate its child find system, including examining
child find activities for families who frequently move within a State or from State to State, such
as those from military-connected families?

17


https://sites.ed.gov/idea/regs/c/c/303.209
https://sites.ed.gov/idea/regs/c/e/303.401
https://sites.ed.gov/idea/regs/b/b/300.124
https://sites.ed.gov/idea/regs/c/d/303.301
https://sites.ed.gov/idea/regs/c/b/303.115
https://sites.ed.gov/idea/regs/c/b/303.111
https://ectacenter.org/%7Epdfs/topics/earlyid/CFSA_Infographic_May2019.pdf

VOLUNTARY SELF-ASSESSMENT FOR STATES TO
SUPPORT MILITARY-CONNECTED CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND THEIR FAMILIES UNDER THE IDEA

How are issues related to transferring from another State addressed in the LA or EIS provider
policies and procedures for referral and intake of military-connected infants or toddlers with an
active IFSP?

How does the LA and EIS provider collect and track referral data to support child find activities
for military-connected families? (i.e., military affiliated service clinics, doctor’s offices, and
childcare)?

How does the LA or EIS provider update and share their central directory (i.e., access to
information about services, resources, and supports) so it is readily available to military-
connected families, referral sources on military bases, other States LA and EIS programs, and
Exceptional Family Member Programs?

How does the LA or EIS provider target activities of public awareness (i.e., preparation of
materials to help referring agencies understand how to identify and refer) to military-connected
families?

How does the LA or EIS provider collaborate with the Exceptional Family Member Program to
develop resources that clarify the roles of Part C Early Intervention (El) and the Exceptional
Family Member Program?

18



VOLUNTARY SELF-ASSESSMENT FOR STATES TO
SUPPORT MILITARY-CONNECTED CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND THEIR FAMILIES UNDER THE IDEA

7. What are the specific ways the LA or EIS provider includes military-connected families in family
engagement activities?

Evaluations of the Child and Assessment of the Child and Family (34 C.F.R. § 303.321 and
303.21)

1. How does the LA or EIS provider ensure timely provision of services for military-connected
infants and toddlers? Specifically, what are the LA or Els program policies and procedures that
address a timely review of records to determine eligibility in the receiving State?

2. When and how do LA or EIS provider utilize interim IFSPs to ensure that early intervention
services and supports that are determined to be needed can be immediately accessed by the
child and the child’s family?

Prior Notice and Procedural Safeguards (34 C.F.R. §§ 303.400-303.449)

1. What specific considerations relevant to military-connected families, such as explaining how
eligibility criteria, screening, and evaluation procedures differ between States the family is
moving from or to, has the LA or EIS provider included within its prior notice and procedural
safeguards?

2. What are the policies and procedures in place to ensure families are provided copies (electronic
and/or paper) of their evaluations, assessment, and IFSP, particularly military-connected families
that may need timely access to documentation for a transfer?

19


https://sites.ed.gov/idea/regs/c/d/303.321
https://sites.ed.gov/idea/regs/c/a/303.21
https://sites.ed.gov/idea/regs/c/e

VOLUNTARY SELF-ASSESSMENT FOR STATES TO
SUPPORT MILITARY-CONNECTED CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND THEIR FAMILIES UNDER THE IDEA

3. How does the LA and EIS provider ensure that parents of military-connected infants and toddlers
with disabilities understand the differences between the services provided under Part C of the
IDEA and through the Exceptional Family Member Program.

State Interagency Coordinating Council (SICC), Interagency Coordination, and Interagency
Agreements (34 C.F.R. §§ 303.600-303.605, and 303.120)

1. What efforts have the LA or EIS provider made to ensure military-connected families are
represented on the SICC or, if applicable, Local Interagency Council?

2. Isthere a representative from the Exceptional Family Member Program on the SICC?

3. What formal interagency agreements, memorandums of understanding, or other written
procedures does the LA or EIS provider have in place with other agencies or programs that serve
military-connected families to support meaningful cooperation and to resolve issues so that
families can receive timely IDEA services?

4. s the LA represented on the MIC3 State Council? If yes, which LA office serves as the
representative and how does the State early intervention program coordinate with that
office?

20


https://sites.ed.gov/idea/regs/c/g
https://sites.ed.gov/idea/regs/c/b/303.120

VOLUNTARY SELF-ASSESSMENT FOR STATES TO
SUPPORT MILITARY-CONNECTED CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES AND THEIR FAMILIES UNDER THE IDEA

5. How do the LAs collaborate with other organizations that support military-connected infants and
toddlers with disabilities and their families, including those organizations that do not participate
on the MIC3 State Council?

21



	3 - For ACMC - Sec 579 and 2025 prospective legislation 23 jan 25.pdf
	�2025 Legislation Potentially Under Consideration
	DoD Report to Congress – Recommendations to Improve Military Interstate Children’s Compact  (December 31, 2024)
	DoD Report to Congress – Recommendations to Improve Military Interstate Children’s Compact  (December 31, 2024)
	Provisions potentially amending Chapter 28 considered for legislation 
	Provisions potentially amending Chapter 28 considered for legislation 
	Provisions potentially amending Chapter 28 considered for legislation 

	6 - Student Advisor Report - Williams.pdf
	STUDENT ADVISORY COMMITTEE REPORT
	Bryant High School
	School Activities of Fall 2024
	Currently Working On
	Activities Planned for Spring 2025

	9 - clearinghouse_report_speakmc_initiatives_20240919_final.pdf
	SPEAK-MC_Implementation-Evaluation_2024Sep19.pdf
	Cover
	Table of Contents
	Executive Summary
	Introduction
	Methods
	Participants
	Advance Enrollment
	Interstate Compact on Educational Opportunity for Military Children
	Military Student Identifier
	Purple Star Schools Program
	Partnerships, Policy, and Coordination
	School District and 
School Website Data Extraction
	Measures of School Characteristics
	Themes Across 
Initiatives and Programs
	Recommendations
	Appendix


	10 - Recommendations to Improve the Military Interstate Children1.pdf
	UPR002615-24
	TAB B - MIC3 Report to Congress - UPR002615-24_v2
	INTRODUCTION
	RESEARCH AND RELATED INFORMATION USED TO INFORM REPORT
	Evaluation of State Implementation of Four State Policy Initiatives for MCS
	Supplemental Data Report on Barriers to MCS Access to Advance Enrollment and Special Education Services
	AE
	Special Education Services

	Vanderbilt University:  Examination of MIC3 Implementation Practices
	Supplemental Literature Review:  Barriers to MCS Access to Special Education Services
	Information Provided by MIC3

	(1)(A) IDENTIFICATION OF BARRIERS TO MCS’ ABILITY TO ENROLL IN ADVANCE
	Summary

	(1)(B) IDENTIFICATION OF BARRIERS TO MCS ACCESS TO TIMELY PROVISION OF SPECIAL EDUCATION SERVICES AND RELATED SUPPORTS UPON TRANSFER
	Summary

	(2)(A) CONSIDERATION OF FEASIBILITY AND ADVISABILITY TRACKING AND REPORTING OF THE NUMBER OF MILITARY FAMILIES USING ADVANCE ENROLLMENT
	Summary

	(2)(B) CONSIDERATION OF FEASIBILITY AND ADVISABILITY CLARIFYING ADVANCE ENROLLMENT REQUIREMENTS IN STATE LEGISLATION
	Summary

	(2)(C) CONSIDERATION OF FEASIBILITY AND ADVISABILITY DEVELOPING A MIC3 LETTER OR OTHER MEMORANDUM FOR MILITARY FAMILIES
	Summary
	Recommendation

	(3) ADDITIONAL STATE ACTIONS TO IMPROVE THE COMPACT
	Summary
	Enact State Legislation External to Compact Statute
	Improve Compact Implementation and Enforcement
	Increase Compact Consistency
	Increase Funding, Compliance, Monitoring, and Enforcement
	Leverage Technology
	Increase Military Family Representation on Compact State Councils


	CONCLUSION


	11 - Military-Connected.Families.Self-Assessment-Questions-and-Fillable-Fields-10-22-2024.pdf
	Contents
	Introduction
	Voluntary Self-Assessment for Part B Educational Agencies to Support Military-Connected  Children and Families
	IDEA Part B State and Local Education Self-Assessment
	Military-Connected Children with Disabilities
	Data and other Demographic Information

	Policies and Procedures
	General
	Child Find (34 C.F.R. §§ 300.111, 300.131)
	Evaluations (34 CFR §§ 300.301 through 300.311)
	IEP Development, Implementation, and Placement (34 C.F.R. §§ 300.320 through 300.324)
	Exchange of Records (34 C.F.R. § 300.323(g) and Military Compact)
	Procedural Safeguards (34 C.F.R. §§ 300.500 through 300.536)



	Voluntary Self-Assessment for Part C Lead Agencies to Support Military-Connected Children and Families
	IDEA Part C Early Intervention
	Part C Lead Agency and Early Intervention Provider Self-Assessment
	Military-Connected Infant and Toddler with Disabilities
	Data and other Demographic Information

	Policies and Procedures
	Data Collection (34 C.F.R. § 303.701)
	IFSP Development, Review, and Revision (34 C.F.R. §§ 303.340, 303.342 through 303.345)
	Natural Environments (34 C.F.R. §§ 303.26 and 303.126)
	Personnel Systems (34 C.F.R. §§ 303.31, 303.118 through 303.119)
	Transition Services (34 C.F.R. §§ 303.209, 303.401 and 300.124)
	Child Find Requirement (34 C.F.R §§ 303.301 through 303.303, 303.115 and 300.111)
	Evaluations of the Child and Assessment of the Child and Family (34 C.F.R. § 303.321 and 303.21)
	Prior Notice and Procedural Safeguards (34 C.F.R. §§ 303.400–303.449)
	State Interagency Coordinating Council (SICC), Interagency Coordination, and Interagency Agreements (34 C.F.R. §§ 303.600-303.605, and 303.120)





	1: 
	 What is the estimated population of militaryconnected CWDs in the State?: 
	 What if any are the SEAs or LEAs written policies specific to militaryconnected CWDs: 
	 What are the SEA’s or LEA’s written policies regarding child find for military-connected CWD, including those placed by their parents in private schools?: 
	 How does the SEA or LEA ensure that evaluations are completed as expeditiously as possible and within 60 days of receiving parental consent for the evaluation or within the State-established timeline, consistent with applicable Federal regulations, for a military-connected CWD who transfers to a new school district in the same school year, whether in the same State or in a different State, after the previous school district has begun but has not completed the evaluation?: 
	 How does the SEA monitor its LEAs for IEP development and implementation timeframes for military-connected CWD?: 
	 What are the SEA’s written policies regarding the prompt exchange of relevant education records made available to LEAs and other stakeholders?: 
	 What methods does the SEA use to ensure that parents of military-connected CWD are informed of their rights, including the opportunity to present and resolve complaints through the due process complaint and State complaint procedures?: 
	 Does the State have available data or information on, and if so, what is the State’s estimated population of, military-connected infants and toddlers with disabilities?: 
	 What mechanisms does the LA or EIS provider have in place to collect information about military-connected infants and toddlers across its IDEA 618 and 619 data collections?: 
	 Military-connected infants and toddlers and their family may relocate frequently: 
	 How does the LA or EIS provider analyze data to assess if there are more delays or longer delays in the implementation of the IFSP for military-connected infants and toddlers?: 

	 What are the formal interagency agreements, memorandums of understanding, or other written procedures in place to help ensure Part C EIS providers are allowed access to family housing on military bases so that military-connected infants and toddlers receive services in natural environments?: 
	 What efforts are the LA or EIS provider taking to recruit and retain personnel near military bases?: 
	 What are the Part C to Part B transition policies and procedures that address requirements in circumstances when military-connected family relocation occurs during the transition period after two-year six months of age?: 
	 How does the LA or EIS provider regularly evaluate its child find system, including examining child find activities for families who frequently move within a State or from State to State, such as those from military-connected families?: 
	 How does the LA or EIS provider ensure timely provision of services for military-connected infants and toddlers? Specifically, what are the LA or EIs program policies and procedures that address a timely review of records to determine eligibility in the receiving State?: 
	 What specific considerations relevant to military-connected families, such as explaining how eligibility criteria, screening, and evaluation procedures differ between States the family is moving from or to, has the LA or EIS provider included within its prior notice and procedural safeguards?: 
	 What efforts have the LA or EIS provider made to ensure military-connected families are represented on the SICC or, if applicable, Local Interagency Council?: 

	2: 
	 In which LEAs are militaryconnected CWDs enrolled?: 
		What methods does the SEA or LEA use to monitor the implementation of its written policies specific to military-connected CWDs?: 
	 What methods does the SEA or LEA use to monitor the implementation of its written policies specific to military-connected CWDs?: 
	 What are the methods the SEA uses to encourage LEAs to complete evaluations of military-connected CWD within expedited timeframes (e: 
	g: 
	, within 30 days to the extent possible), consistent with each military-connected child with a disability’s individual needs, whenever possible?: 


	 What are the factors that lead to any delays in IEP development and implementation timelines for military-connected CWD in the LEA or in the State?: 
	 What methods does the SEA use to ensure that LEAs accept hand-carried copies of relevant education records as not to delay enrollment and placement of military-connected CWD while waiting for official records?: 
	 How does the SEA and LEA ensure that parents of military-connected CWD understand the differences between the services provided under the IDEA and through the Exceptional Family Member Program?: 
	 In which EIS providers are military-connected infants and toddlers with disabilities receiving IDEA services?: 
	 How does the LA or EIS provider use and analyze its data to identify performance gaps for military-connected infants and toddlers and their families?: 
	 What are the LA or EIS policies and procedures to ensure timely implementation of the IFSP supports and services if an infant and toddler is moving from one EIS program to another EIS provider within a State?: 
	 What are the formal interagency agreements, memorandums of understanding, or other written procedures with the Exceptional Family Member Program and/or other military programs which support coordination of services for military-connected families?: 
	 How does the LA collaborate with institutions of higher education on preparing personnel to work with military-connected families?: 
	 How does the LA and EIS provider conduct ongoing analysis in collaboration with the State educational agency and local educational agencies to assess their policies, procedures, and practices and identify improvement activities that enhance the infrastructure necessary to support successful transitions from Part C to Part B services for military-connected families?: 
	 How are issues related to transferring from another State addressed in the LA or EIS provider policies and procedures for referral and intake of military-connected infants or toddlers with an active IFSP?: 
	 When and how do LA or EIS provider utilize interim IFSPs to ensure that early intervention services and supports that are determined to be needed can be immediately accessed by the child and the child’s family?: 
	 What are the policies and procedures in place to ensure families are provided copies (electronic and/or paper) of their evaluations, assessment, and IFSP, particularly military-connected families that may need timely access to documentation for a transfer?: 
	 Is there a representative from the Exceptional Family Member Program on the SICC?: 

	3: 
	 How many State complaints or due process complaints have been filed with the State in the last five years regarding timely evaluations, eligibility determinations, and individualized education program (IEP) implementation for military-connected CWDs?: 
	 How are the SEA’s or LEA’s written policies specific to military-connected CWDs made available to LEAs or other stakeholders?: 
	 How are the SEA’s or LEA’s written child find policies regarding military-connected CWD made available to LEAs and other stakeholders?: 
	 What methods does the SEA use to inform LEAs that they may not postpone evaluations, including to complete a Multi-tiered System of Support process, for military-connected children who change LEAs after the previous LEA began, but had not yet completed, an evaluation?: 
	 For a military-connected CWD who transfers within the State during the school year, how does the SEA make LEAs aware that the new LEA (in consultation with the parents) must initially provide FAPE to the child, including the provision of services comparable to those described in the child’s IEP from the previous LEA, until the new LEA either adopts the child’s IEP from the previous LEA or develops and implements a new IEP for the child?: 
	 Which State agency serves as the State’s representative to the Military Interstate Children’s Compact Commission (MIC3)?: 
	 How does the LA use and analyze its data to identify noncompliance or technical assistance needs of EIS providers serving military- connected infants and toddlers and their families?: 
	 How are IFSP teams trained to discuss the steps that should be taken to support a smooth transition between EIS provider when military-connected families are relocated?: 
	 How does the LA or EIS provider provide training and professional development focused on the military-connected family lifestyle and unique needs of military-connected families with infants and toddlers with disabilities?: 
	 LA are required to have policies and procedures to ensure a smooth and seamless transition from Part C to Part B: 
	 Describe any additional procedures the LA or EIS programs have in place to support military-connected families who are relocating to another State or EIS provider when military-connected families are relocated prior to the Part C to Part B transition: 

	 How does the LA and EIS provider collect and track referral data to support child find activities for military-connected families? (i: 
	e: 
	, military affiliated service clinics, doctor’s offices, and childcare)?: 


	 How does the LA and EIS provider ensure that parents of military-connected infants and toddlers with disabilities understand the differences between the services provided under Part C of the IDEA and through the Exceptional Family Member Program: 
	 What formal interagency agreements, memorandums of understanding, or other written procedures does the LA or EIS provider have in place with other agencies or programs that serve military-connected families to support meaningful cooperation and to resolve issues so that families can receive timely IDEA services?: 

	4: 
	 Which State agency serves as the State’s representative to the Military Interstate Children’s Compact Commission (MIC3)?: 
	 What, if any, are the SEA’s or LEA’s policies and/or strategies to specifically engage with parents of military-connected CWDs?: 
	 What methods does the SEA use to monitor each LEA’s implementation of evaluation procedures under IDEA Part B as they relate to military-connected CWD?: 
	 For a military-connected CWD who transfers from out of State during the school year, how does the SEA make LEAs aware that the new LEA (in consultation with the parents) must initially provide FAPE to the child, including the provision of services comparable to those described in the child’s IEP from the previous LEA, until the new LEA conducts its own evaluation (if determined to be necessary by the new LEA) and develops and implements a new IEP for the child, if appropriate?: 
	 How does the LA's office that administers IDEA Part C collaborate with other organizations that support military-connected infants and toddlers with disabilities, including those organizations that do not participate on the MIC3 State Council?: 
	 How are IFSP teams trained on supporting families to apply for the Exceptional Family Member Program if the family is not connected to the program?: 
	 What efforts are being made to develop and implement cross agency trainings to increase understanding and coordination between agencies and programs serving military-connected families, specifically agencies and programs responsible for medical care, childcare, and IDEA services?: 
	 How does the LA or EIS provider update and share their central directory (i: 
	e: 
	, access to information about services, resources, and supports) so it is readily available to military-connected families, referral sources on military bases, other States LA and EIS programs, and Exceptional Family Member Programs?: 


	 Is the LA represented on the MIC3 State Council? If yes, which LA office serves as the representative and how does the State early intervention program coordinate with that office?: 

	5: 
	 Is the SEA represented on the MIC3 State Council? If yes, which SEA office serves as the representative?: 
		What policies does the SEA or LEA have to address the impact of personnel shortages on military-connected CWDs?: 
	 What is the average timeframe from initial referral to the completion of evaluations under IDEA Part B for military connected CWD?: 
	 How does the SEA ensure that each military-connected CWD who transfers to a new LEA during the summer has an IEP in effect at the beginning of the school year?: 
	 How else does the LA consider and address the needs of military-connected infants and toddlers with disabilities and their families, such as including a military-connected parent representative on the State Special Education Advisory Council?: 
	 How are EIS providers trained to utilize trauma informed care practices with military-connected families to ease parental stress and address infants and toddlers’ mental health and social, emotional, and behavioral development when a family member is deployed?: 
	 How does the LA or EIS provider target activities of public awareness (i: 
	e: 
	, preparation of materials to help referring agencies understand how to identify and refer) to military-connected families?: 


	 How do the LAs collaborate with other organizations that support military-connected infants and toddlers with disabilities and their families, including those organizations that do not participate on the MIC3 State Council?: 

	6: 
	 How does the SEA office that administers IDEA collaborate with other organizations that support military-connected CWDs, including those organizations that do not participate on the MIC3 State Council?: 
	 Explain how the SEA or LEA ensures that Extended School Year (ESY) services are provided as part of comparable services for in-State transfer students whose IEP from the previous LEA contains those services, especially military-connected CWD who transfer during the summer or holiday breaks, for the duration of time determined appropriate by the newly-designated IEP Team or until the new LEA adopts the child’s IEP from the previous LEA or develops and implements a new IEP for the child: 
	 How does the LA implement IDEA’s payor of last resort and coordination of all financial resources, including TRICARE, to pay for IDEA Part C services?: 
	 How does the LA or EIS provider collaborate with the Exceptional Family Member Program to develop resources that clarify the roles of Part C Early Intervention (EI) and the Exceptional Family Member Program?: 

	7: 
	 How else does the SEA consider and address the needs of military-connected CWDs, such as including a military-connected parent representative on the State Special Education Advisory Council?: 
	 Explain how the SEA or LEA ensures that ESY services are provided as part of comparable services for out-of-State transfer students whose IEP from the previous LEA contains those services, especially military-connected CWD who transfer during the summer or holiday breaks, for the duration of time determined appropriate by the newly-designated IEP Team or until the new LEA conducts its own evaluation and eligibility determination, if determined necessary by the new LEA, and develops and implements a new IEP for the child: 
	 How does the LA’s system of payments policy reflect identification and coordination of TRICARE and Medicaid as part of IDEA Part C’s coordination with all financial resources requirement?: 
	 What are the specific ways the LA or EIS provider includes military-connected families in family engagement activities?: 

	active IFSP: 
	childcare: 
	Exceptional Family Member Programs: 
	families: 


